i

THE EFFECT OF PRE-EXERCISE CARBOHYDRATE INTAKE IN THE MORNING ON APPETITE REGULATION AND SUBSEQUENT RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

BY

MOHAMED NASHRUDIN BIN NAHARUDIN

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AWARD OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY OF LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY

OCTOBER 2019

©MOHAMED NASHRUDIN BIN NAHARUDIN (2019)

THE EFFECT OF PRE-EXERCISE CARBOHYDRATE INTAKE IN THE MORNING ON APPETITE REGULATION AND SUBSEQUENT RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

ABSTRACT

Breakfast, which is typically consumed within 2-3 hours after waking up, is considered by many to be the most important meal of the day. Its carbohydrate (CHO) content ranges between 50-60% of its energy, meaning breakfast could replenish carbohydrate (glycogen) stores after a long overnight fast. A number of studies have shown the detrimental effect of omitting breakfast on endurance exercise, however, little is known about the effects on resistance exercise. Considering the prevalence of omitting breakfast among exercisers, commonly due to logistical/practical reasons, examining breakfast consumption versus omission on resistance exercise performance is of particular interest. To initially investigate this, the study reported in Chapter 3 compared performance in 4 sets to failure of back-squat and bench press at 90% of 10 repetition maximum (10-RM), between an ecologically valid breakfast (BC), containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass, and a water only breakfast (BO). As hypothesised, total repetitions of back squat and bench press were less during BO compared to BC. Correspondingly, hunger was elevated, whilst fullness was decreased in the BC condition. These results demonstrate that omission of a pre-exercise breakfast might impair resistance exercise performance.

However, it cannot be discounted that, as subjects were aware of when they were consuming breakfast or not, that the exercise performance responses were confounded by psychological factors (i.e. placebo/nocebo effects). Therefore, a double-blind study was conducted (Chapter 4), with the aim to compare resistance exercise performance after consuming a water only control breakfast (WAT) or two identical semi-solid breakfasts, one a virtually energy-free placebo (PLA), the other containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg

body mass (CHO). CHO and PLA breakfasts were eaten with a spoon from a bowl and contained 4.25 mL/kg body mass water, 0.75 mL/kg body mass sugar-free orange squash and 0.1 g/kg body mass xanthan gum as a thickener, with addition of 1.5 g/kg body mass of maltodextrin in the CHO breakfast. Back-squat total repetitions were greater in both CHO and PLA compared to WAT. Correspondingly, CHO and PLA similarly suppressed hunger and increased fullness relative to WAT. This study indicated that breakfast likely exerted its effect on resistance exercise performance via a psychological effect. However, when higher volume resistance exercise was applied (Chapter 5), consisting of sets of 10 repetitions of leg extension to exhaustion at 80% 10-RM, an ergogenic role of carbohydrate was evident, as CHO produced greater total repetitions compared to PLA.

Whilst the studies in Chapter 3 and 4 suggested that breakfast influenced performance via a psychological effect, appetite also responded correspondingly, raising the question as to whether appetite might influence resistance exercise performance. In a follow-up study (Chapter 6) two breakfasts containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass were provided, but one included 0.1 g/kg body mass of xanthan gum (SEM), whilst the other did not (LIQ), with the aim of manipulating appetite without affecting carbohydrate intake. Interestingly, back squat total repetitions were greater following the SEM compared to LIQ and this correspond with decreased hunger and increased fullness in SEM compared to LIQ.

In conclusion, the results from these experiments demonstrate that the perception of breakfast consumption, rather than carbohydrate/energy *per se*, improves resistance exercise performance. The ergogenic role of pre-exercise carbohydrate only seems to benefit extremely high-volume resistance exercise performance. Whether these effects are still apparent when pre-breakfast/meal glycogen stores are not optimal is unknown (i.e. if a not fully replaced from a previous training session). However, when subjects are

well-fed, high-intensity intermittent exercise like resistance exercise might be influenced by sensation of fullness and a pre-exercise meal might exert its effects through this novel mechanism. In situations where the amount carbohydrate or the metabolic effects of the carbohydrate consumed before exercise are unlikely to influence performance (such as resistance exercise), consumption of meals that decrease sensations of hunger might be a simple strategy to enhance performance.

Keywords: breakfast, weight training, nutrition, fasting, strength performance.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, the most gracious and most merciful, alhamdulillah by his will, I finally managed to complete this thesis for the fulfilment of the requirement for my Dual PhD program. Certainly, pursuing my PhD in two renown institutions, University of Malaya and Loughborough University, was extremely daunting task! However, this has made easy by many supports that I've been receiving, which therefore I'd owed them very much.

Firstly, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my dearest Loughborough University supervisor, Dr Lewis James for his wise and warm-hearted advice. We have been through beyond supervisor-student relation. He has made himself like a close friend of mine who shares thoughts and knowledge at almost no boundaries. Having him as my mentor is such a great privilege that nothing else that I could ask for. To University Malaya supervisor Dr Ashril, it has been while since we have been working together and it was such a great honour to be part of your team. Thank you for every guidance that I been receiving ever since on my first day arrived at your office's doorstep. Deepest gratitude kisses and loves to my parent Mr Naharudin, and Mrs Ashikin, and of course my sibling, Dr Shima, Ash and Jia, for their irreplaceable supports, courage and adoration, which I presumed almost impossible for me to sail through this endeavour without their hope and prayer.

To the love of my life, Nurul Hanisah, who ever been such a perfect companion of mine, and sticking together through my thick and thin, here is no word in this world able to describe how grateful I am having you by my side. As I keep on doing my very best for you and our family, I pray Allah to grant you the highest Jannah thereafter as that is the only deserve place for you. Finally, to my dearest Ali, Arfah and little Aziz, I dedicated this noble piece of work to each and every one of you, so the spirit of seeking knowledge keeps on running in your vein.

Thank you everyone!

PREPHASE

Several elements of the work presented in this thesis have been published in peerreviewed journals and/or presented at conferences:

Published Original Article

Naharudin, M. N., & Yusof, A. (2018). The effect of 10 days of intermittent fasting on Wingate anaerobic power and prolonged high-intensity time-to-exhaustion cycling performance. *European Journal of Sport Science*, *18*, 667–676.

Naharudin, M. N., Yusof, A., Shaw, H., Stockton, M., Clayton, D., James, L. J. (2019). Breakfast omission reduces subsequent resistance exercise performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 00, 1–7.

Manuscript Under Review

Naharudin, M. N., Adams, J., Richardson, H., Thompson, T., Oxinou, C., Marshall, C., Clayton, D. J., Mears, S. A., Yusof, A., Hulston, C. J., & James, L. J. (2019). A preexercise meal increases resistance exercise performance via a placebo effect. *British Journal of Nutrition*.

Papers Presented (Oral)

Naharudin, M. N., Adams, J., Richardson, H., Thompson, T., Oxinou, C., Marshall, C., Clayton, D. J., Mears, S. A., Yusof, A., Hulston, C. J., & James, L. J. (2018). Perception of breakfast rather than carbohydrate/energy intake improves morning resistance exercise performance, 23rd Annual Congress of the European College of Sport Science, 4 - 7 July 2018 in Dublin – Ireland (International). Yusof, A., & Naharudin, M. N. (2018). Chronological changes during 10-day intermitent fasting with low energy intake on high-intensity aerobic performance and lipid constituents. The 1st Conference on Interdiciplinary Approach in Sports of Faculty of Sports Science, Universitas Negeri Yokyakarta, 26 – 27 October 2018 in Yokyakarta – Indonesia (International).

Paper Presented (Poster)

Naharudin, M. N., & Yusof, A. (2015). The Effect Of 10-Day Continuous Fasting On Fuel Utilization Cross-Over During High Intensity Aerobic Performance, 1st Asian Sports Medicine Conference of Malaysian Association of Sports Medicine, 28 – 29 November 2015 in Kuala Lumpur – Malaysia, (International).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Abstrak	vi
Acknowledgements	v
Prephase	Х
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xvii
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	xviii
List of Appendices	xxi

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1	Breakfast consumption and omission on exercise performance	2
1.2	General problem statement	4
1.3	Conceptual framework of the study	5
1.4	Research objectives	6
1.5	General and specified research hypothesis	7
1.6	Significance of study	8

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1	Energy	balance, including components of energy intake and expenditure
2.2	Resista	ance exercise and its metabolic response
2.3	Import	ance of breakfast
2.4	Regula	tion of appetite following breakfast consumption15
	2.4.1	Subjective appetite sensation following breakfast consumption17
	2.4.2	Glucose and insulin response to breakfast consumption17

	2.4.3	Orexigenic and anorexigenic hormonal response to breakfast
		omission/consumption21
2.5	Exercis	e performance following pre-exercise carbohydrate consumption25
	2.5.1	Pre-exercise carbohydrate intake in various modes of resistance exercise
		training27
	2.5.2	Effects of carbohydrate quantity on resistance exercise
	2.5.3	Effects of carbohydrate mouth-rinse on resistance exercise performance33
2.6	Effects	of form of meal (solid vs. liquid) on appetite sensation regulations
	2.6.1	Glucose response in a solid vs. liquid breakfast meal
	2.6.2	Exercise performance with different sensation of hunger and fullness38
2.7	Genera	l summary from literature40

CHAPTER 3: BREAKFAST OMISSION REDUCES SUBSEQUENT RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

3.1	Introdu	iction	41
3.2	Literat	ure review	41
	3.2.1	Objectives of study	44
3.3	Metho	dology	44
	3.3.1	Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures	44
	3.3.2	Subjects	45
	3.3.3	Procedures	45
		3.3.3.1 Pre-trial standardization	45
		3.3.3.2 Preliminary/familiarization trial	46
		3.3.3.3 Experimental trials	46
		3.3.3.4 Resistance exercise performance	49
		3.3.3.5 Subjective appetite sensations	50
	3.3.4	Statistical analyses	50
			17

3.4 Results

	3.4.1	Descriptive demographic	51
	3.4.2	Pre-trial measures and breakfast perceptions	51
	3.4.3	Strength performance	51
	3.4.4	Subjective appetite sensations	55
3.5	Discus	sion	57
3.6	Conclu	ision	61

CHAPTER 4: A PRE-EXRERCISE MEAL INCREASE RESISTANCE PERFORMANCE VIA PLACEBO EFFECT

4.1	Introdu	1ction
4.2	Literat	ure review
	4.2.1	Objectives of study
4.3	Method	dology
	4.3.1	Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures66
	4.3.2	Subjects
	4.3.3	Study design
	4.3.4	Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial
		4.3.4.1 Pre-trial standardisation70
		4.3.4.2 Experimental trials70
		4.3.4.3 Breakfast meals70
		4.3.4.4 Resistance exercise performance
		4.3.4.5 Subjective appetite sensations
		4.3.4.6 Blood sampling and analysis
	4.3.5	Statistical analyses74
4.4	Results	3
	4.4.1	Descriptive demographic

	4.4.2	Baseline measures and breakfasts perception	75
	4.4.3	Resistance exercise performance	75
	4.4.4	Subjective appetite sensation	78
	4.4.5	Blood analyses	80
4.5	Discus	sion	83
4.6	Conclu	ision	88

CHAPTER 5: CARBOHYDRATE CONSUMPTION OF A PRE-EXERCISE MEAL INCREASES HIGH-VOLUME EXHAUSTIVE RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

5.1	Introdu	ction	89
5.2	Literatu	ıre review	89
	5.2.1	Objectives of study	92
5.3	Method	lology	92
	5.3.1	Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures	92
	5.3.2	Subjects	93
	5.3.3	Study design	93
		5.3.3.1 Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial	94
		5.3.3.2 Pre-trial standardisation	.96
		5.3.3.3 Experimental trials	96
		5.3.3.4 Breakfast meal	96
		5.3.3.5 Leg extension exercise performance	98
	5.3.4	Blood samples	.98
	5.3.5	Subjective appetite sensations	98
	5.3.6	Statistical analyses	99
5.4	Results		
	5.4.1	Descriptive demographic	99 xi

	5.4.2	Blood glucose concentration and leg extension performance	99
	5.4.3	Subjective appetite sensation	102
	5.4.4	Breakfast perception	102
5.5	Discus	sion	104
5.6	Conclu	ision	108

CHAPTER 6: INCREASE IN SENSATION OF FULLNESS FROM A SEMI-SOLID MEAL IMPROVE RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

6.1	Introdu	ction	109
6.2	Literatu	are review	109
	6.2.1	Objectives of study	112
6.3	Method	lology	112
	6.3.1	Experimental approach and main outcome measures	112
	6.3.2	Subjects	113
	6.3.3	Study design	113
		6.3.3.1 Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial	116
		6.3.3.2 Pre-trial standardisation	116
		6.3.3.3 Experimental trials	116
		6.3.3.4 Carbohydrate meals	117
		6.3.3.5 Resistance exercise performance	118
		6.3.3.6 Subjective appetite sensation	119
	6.3.4	Blood sampling and analysis	119
	6.3.5	Statistical analyses	120
6.4	Results		
	6.4.1	Descriptive demographic	120
	6.4.2	Baseline measurement and meals perception between trials	121
	6.4.3	Resistance exercise performance	121
			ЛП

	6.4.4	Blood analyses	
6.5	Discus	ssion	
6.6	Conclu	usion	

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

7.1	Effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate breakfast on resistance exercise performance		
		135	
7.2	Mechanism for pre-exercise carbohydrate meal on resistance exercise	138	
7.3	Limitation and suggestion for future studies	143	
7.4	Conclusion	143	
Refe	rences	145	
List	of Publications and Presented Papers	162	
Арре	endix A	163	
Appe	endix B	164	
Appe	endix C	165	
Appe	endix D	168	
Арре	endix E	171	
Appe	endix F	172	
Appe	endix G	175	
Appe	endix H	176	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Conceptual framework of the studies demonstrating metabolic and psychology factors associated with a pre- exercise meal that could influence subsequent resistance exercise performance. Solid arrows indicate factors from a breakfast (i.e. pre-exercise meal) that influence resistance exercise performance. Dashed arrows indicates ambiguous link between breakfast and resistance exercise performance yet to be determine in these studies
Figure 2.1	Infusion of insulin with time is directly proportional to blood glucose concentration. Note the drop in glucose levels proportion to insulin injection. Adapted from (Loh <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Figure 2.2	From the pancreas, insulin is secreted into the blood in response to circulating blood glucose and in direct proportion to the level of fat stored in white adipose tissue. Adapted from (Begg & Woods, 2012)
Figure 2.3.	The response of appetite hormones after food consumption. All appetite hormone responses are normalized to their percentage of lowest to highest concentration. It is noted that there is a high concentration of ghrelin preprandially, which is suppressed by food intake, whilst glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide (GIP), peptide YY (PYY), and glucagonlike peptide (GLP)-1 are low preprandially and increase following food intake. Grey circle ($^{\bigcirc}$) indicates ghrelin, black square ($^{\blacksquare}$) indicates PYY, white circle ($^{\bigcirc}$) indicates GLP-1, and black circle ($^{\bigcirc}$) indicates GIP plasma concentration. Adapted from (Engelstoft & Schwartz, 2016)
Figure 3.1.	Schematic diagram of the study protocol
Figure 3.2	(A) Total repetitions over the four sets of back-squat and (B) repetitions performed in each back-squat set. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD and lines represent individual subject data, $n = 16$. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different from BC ($P < 0.05$)
Figure 3.3	(A) Total repetitions over the four sets for bench-press and (B) repetitions performed in each bench-press set. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different from BC ($P < 0.05$)
Figure 3.4.	Subjective appetite ratings of hunger, fullness, desire to eat (DTE), and prospective food consumption (PFC) throughout the experimental trial. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the breakfast omission (BO), and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represent breakfast consumption (BC). Dagger (†) denotes

	significantly different from BC, whilst asterisk (*) denotes significant different from pre-meal ($P < 0.05$)	56
Figure 4.1.	Schematic diagram of the study protocol	69
Figure 4.2.	(A) Back-squat repetitions in total over the four sets and (B) in each of the four sets (B) during the carbohydrate (CHO), placebo (PLA) and water (WAT) trials. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD.	76
Figure 4.3.	(A) Bench-press repetitions in total over the four sets and (B) in each of the four sets (B) during the carbohydrate (CHO), placebo (PLA) and water (WAT) trials. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD.	77
Figure 4.4.	Subjective appetite ratings of hunger and fullness throughout the experimental trial. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (\blacksquare) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press) ratings were measured right after both exercise's final set. Dagger (†) denotes CHO significantly different to WAT whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different to pre-meal, ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD	79
Figure 4.5.	(A) Plasma glucose and (B) insulin measured at specified time-points before the exercise protocol was commenced. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (\blacksquare) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press). Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT. Asterisk (*) denotes significantly different from pre-meal ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD.	81
Figure 4.6.	Plasma (A) Ghrelin _{total} (B) GLP-1 _{total} and (C) PYY _{total} , measured at specified time points before the exercise protocol was commenced. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (\blacksquare) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press). Dagger (†) denotes CHO significantly different to WAT, whilst asterisk (*) denotes significantly different to pre-meal ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD	82
Figure 5.1.	Schematic diagram of the study protocol	95
Figure 5.2	Comparison of glucose response between trials. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the placebo (PLA) and black square (\blacksquare) represents maltodextrin (CHO) containing meal. Midexercise bout appetite sensations were measured at 7 th set. Dagger (†) indicates significantly different between PLA and	

	CHO, whilst asterisk (*) indicates significant difference compare to pre-meal ($P < 0.05$)
Figure 5.3	Leg extension (A) total repetition and (B) total sets during placebo (PLA) and maltodextrin (CHO) meals. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD. Dagger (†) indicates significantly different between PLA and CHO ($P < 0.05$)
Figure 5.4	Subjective appetite sensations of (A) hunger and (B) fullness for placebo (PLA) and maltodextrin (CHO) containing meal. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the PLA and black square (\blacksquare) represents CHO. Values are presented in Mean ± SD, n = 16. Mid-exercise bout appetite sensations were measured at 7 th set. Asterisk (†) indicates significantly different between trials (<i>P</i> < 0.05)
Figure 6.1	Schematic diagram of the study protocol
Figure 6.2	(A) Total number of repetitions for back-squat and (B) individual set repetitions for back-squat. Semi-solid (SEM) and (LIQ) meal trials. Dagger (†) denotes significant difference between trials ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD
Figure 6.3	(A) Total number of repetitions for bench-press and (B) individual set repetitions for bench-press. Semi-solid (SEM) and (LIQ) meal trials. Values are mean \pm SD
Figure 6.4	Subjective appetite ratings of (A) hunger and (B) fullness throughout the experimental trials. Black circle (\bullet) represents the semi-solid (SEM), and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid (LIQ) trial. Post-BS (post-back-squat) and Post-BP (post-bench-press) ratings were measured right after both exercise's final set. Dagger (†) denote SEM significantly different to LIQ, whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different from pre-meal ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD
Figure 6.5	(A) Plasma insulin and (B) blood glucose response measured at specified time points. Black circle (\bullet) represents semi-solid (SEM) and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid meal trial (LIQ). Dagger (\dagger) indicates significantly different between SEM and LIQ at particular time point, whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different from pre-meal ($P < 0.05$). ($P < 0.05$)
Figure 6.6	Plasma (A) Ghrelin _{total} and (B) PYY _{total} , measured at specified time points before exercise protocol was commenced. Black circle (\bullet) represents the semi-solid (SEM) and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid meal (LIQ). Post-BS (post-back-squat) and Post-BP (post-bench-press). Asterisk (*) denote significantly different from pre-meal ($P < 0.05$). Values are mean \pm SD

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Intervention studies assessing strength exercise performance preceded by pre-exercise carbohydrate supplementation vs.			
	placebo. Studies were arranged from higher exercise intensity/small set to lower intensity/big set (in bold)	. 30		
Table 2.2	Intervention studies assessing appetite sensation following solid versus liquid forms of 'breakfast'. Studies arranged accordingly to chronoloical order.	. 36		
Table 3.1	Macronutrient, energy and water intake during each trial	. 49		
Table 4.1	Nutritional content of breakfast meals.	. 72		
Table 5.1	Macronutrient, energy and water intake during each trial	. 97		
Table 6.1	Nutritional content of pre-exercise meals	118		

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

°/s	:	degree per second (unit for isokinetic torque)
μg	:	microgram
15-RM	:	fifteen repetition maximum
10-RM	:	ten repetition maximum
5-RM	:	five repetition maximum
3-RM	:	three repetition maximum
1-RM	:	one repetition maximum
ANOVA	:	analysis of variance
ATP	:	adenosine triphosphate
BC	:	breakfast consumption
BMI	:	body mass index
BMR	:	basal metabolic rate
ВО	:	breakfast omission
BP	:	bench-press
BS	:	back-squat
Ca ⁺	:	calcium
CLOCK	:	Circadian locomotor output cycle kaput
CGM	:	central governor model
СНО	:	carbohydrate
DIT	:	dietary induced thermogenesis
DTE	:	desire to eat
EDTA	:	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	:	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

EMG	:	electromyogram
g	:	gram/grams
g/day	:	gram ratio per day
g/kg body mass	:	gram ratio per body mass
GHS-R	:	ghrelin/growth hormone secretagogue receptor
GI	:	glycaemic index
GIP	:	glucose-dependant insulinotropic peptide
GLP-1	:	glucagon-like peptide-1
h	:	hour/hours
kcal	:	kilocalorie
kg	:	kilogram/ kilograms
kg/m ²	:	metric unit for BMI (kilogram/meter square)
kJ	:	kilojoule
L	:	litre/litres
LIQ	:	liquid meal treatment
m	:	metre/ metres
mg/mL	:	milligram per millilitre
min	:	minute/ minutes
MIPS	:	multi ingredient pre-workout supplement
mL	:	millilitre/millilitres
mL/kg body mass	:	millilitre per kilogram body mass
mm	:	millimetre/millimetres
mmol/L	:	millimole per litre of blood markers concentration
PFC	:	prospective food consumption

PAEE	:	physical activities energy expenditure
PCr	:	phosphocreatine
PLA	:	placebo treatment
РҮҮ	:	peptide tyrosine-tyrosine
REE	:	resting energy expenditure
reps	:	repetitions
SD	:	standard deviation
SEM	:	semi-solid meal treatment
O ₂	:	oxygen consumption
O ₂ max	:	maximal oxygen consumption
W	:	watt (power)
WAT	:	water control treatment
WHO	:	World Health Organisation
W/kg body mass	:	watt per kilogram body mass

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Human Ethics Approval Letter	163
Appendix B: Determination of Breakfast Frequency Form	164
Appendix C: Dietary and Activity Record Form	165
Appendix D: Health Screen Questionnaire Form	168
Appendix E: Informed Consent Form	.171
Appendix F: Timeline Checklist and Data Score Sheet	.172
Appendix G: Subjective Appetite Sensation Form	.175
Appendix H: Publication and Under Review Manuscript	176

CHAPTER 1: NTRODUCTION

Breakfast may be considered the first meal of the day, consumed within 2-3 h of waking up and usually taken in the morning before beginning daily activities. It is believed that 'breakfast' is simply derived from the words 'break the fast' where one would have his/her first meal of a day after a long period of overnight fasting, typically lasting ~10-13 h. The period of overnight fasting reduces liver glycogen, with a single serving of a carbohydrate-containing breakfast replacing this overnight loss and possibly helping to fuel activities of the day. Many researchers have advocated that low muscle glycogen level tends to reduce prolonged strenuous physical performance due to performance being dependent on glygogenolysis/glycolysis (Coyle *et al.*, 1984; Coyle *et al.*, 1985; Coyle *et al.*, 1986; Hulston & Jeukendrup, 2009; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2016). With regards to resistance exercise, less is known about how to fuel in advance of a session and specifically whether carbohydrate is required to optimise performance. Although studies have demonstrated that breakfast omission following an overnight fasting can impair prolonged endurance exercise, here is a paucity of research investigating the effect of breakfast on resistance exercise performance.

In general, breakfast consists of around 50-60% of energy as carbohydrate, which can replenish liver glycogen depleted through the overnight fast. In this context, breakfast could also serve as a pre-exercise supplement when it precedes a bout of resistance exercise, since carbohydrate intake before other forms of exercise may enhance performance (Neufer *et al.*, 1987; Sherman *et al.*, 1989: Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2002; Ormsbee *et al.* 2014). Some studies have looked at the effect of carbohydrate intake during resistance exercise, reporting that carbohydrate does not affect performance in resistance exercise bouts that last only a few sets, however, when resistance exercise is relatively low intensity and of longer duration, carbohydrate intake during exercise appears to enhance performance (Coyle *et al.*, 1986; Lambert *et al.* 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff *et al.*, 2001; Jagim *et al.*, 2016; Oliver *et al.*, 2016). In turn, apart from the potential metabolic effect of breakfast consumption on exercise, psychological (or perceptual) factors could also influence performance (Mears *et al.*, 2018). Exercise performance could possibly be influenced by the athlete's perception of what they have eaten before exercising. Mears *et al.* (2018) reported that placebo and carbohydrate (2 g/kg body mass) breakfasts similarly improved high-intensity endurance performance (~20 min cycling time trial) compared to a no breakfast control trial. However, whether this effect is apparent for a breakfast meal consumed before resistance exercise is unknown. Therefore, an investigation to separate the physiological and psychological factors that could influence resistance exercise performance following a breakfast consumption is warranted. Therefore, this thesis is focussed on yielding novel insight into if and how a pre-exercise breakfast meal might influence resistance exercise performance to hopefully allow coaches and athletes to better understand the role of breakfast in this context.

1.1 Effect of breakfast consumption and omission on exercise performance

With a typical breakfast representing ~20-35% of total daily energy intake, breakfast provides an important amount of energy to assist with meeting daily energy requirements of athletes and non-athletes alike, to help fuel daily activities. In particular, breakfast consumption has been shown to benefit both physical (Clayton *et al.*, 2015; Clayton & James, 2015), and cognitive (Galioto & Spitznagel, 2016) performance. On the flip side, omitting breakfast has been shown to reduce liver glycogen by up to 40% (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) which could be harmful not just on physical performance, but also alter mood (Lloyd *et al.*, 1996; Foster *et al.*, 2007). In addition, regular omission of breakfast

is associated with a sedentary lifestyle and diseases such as overweight, obesity, type-2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Haines *et al.*, 1996; Odegaard *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, many experts have suggested that breakfast is an important part of a healthy lifestyle.

Breakfast omission is common place in the general population, with increasing prevalence reported in the United States between 1965 and 1991 (Haines *et al.*, 1996). In another study, 36% of UK adults were reported to either sometimes or always omit breakfast (Reeves *et al.*, 2013). According to a survey, the most common reason for omitting breakfast is to help with facilitating body mass management (Zullig *et al.*, 2006). As such, breakfast is the meal that is most commonly omitted for the reason to reduce daily energy intake (Zullig *et al.*, 2006). In another survey among exercisers, the negative effects of breakfast on gastrointestinal comfort (stomach discomfort, bloating and heartburn) while performing physical activity is another reason given for why it is often omitted (Veasey *et al.*, 2015). This may however depend on the type of breakfast consumed, with breakfasts containing a high content of low-digestible carbohydrates (i.e. fibre, resistance starch and sugar alcohol) possibly exacerbating these effects (Grabistke *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, it is also thought that exercisers tend to avoid breakfast due to logistical issues such as lack of time to consume breakfast before a morning exercise session or to ensure adequate sleep.

Hypothetically, skipping a pre-exercise meal could lead to a shortage of available fuel for use during exercise, which might be detrimental to physical performance.

Although refraining from consuming a pre-exercise meal could create a negative energy balance, the body's appetite regulatory system may compensate for this perturbation by metabolic and behavioural modifications (Martin *et al.*, 2000). In line with this, perturbations in anaerobic and aerobic exercise performance were evidenced after the second day of reducing daily energy intake by 40% (Naharudin & Yusof, 2018). This suggests that omitting a meal only once might not effect exercise performance, however, this should not to be discounted for more prolonged and strenuous exercise where small differences in substrate availability could influence performance outcomes (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016).

1.2 General problem statement

With resistance exercise being carried out at all times of the day, including in the morning, the effect of breakfast provision on performance in such bouts of exercise is of scientific and practical interest. Besides, omitting breakfast has become an increasing trend in society, where many believe that it would help to control body mass (Haines *et al.*, 1996; Zullig *et al.*, 2006; Reeves *et al.*, 2013). Although a number of studies have investigated the effect of consuming/omitting breakfast on endurance exercise performance, its impact on short term resistance exercise performance remains unknown. Therefore, the theme of this thesis is to focus on the effect of breakfast consumption/omission on subsequent performance in an intermittent resistance exercise session. To better understand the effects of breakfast on resistance exercise performance, both metabolic and psychological factors that could alter performance outcomes were studied, including components of energy balance (i.e. appetite-related hormones and subjective appetite). Several problem statements to answer the gap of knowledge have been identified and listed as follows:

 To date, no study has examined the effect of consuming/omitting an ecological (close to a person's habitual practice) breakfast meal on subsequent resistance exercise performance.

4

- It is not certain whether changes in resistance exercise performance are due to either psychological (perception of energy intake) or physiological (availability of substrate-i.e. glycogen stores) reasons.
- 3) It remains unknown, how hormones and subjective appetite sensation (sensation of fullness and hunger) might be involved in the effects that any pre-exercise breakfast meal might have on resistance exercise performance.
- It remains unknown how sensations of hunger and fullness might affect resistance exercise performance outside of any metabolic effects of the meal's nutritional contents.

1.3 Conceptual framework of the study

Consuming breakfast, which typically contains a high carbohydrate content, would replenish liver glycogen used during overnight fasting. This would therefore improve stored fuel availability. Besides this, energy intake would eventually influence appetite hormones (i.e. ghrelin), which could be associated with the sensation of hunger. Correspondingly, increased fullness and decreased hunger could perceptually signify to an individual that they have nourished themselves. Collectively, consuming breakfast could improve resistance exercise performance via the combination from both metabolic and psychological factors, considering the potential ergogenic role of carbohydrate.

Although some researchers suggest that both metabolic and psychological factors of ingesting meal can be matched with one another (Flint *et al.*, 2000; Bellisimo & Akhvan, 2015), it remains unclear as other factors including individual food preference (i.e. solid, semi-solid, liquid) could independently modulate subjective appetite sensation independent of a meal's energy content (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011). Hence, systematic investigations to isolate metabolic, psychological and

perceptual factors associated with breakfast consumption are needed to fill this gap of knowledge. Conceptual framework of this study is presented in **Figure 1.1**.



Figure 1.1. Conceptual framework of the studies demonstrating metabolic and psychology factors associated with a pre-exercise meal that could influence subsequent resistance exercise performance. Solid arrows indicate factors from a breakfast (i.e. pre-exercise meal) that influence resistance exercise performance. Dashed arrows indicates ambiguous link between breakfast and resistance exercise performance yet to be determine in these studies.

1.4 Research objectives

Several general objectives for this work are listed as below:

1) To investigate how consumption or omission of an ecological (close to subject's

habitual) breakfast with high proportion of carbohydrate, effects subsequent

resistance exercise performance of different volumes of exercise.

- 2) To investigate resistance exercise performance if metabolic effects in a preexercise meal was isolated. This was achieved by providing a high-viscous placebo and carbohydrate meal before a bout of resistance exercise to separate metabolic and psychological effects of pre-exercise meal.
- 3) To investigate resistance exercise performance following different appetite sensation of hunger and fullness induced by two isocaloric pre-exercise meals of different viscosity. This work aimed to determine the role they play in any performance effects caused by a pre-exercise meal.

1.5 General and specified research hypothesis

Generally, it is hypothesised that; breakfast omission would be detrimental to resistance exercise performance. However, some of the effects of a pre-exercise meal would be caused by a placebo effect associated with the knowledge of having eaten before resistance exercise. On a similar line, it was hypothesised that increasing the sensation of fullness whilst supressing hunger could also improve resistance exercise performance, possibly explaining some of the ergogenic effects of a pre-exercise breakfast meal.

Specifically, four alternative hypotheses (H_a), each representing an experimental chapter of this thesis, have been listed down to reject null hypotheses (H_0) which are;

- 1) Omitting an ecological breakfast meal is detrimental to subsequent resistance exercise performance for both back squat and bench press.
- 2) Performance in resistance exercise would be worse after a placebo breakfast meal containing virtually no energy compared to a high-carbohydrate breakfast meal, but that both meals would lead to better performance that a water-only control meal.

- 3) Consumption of a carbohydrate containing breakfast meal would increase work completed in a high-volume resistance exercise bout (i.e. multiple bout leg extension exercise) compare to a placebo breakfast meal.
- A high viscosity semi-solid breakfast meal would reduce sensations of hunger compared to low viscosity liquid meal and subsequently increase resistance exercise performance.

1.6 Significance of study

This thesis explored the effect of perceived and actual consumption of breakfast on hunger, fullness and appetite hormones in the morning and their effects on resistance exercise performance. Outcomes form this thesis provide robust information to better understand pre-resistance exercise fuelling and the role of breakfast and appetite sensations (i.e. hunger/fullness) in this regard. This information is of benefit to gym goers and athletes to better understand the role of breakfast (or pre-exercise nutrition) on performance of brief intermittent high intensity exercise.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Energy balance, including components of energy intake and expenditure

In physiology, energy balance is a biological process that involves the coordinated homeostatic regulation of food consumption (energy intake), energy storage and energy expenditure. When someone is under energy deprivation, the hypothalamic melanocortin system in the brain, plays a central role in regulating energy balance by generating the sense of hunger, which is integrated from numerous biochemical signals. This regulation will integrate peripheral signals which then modulate behaviour and the activity of peripheral organs (Kim, Leyva & Diano, 2014). Ideally, consuming a food/beverage is the way the body gains energy to fuel the fundamental physiological systems, as well as supplying energy for use in a person's physical activity energy expenditure.

The amount of energy that is available for metabolism from a meal is dependent on several factors such as gut microflora, food preparation and chemical composition of the food (Hall *et al.*, 2012). However, conventional estimation of the amount of energy intake from a meal/beverage can be computed from its macronutrient compositions, where it was reported as 4 kcal/g (17 kJ/g) for carbohydrate and protein; 9 kcal/g (38 kJ/g) for fat; and 2 kcal/g (8 kJ/g) for fibre; (Hall *et al.*, 2012). Thus, daily dietary intake for a typical adult male of average weight (~70 kg), consistent with recommendations from the World Health Organisation (WHO; 50, 35 and 15% of energy as carbohydrate, fat and protein, respectively), will provide ~2500 kcal (~10460 kJ). Absorbed carbohydrates, fat and to a lesser extent, protein, may be stored as glycogen, triglycerides or body fat, then transferred to relevant cells before it can be converted to chemical energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to fuel metabolic activities, or dissipated as heat (Hall *et al.*, 2012).

Glycogen, one of the quickest energy storage forms of the body, which is naturally hydrophilic with ratio of ~3 g of water to ~1 g of glycogen, is stored in the liver (~100g) and in greatest amount in the muscle (~300-750 g) (Knuiman *et al.*, 2015). Depending on factors like body size, carbohydrate consumption, and variation pattern of energy intake versus energy balance, estimation of total glycogen stores in adults is ~400-850 g. This means only a relatively small and finite amount of glycogen can be stored for energy utilisation. Unlike glycogen, fat in the form of adipocyte cells, is a more efficient type of energy storage with only ~10% of water in the total amount of adipocyte tissue across the body (Sawka *et al.*, 1990). For instance, an average male of 70 kg with 15% fat percentage would store ~94,500 kcal (340,000 kJ) of energy contained within ~35 billion adipocytes, each with ~0.4-0.6 µg triglycerides (Hall *et al.* 2012). Since the capacity of energy storage for glycogen is limited, an energy surplus from carbohydrate will be either oxidised for energy or converted to fat and stored in adipocytes, which reflects a state of net positive energy balance (Schrauwen, 2007).

Digested macronutrients that have been converted to simplified substrates (i.e. glucose, free fatty acids, amino acids etc.) will be absorbed, stored and ready for metabolic process. There are 3 primary components of a total energy expenditure which are; resting energy expenditure (REE), dietary induced thermogenesis (DIT) and physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE). REE, sometimes referred to as basal metabolic rate (BMR), is the energy utilisation for the fundamental human physiological systems, such as breathing, circulating blood and cell renewal (Doucet, 2001). For an average sedentary individual, REE comprise for about 60-70% of a total energy expenditure, and varies

depending on body size and composition (Johnstone *et al.*, 2005). Whilst DIT, which is the smallest component of energy expenditure, is a type of energy expenditure that is utilised during the process of digestion, absorption and assimilation of consumed macronutrients in foods. Depending on the composition of macronutrients, DIT usually comprises only 10% of daily energy expenditure (Westerterp, 2004). Indeed, both REE and DIT are process of energy expenditure that occur perpetually even during resting and overnight sleeping. However, the most significant proportion that contributes to the variation of total energy expenditure is that due to physical activities (i.e. physical activity energy expenditure; PAEE). For example, PAEE of a sedentary individual accounts only ~20% from their daily total energy expenditure, but it could be increased up to ~75% during periods of prolonged strenuous exercise (Westerterp & Saris, 1991). In short, energy expenditure is continuous but is elevated during periods of physical activity and reduced during sleep. However, energy intake is intermittent in nature (only usually occurring at meal times), with this mismatch between supply and utilisation of energy accounting for the need to store energy in the body.

Conceptually, consuming a food/beverage produces a net positive energy balance, with the excess energy stored to enable physiological maintenance to occur or for use in any physical activities. However, if utilised energy storage was not replaced (i.e. skipping meal within a day), negative energy balance will occur. This will stimulate energy demand at the brain's hypothalamus by increasing the sensation of hunger. This implies that the energy level of a person fluctuates within and between days, depending on factors including the type and composition of food, timing of food consumed, and level of physical activities.

2.2 Resistance exercise and its metabolic response

Resistance exercise is a physical activity mode that is characterised as brief, intermittent, and usually performed at moderately-high to high intensity. This exercise is performed by many athletes, often as part of a wider training programme, with performance in such sessions having potential implications for adaptation to the resistance exercise itself, as well as possibly for other aspects of the athlete's performance (e.g. sport-specific strength) or health (e.g. injury prevention/rehabilitation from injury). In most, hypertrophy resistance training scenarios, exercise typically performed at intensity about 0–60% of 1 RM for lower body exercises; 30–60% of 1 RM for upper body exercises, for three to five sets with 3–5 min of rest in between (Ratamess *et al.*, 2009). This exercise mode will utilise anaerobic/aerobic glycolysis as the major energy system to resynthesize the depleting phosphate pool during strenuous muscle contractions (Haff *et al.*, 2003; Knuiman *et al.*, 2015).

Studies have shown muscle glycogen stores are typically reduced by between ~17-40%, depending on the duration, intensity and total workload performed (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff, *et al.*, 2003). In general, the energy required to perform high-intensity exercise is initially supplied by intra-muscular stores of phosphagens (ATP and PCr), with subsequent energy contributions to ATP-PCr resynthesis coming predominantly from muscle and liver glycogen (MacDougall, *et al.*, 1977). In experiments where all out 6 s sprints repeated for 10 bouts and interspersed by rest period of 30 s, have shown muscle glycogen breakdown, PCr hydrolysis and lactate accumulation all substantially decline as the number of sprints bout increases (Gaitanos *et al.*, 1993). In another study, when two bouts of 30 s maximal isokinetic cycling exercise was performed with 4 min of recovery in between, the extend period for PCr re-synthesis during recovery was positively correlated with work output during the second bout of exercise (Casey *et al.*, 1996). In this study, it was demonstrated that the rate of hydrolysis of PCr during the first bout was 35% but dropped to 33% during the second bout, which was attributable to incomplete re-synthesis of PCr in the muscle.

Collectively, muscle glycogen availability seems not entirely responsible for fatigue during short-term high intensity exercise, but instead it was caused by an inability to sufficiently restore ATP and PCr stores between exercise bouts. Hydrolysis of PCr is vital during the initial phase of every exercise bout, and re-synthesis will take approximately 4 min. Therefore, a reduce rate of resynthesis of PCr on successive demanding high intensity resistance exercise bouts could be the main reason of fatigue.

2.3 Importance of breakfast

Breakfast can contain up to ~35% of total daily energy requirements and is often described as the most important meal of the day. A number of cross-sectional studies have associated breakfast consumption with better cognitive performance (Galioto & Spitznagel, 2016; Giovannini *et al.*, 2008), health and/or body composition (Maki *et al.*, 2016). On the other hand, some researchers have associated the habit of omitting breakfast with overweight/obesity and other adverse health outcomes, including an increase in the prevalence in type-2 diabetes (Haines *et al.*, 1996; Odegaard *et al.*, 2013). Metabolically, food consumed in the morning, compared to later in the day produces a larger glucose response, which could be caused by an increase in glucose appearance to the circulation or a decrease in glucose disappearance (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2014). This effect is believed to be due to daily regulatory pattern in releasing glucose/appetite-related hormones (i.e. glucagon-like-peptid-1, peptide tyrosine tyrosine), following the consumption of a meal (Jakubowicz *et al.*, 2015; Morgan, *et al.*, 1999; Yoshino *et al.*, 2014). Most importantly, breakfast, which typically contains a proportionally large amount of carbohydrate contributes to significantly increasing liver glycogen (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973), and to a lesser extent muscle glycogen (Taylor *et al.*, 1993; Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004). Thus restoring glycogen from the effect of overnight fasting could benefit physical performance in some athletic settings.

Furthermore, a high fibre meal in a semi-solid/solid form, could provide sustained fullness and alleviation of hunger above its energy content, which could potentially improve habitual dietary intake (Almiron-Roig, *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011). Therefore, consumption of a viscous/solid meal could regulate glucose, insulin and appetite sensation differently, hence, potentially affect subsequent exercise performance. Although, many have reported pre-exercise carbohydrate intake to improve endurance performance, for resistance exercise, the effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake on resistance exercise seems to vary depending on volume and intensity of resistance exercise. Thus, consumption of food following an overnight fast has a host of metabolic, physiological and psychological effects that may interact with human health and performance.

With regards the importance of breakfast on athletes' performance, this review presents issues surrounding breakfast consumption/omission on appetite regulation; which consist of both physiological (metabolic) and psychological (appetite sensation) responses. In addition, discussion will also be focussed on how different subjective appetite sensations, produced by different pre-exercise meal states (solid, liquid, semi-solid)/viscosity, might affect resistance exercise performance.

2.4 Regulation of appetite following breakfast consumption

Generally, appetite regulation can be observed from two different perspectives; psychology (i.e. sensations of hunger, fullness etc.) and physiology/metabolic responses (i.e. glucose, insulin, and signals of gastrointestinal origin). Most literature to date suggests that these two perspectives are actually synchronised with one another (Flint, *et al.*, 2000; Bellissimo & Akhavan, 2015). It does, however, remain unclear since other factors, including meal viscosity and individual meal preferences, could independently modulate subjective appetite sensation independent of a meal's energy content (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011)

There is compelling evidence that, psychological aspects like sensations of hunger and fullness are determined by the gradual build-up, during the meal, of hormones and other signals secreted by the gastrointestinal tract (Woods, 2003; Woods & D'Alessio, 2008). Rationally, breakfast consumption would alleviate sensations of hunger and at the same time increase satiety (fullness). To systematically report this, Flint *et al.*, (2000) suggested a self-reported 100 mm analogue scale to measure subjective responses, which has been shown to be reliable for appetite-based research, because this method is not influenced by prior diet standardization (Flint, *et al.*, 2000). Studies have shown that adequate energy ingestion (including carbohydrate) in the morning, ~350-550 kcal (~1464-2301 kJ) and ~20-30% of required daily energy intake (Astbury *et al.*, 2011; Chowdhury, *et al.*, 2015; Clayton, *et al.*, 2016), reduces the sensation of hunger and subsequent energy intake compared to when breakfast was omitted. In fact, apart from contributing to feelings of satiety, consuming breakfast could also contribute metabolic effects by refuelling energy utilised overnight (Clayton & James, 2016).
Metabolically, consuming an adequate amount of breakfast will increase plasma glucose and therefore stimulate insulin secretion compared to when breakfast is omitted (Clayton & James, 2016). Glucose uptake by the muscle from a meal in the morning will increase, when the blood glucose concentration are low due to long overnight fasting (Kamegai *et al.*, 2004). Correspondingly, following breakfast orexigenic or hunger hormones like ghrelin are supressed, whilst anorexigenic or satiety hormones like PYY and GLP-1 are increased (Batterham & Bloom, 2003; Adam *et al.*, 2006).

Additionally, glucose and insulin could respond differently at different times of a day. Several studies have demonstrated that insulin sensitivity is greater in the morning compared to in the afternoon or late evening (Morgan *et al.*, 1999; Saad *et al.*, 2012; Yoshino *et al.*, 2014). Increased insulin sensitivity in the morning compared to late evening/night could be due to the diurnal response that occurs from the habitual pattern of meals. For example, the cause of this diurnal variation throughout a day could be related to increases plasma free fatty acid (FFA) in the evening, which can alter systemic FFA availability and muscle fatty acid metabolism, causing insulin resistance in skeletal muscle (Roden *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, in a rodent model, Circadian Locomotor Output Cycle Kaput (CLOCK) genes, which regulate circadian rhythm, could also contribute to diurnal variation in muscle insulin action (Maury, Ramsey, & Bass, 2010). In this context, strategies to improve dietary intake from the cycles of sleep/wakefulness and feeding/fasting may ameliorate physiological processes including appetitive behaviour or carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Thus, having breakfast in the morning might be important in terms of metabolic efficiency in refuelling energy.

Appetite sensation features psychological perception of a consumed meal and could be influenced by someone's habitual dietary preference. On the other hand, appetite hormone responses can underline a specific metabolic mechanism following meal consumption. However, whether appetite sensations would correspond to metabolic responses is yet to be investigated.

2.4.1 Subjective appetite sensation following breakfast consumption

Measurement of subjective appetite sensations is a method for assessing the regulation of an individual's appetite. Perceived appetite sensations, which can be assessed by a 100 mm visual analogue scale consisting of 4 domains; hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective food consumption, is a convenient and reliable method in assessing appetite regulation (Flint *et al.*, 2000). It is widely accepted that breakfast consumption suppresses appetite, whilst omission on the other hand increases appetite and hunger. Several studies have validated this method with glucose, hormonal responses and measurement of subsequent meal size following initial meal consumption (Flint *et al.*, 2000; Bellissimo & Akhavan, 2015). However, this method is somewhat questionable and can be confounded by other factors such as perception on the type of meal and a person's dietary habits (Blundell, 1990; Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011).

2.4.2 Glucose and insulin response to breakfast consumption

Glucose is important as a fuel substrate for energy metabolism. Following metabolic processing in the liver, consumed macronutrients in a typical breakfast meal, especially carbohydrate, can be detected in the peripheral blood circulation (DeFronzo & Ferrannini, 1982; Schenk, *et al.*, 2003). During an overnight fast between 6 to 10 hours, a normal

person's blood glucose is between 3.9-5.5 mmol/L (Nilsson *et al.*, 2008). This blood glucose value can fall to 3.3 to 3.6 mmol/L if no energy/carbohydrate containing foods/beverages are consumed and it is often associated with the sensation of hunger (Whitney & Rady, 2004). This baseline value will increase after consuming a meal containing carbohydrate, with the increase generally proportional to the amount of energy consumed (Wolever & Bolognesi, 1996). For example, a study investigating different proportion of <45%, 45-65% and >65% of carbohydrate in an ecological breakfast meal, increased blood glucose to ~6.3, ~6.4 and ~5.3 mmol/L respectively (Kang Xin *et al.*, 2013). Whilst in a study by Nilsson *et al.* a group of healthy young subjects were given 50 g of white wheat bread, which substantially elevated blood glucose to ~8.5 mmol/L at 30 minutes after consumption (Nilsson, *et al.*, 2008). However, in the same study, consuming 50 g of barley kernels only increased blood glucose to ~4.5 mmol/L. Collectively, these studies demonstrate that the amount and type of carbohydrate ingestion could influence postprandial glucose responses, which is termed Glycaemic Index. The elevation in blood glucose is also positively correlated with plasma insulin.

Insulin is a hormone produced by the β -cells of the islet of Langerhans in the pancreas and plays a critical role in the short term and long term regulation of glucose and energy homeostasis (Plum, *et al.*, 2001). Roles of insulin are to; increase cellular glucose uptake, increase glycogen synthesis in liver and muscle, increase fat storage, increase cellular uptake of amino acids, increase the synthesis of protein and inhibit protein catabolism (Cooney, *et al.*, 1985). However, of these roles, insulin is most commonly known for its role in promoting cellular glucose uptake. Insulin is usually expected to increase in response to plasma glucose elevation. Postprandial glucose elevation will eventually decrease over time, as glucose is taken up by the muscle and liver. Peripheral administration of insulin has been shown to increase glucose uptake into cells as demonstrated by Loh *et al.* as shown in **Figure 2.1** (Loh *et al.*, 2017).

Many studies have demonstrated the response of insulin following either a mixed meal (Coyle, et al., 1985; Farshchi, et al., 2005; Astbury, et al., 2011; Clayton et al., 2015) or in an isolated individual macronutrient (Haff et al., 1999; Jensen, et al., 2011). Elevations in plasma insulin typically suppress its counter-regulatory hormones, glucagon and ghrelin. It also inhibits gluconeogenesis (Yki-Jarvinen, et al., 1989) and glycogenolysis (Petersen, et al., 1998). However, exercise, either resistance (McMillan et al., 1993) or aerobic (Pruett & Oseid, 1970), has been shown to decrease plasma insulin concentrations. Although exercise in general will supress insulin secretion, it synergistically promotes lipolysis of free fatty acids. Within the central nervous system, previous experiments on administration of exogenous insulin produce a net catabolic effect by reducing food intake (Woods, et al., 1979). On the flip side, low central insulin concentrations may increase the anabolic effects of food consumption. The regulation of the glucose-insulin relationship is simplified in Figure 2.2. Interestingly, although no study has been carried out on humans, experiments on rats have shown that the increase in plasma insulin concentration is directly proportional to energy expenditure (Müller et al., 1997) and respiratory quotient, thus increasing the reliance on carbohydrate as source of energy (Menéndez & Atrens, 1989).



Figure 2.1 Infusion of insulin with time is directly proportional to blood glucose concentration. Note the drop in glucose levels proportion to insulin injection. Adapted from (Loh *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 2.2 From the pancreas, insulin is secreted into the blood in response to circulating blood glucose and in direct proportion to the level of fat stored in white adipose tissue. Adapted from (Begg & Woods, 2012).

2.4.3 Orexigenic and anorexigenic hormonal response to breakfast omission/consumption

Many intervention studies have been conducted to obtain a deeper understanding of breakfast manipulations on indices of energy balance, focussing on appetite hormones. Generally, appetite hormones can be divided into two categories which are orexigenic, the appetite stimulator (i.e. ghrelin, glucagon) and anorexigenic, the appetite inhibitor (i.e. PYY, GLP-1, insulin) hormones. These hormones are homeostatically regulated and interact with one another to achieve normal energy balance (Kim, Leyva & Diano 2014). Understanding the function of each hormone and how they interact with one another, may provide valuable information about metabolism that might benefit health and/or performance.

Ghrelin or acylated ghrelin (active ghrelin) is a type of peptide hormone produced by ghrelinergic cells in the gastrointestinal tract and is secreted when the body system is undernourished (Sakata & Sakai, 2010). This hormone functions as a neuropeptide in the central nervous system and binds to ghrelin/growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R) regulating eating behaviour, glucose metabolism and memory (Burger & Berner, 2014). In the context of energy metabolism, ghrelin is secreted when the stomach is empty. Therefore, scientists often refer to ghrelin as a 'hunger hormone'. With its orexigenic attribute, ghrelin stimulates food intake and promotes positive energy balance. Thus, many studies show that plasma ghrelin is elevated during a fasting state and suppressed following energy intake (Asakawa *et al.*, 2001; Toshinai *et al.*, 2001). In other words, circulating ghrelin concentrations are inversely correlated with the presence of energy (and therefore macronutrients) in the gastrointestinal tract. For instance, a study by Williams *et al.* (2003), looking at the effect of intragastric load of glucose on plasma

ghrelin found that the active ghrelin level was reduced by approximately 50% under normal gastric emptying state (Cummings *et al.*, 2003). The same effects have also been reported with free fatty acids (Gormsen *et al.*, 2006) and protein (Foster-Schubert *et al.*, 2008) administration, both also decreasing plasma ghrelin. These however are not universal findings.

Since glucose availability could stimulate ghrelin secretion, infusion of glucagon which reduces glucose uptake by the muscles and the liver has been shown to transiently increase plasma active ghrelin concentration (Kamegai *et al.*, 2004). Studies found that ghrelin concentration was proportional to the glucagon treatment infused (Kamegai *et al.*, 2004), and this effect was mediated by the glucagon receptor on ghrelin secreting cells in the gastrointestinal tract (Katayama *et al.*, 2007).

In a study by Astbury *et al.* no difference in plasma ghrelin was observed following breakfast omission (Astbury *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, in another study, ghrelin concentrations were found to be unaffected by habitual consumption or omission of breakfast (Thomas, *et al.*, 2015). These findings seem to suggest that habituation to a certain dietary regimen over time could lead to metabolic adaptation. Plasma ghrelin and other gut hormones response to food consumption can be observe in **Figure 2.3**.



Figure 2.3. The response of appetite hormones after food consumption. All appetite hormone responses are normalized to their percentage of lowest to highest concentration. It is noted that there is a high concentration of ghrelin preprandially, which is suppressed by food intake, whilst glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide (GIP), peptide YY (PYY), and glucagonlike peptide (GLP)-1 are low preprandially and increase following food intake. Grey circle (\bigcirc) indicates ghrelin, black square (\blacksquare) indicates PYY, white circle (\bigcirc) indicates GLP-1, and black circle (\bigcirc) indicates GIP plasma concentration. Adapted from (Engelstoft & Schwartz, 2016).

Glucagon-like-peptide-1 (GLP-1) is a 30 amino acid peptide hormone produced and secreted by intestinal enteroendocrine L-cells and certain neurons within the nucleus of the solitary tract in the brainstem following food intake (Dailey, *et al.*, 2012). GLP-1 is an anorexigenic hormone, and concentrations in the blood increase following food consumption (Nadkarni *et al.*, 2014). Synergistically, it has been reviewed that intestinal GLP-1 is released into the circulation to stimulate pancreatic insulin secretion upon meal intake when blood glucose is elevated, subsequently minimising development of hyperglycaemia (Holst, 2004; Nadkarni, Chepurny, & Holz, 2014; Engelstoft & Schwartz, 2016). GLP-1 is commonly released in a biphasic fashion with the early phase at 10-15 min postprandial and followed by a later phase 30-60 min postprandial, with this

depending on the rate of gastric emptying and entry of nutrients into the small intestine (Verdich *et al.*, 2001). For example, a study by Atsbury *et al.* reported that GLP-1 was significantly elevated at 30 minutes after breakfast consumption of a ~251 kcal liquid meal compared to omitting it (Astbury *et al.*, 2011).

Besides GLP-1, peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) is another anorexigenic hormones that is released from the gastrointestinal tract, proportionally to the energy content of a meal (Batterham *et al.*, 2002; Le Roux *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, many breakfast theme studies have shown the elevation of plasma PYY following breakfast consumption (Chowdhury, *et al.*, 2015; Thomas *et al.*, 2015; Chowdhury, *et al.*, 2016;). PYY has been shown to have several biological actions, including vasoconstriction, inhibition of gastric acid secretion, reduction of pancreatic and intestinal secretion, and inhibition of gastrointestinal motility (Batterham & Bloom, 2003). Additionally, consumption of dietary fibre increases the speed of transit of intestinal contents into the ileum, to raise PYY and induce satiety (Juvonen *et al.*, 2009).

In summary, it is clear that overnight fasting increases orexigenic hormones (i.e. ghrelin) and increase gastric motility, thus promoting food intake (Cumming & Overduin, 2017). Following consumption of an energy containing meal at breakfast, the presence of energy in the gastrointestinal track would suppress orexigenic hormones, and promote secretion of anorexigenic hormones (i.e. GLP-1, PYY) to inhibit food intake. Additionally, these anorexigenic hormones will also increase the secretion of insulin, therefore promoting glucose uptake into muscle and synthesis of muscle and liver glycogen.

2.5 Exercise performance following pre-exercise carbohydrate consumption.

Many studies have reported increases in endurance performance following a high carbohydrate pre-exercise meal (Clayton *et al.*, 2015; Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014). Ensuring optimal muscle glycogen levels is believed to benefit demanding exercise that is longer than 80 minutes (Sherman *et al.*, 1989; Sherman, *et al.*, 1981), since fatigue during this mode of exercise is often associated with muscle glycogen depletion (Duhamel, Perco & Green, 2006; Ørtednblad *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, stored glycogen in the liver provides an important fuel source during endurance exercise. In a study by Duhamel *et al.* cycling at 70% VO₂peak that was carried out under low glycogen levels was reported to drastically reduce the uptake and release of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca⁺ during exercise (Duhamel *et al.*, 2006). In another study, Ørtenblad *et al.*, showed that ingestion of carbohydrate during 4 h of recovery following exercise, can normalize both subject's muscle glycogen content and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca⁺, compared to the occasion where they omitted it (Ørtenblad *et al.*, 2011). This can be evidenced by the deleterious effect on endurance exercise, where performance was measured following 12 h fasting where liver glycogen stores will usually suboptimal (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973; Neufer *et al.*, 1987).

Regarding the effect of breakfast on endurance performance, reviews in the area have suggested that consumption of a high carbohydrate breakfast could generally increase subsequent endurance performance (Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014; Clayton & James 2016). Indeed, some studies have even shown that consumption of a high carbohydrate breakfast in the morning, can enhance endurance performance later in the day compared to omitting breakfast, even when performance takes place after ad-libitum food intake at lunch (Clayton *et al.* 2015; Cornford & Metcalfe, 2018). On the contrary, omitting breakfast

following an overnight fast can contribute to premature fatigue due to limited energy stores in the body. Performing exhaustive exercise under deprived energy conditions would utilise reserved phosphocreatine (PCr), at the same time hindering the re-syntheses of both PCr and ATP. Although the amount of liver and muscle glycogen is relatively small compared to endogenously stored fat, glycogen is recognized as the major source during prolonged moderate to high intensity endurance exercise (Knuiman *et al.*, 2015). Without much sparing of glycogen , plus the accumulation of metabolism by-products like inorganic phosphate, protons, lactate and free Mg²⁺, that directly affect the mechanical machinery of the muscle cell and limit performance (Ament & Verkerke, 2009). Besides, it has been reported that the capability of skeletal muscle to exercise is impaired when the glycogen store is reduced to a certain level, even though there is sufficient amount of other energy sources available (Bergstrom & Hultman, 1967).

Whilst there is a wealth of literature that has focussed on the effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate/energy intake on endurance performance, very little work has focussed on performance of resistance exercise. Ingesting adequate carbohydrate before resistance exercise could offset muscle glycogen depletion and, if muscle glycogen is implicated in fatigue during resistance exercise (Haff *et al.*, 2003), enhance performance. In a typical breakfast meal, which commonly contains high carbohydrate (1.0-2.0 g carbohydrate/kg body mass; Timlin & Pereira, 2007) muscle glycogen concentration could potentially increase by up to 11% (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2002).

For resistance exercise, there is only one previous study that has isolated the effects of pre-exercise feeding on performance. In this study, Fairchild *et al.* (2016) observed that ingesting 75 g of glucose immediately before performing exercise, did not result in any difference in 3 repetitions maximum (3-RM) isokitenic leg extension for 7 sets at 60 °/s

compared to a placebo. However, in most, but not all, resistance training scenarios, exercisers perform 3-5 sets of 8-12 repetition maximum (Ratamess *et al.*, 2009), meaning the study of Fairchild *et al.* performed significantly less repetitions than what is experienced by most using resistance exercise training. Therefore, the protocol is unlikely to resemble the real situation in the gym. Moreover, most studies have supplied carbohydrate through a combination of immediately before and during exercise (Lambert *et al.*, 1991; Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff, *et al.*, 2003; Kulik *et al.*, 2008), meaning the effects of carbohydrate intake at a pre-exercise meal cannot be determined.

2.5.1 Pre-exercise carbohydrate intake in various modes of resistance exercise training

As discussed, multiple bout resistance exercise training utilises a substantial amount of muscle glycogen (Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff, *et al.*, 2003; Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998). This is due to the high rate of energy utilisation for the subsequent demand of ATP and PCr production through glycolysis for successive bouts (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff *et al.*, 2003). Haff *et al.* suggested that muscle glycogen depletion appears to be directly associated to the volume of muscular work achieved, with high-repetition, moderate-load exercise resulting in the greatest reduction (Haff *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, maximising muscle glycogen stores via dietary carbohydrate intake/carbohydrate supplementation, hypothetically, could improve muscle glycogen availability and assist ATP re-synthesis to improve high-volume resistance exercise performance.

Research has consistently reported that adequate pre-exercise carbohydrate intake can delay the onset of fatigue (Hargreaves, *et al.*, 2004), thereby prolonging endurance

exercise duration (Clayton et al., 2016; Clayton et al., 2015; Coyle & Coggan, 1984). However, for resistance exercise, many (Dalton et al., 1999; Lambert et al., 1991; Mitchell, et al., 1997; Kulik et al., 2008; Raposo, 2011; Fairchild, et al., 2016), but not all, (Haff et al., 1999; Haff et al., 2001; Jagim et al., 2016; Oliver et al., 2016) have reported that carbohydrate intake (mainly during exercise) elicits no effect. These effects could be due to the nature of resistance exercise itself, which is typically very intense and intermittent in nature, meaning substrate replenishment during rest between sets might prevent any effects on performance between dietary interventions. Exercising at high intensity normally reduces exercise duration, therefore dampening the potential for any metabolic influence on performance. For example, a study by Mitchell et al. reported there was no ergogenic effect of a high carbohydrate diet compared to a low carbohydrate diet observed for back squat, leg press and knee extension exercise (~14 reps/5 sets) at 100% of 15-RM (Mitchell et al., 1997). In line with this, a placebo effect was observed where no difference in high-intensity cycling time trial performance between taste and texture match placebo and carbohydrate-containing breakfasts (Mears et al., 2018). However, when a design that involved exercising at slightly lower intensity with a higher exercise volume was employed, with subjects performing sets of 10 repetitions of leg extension at a workload equivalent to 80% of 10-RM, until failure (190 reps/~17 sets), a higher number of repetitions was performed when carbohydrate was provided during the exercise bout compared to when a placebo was provided (Lambert et al., 1991). Although the results were not quite statistically significant (P = 0.067), there was a strong trend for an improvement in performance. Therefore, it appears that performance in longer duration resistance exercise (i.e. higher volume exercise) might benefit from pre-exercise carbohydrate intake, although no study has examined this, to date. Supporting this notion, a few studies have reported that low intensity (55 to 85% of 1 to 10-RM) resistance

exercise to exhaustion is enhanced by carbohydrate intake immediately before and during exercise (Haff *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2001; Oliver *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, based on this evidence, it may be suggested that higher volume resistance exercise (i.e. lower intensity for a more prolonged exercise duration) could potentially be enhanced by carbohydrate intake either before and/or during exercise, but again, no study has specifically explored the role of carbohydrate consumed in the pre-exercise meal. Related studies assessing various modes of resistance exercise performance on subsequent carbohydrate intake are presented in **Table 2.1**.

Table 2.1 Intervention studies assessing strength exercise performance preceded by pre-exercise carbohydrate supplementation vs. placebo. Studies were arranged from higher exercise intensity/small set to lower intensity/big set (in **bold**)

Reference	Intervention	Study design	Finding
Mitchell et al., 1997	High CHO diet = 7.66 g/kg body mass vs. Low CHO diet = 0.37 g/kg body mass. Diet were consumed 48 h preceding exercise.	Eleven resistance-trained males performed five sets of squats, leg press and knee extension to failure at 100% from 15-RM .	High CHO diet shows no difference in performance compared to Low CHO diet.
Sawyer <i>et al.</i> , 2013	Seven days of normal CHO diet = 47% CHO: 22% protein: 34% fat vs. 7 days of restricted CHO diet = 5.4% CHO; 35.1% protein; 53.6% fat.	Sixteen men and fifteen women performed hand grip dynamometer, vertical jump, single rep of 100% from 1-RM test bench press and back squat, bench press to exhaustion and 30 second Wingate cycling.	No difference in all performance following 7 days of normal and restricted CHO dietary regimen. Despites, reduction in body mass.
Fairchild <i>et al.</i> , 2016	CHO drink every ~15 min until 90 min = 75 g vs. placebo drink.	Eleven males and 6 females performed 100% from 3-RM isokinetic contraction at 60°s ⁻¹ .	CHO supplementation does not alter performance
Dalton <i>et al.</i> , 1999	CHO drink = 1 g/kg body mass vs. placebo drink vs. Control drink. These drinks were consumed 30 min before performance test. Drink intervention and exercise performance were done after 11 days of negative energy balance dietary regimen.	Eight men for CHO and placebo trial, whilst 6 men for control trial Subjects performed leg extension and bench press at 80% of 10-RM to exhaustion .	CHO intake following negative energy balance does not improve resistance exercise number of repetitions
Raposo, 2011	CHO drink = 1.0 g/kg body mass vs. placebo drink consumed 60 min before beginning exercise bouts.	Thirteen women performed 5 sets at 75% of 1-RM for bench press and leg press.	There was no statistical difference between CHO and placebo drink treatment.

Kulik et al., 2008	CHO drink = 0.3 g/kg body mass right before and during exercise vs. placebo drink.	Eight resistant trained males perform squat at 85% from 1-RM to exhaustion .	CHO supplementation does not improve squat to exhaustion.
Lambert <i>et al.</i> , 1991	CHO drink = 1.0 g/kg body mass right before exercise vs. placebo drink	Seven experience resistance athlete performed multiple bout leg extension at 80% from 10-RM , set of 10 to exhaustion.	CHO supplementation shows no difference but potentially improved number of repetitions during multiple bout resistant exercise.
Haff <i>et al.</i> , 1999	CHO meal = 1.2 g/kg body mass and drinks = 0.3 g/kg body mass before and during exercise respectively vs. placebo drink	Six males performed squat at 55% from 1-RM , for 10 sets to exhaustion (multiple bout to exhaustion)	CHO supplementation improved number of sets.
Haff <i>et al.</i> , 2001	CHO drink = 1.0 g/kg body mass before exercise and 0.51 g/kg body mass at set 1, 6, 11 vs. placebo drink	Eight males performed isokinetic contraction for 16 sets of 10 reps at 120°s ⁻¹ .	CHO supplementation improved total and average work but not peak and average torque.
Jagim <i>et al.</i> , 2016	MIPS drink consists of 4 g CHO vs. placebo drink	Twelve males performed back squat and bench press at 85% from 5-RM to exhaustion followed by anaerobic sprinting cycling.	MIPS drink improve bench press number of repetition and anaerobic sprinting cycling mean power.
Oliver <i>et al.</i> , 2016	Low molecular mass CHO drink = 1.2 g/kg body mass vs. High molecular mass CHO drink = 1.2 g/kg body mass vs. placebo drink.	Sixteen resistance-trained males performed 5 sets of 10 maximal explosive repetition of back squat at 75% from 10-RM .	Both Low and High molecular weight CHO drink increase power output than placebo. No difference between both carbohydrate trials.

Abbreviations: CHO, carbohydrate; RM, repetition maximum; MIPS, multi ingredient pre-workout.

2.5.2 Effects of carbohydrate quantity on resistance exercise

As discussed previously, studies which reported an improvement in resistance exercise performance with carbohydrate supplementation immediately before and during resistance exercise bouts involved exercise with a much larger work volume (Lambert et al., 1991; Haff et al., 1999; Haff et al., 2001) compared to studies which reported insignificant effects (Fairchild, et al., 2016; Kulik et al., 2008; Raposo, 2011). In a review by Haddock & Wilkin, it was suggested that high volume resistance exercise can significantly increase net energy expenditure compared to lower work volume (Haddock & Wilkin, 2006), therefore utilising greater muscle glycogen. In a study by Haff et al. 3 sets of isokinetic leg extensions performed at 120°/s has been shown to reduce muscle glycogen in the vastus lateralis by 17% (Haff et al., 2000). In the same study, a multipleset resistance-training session, consisting of back-squats, speed squats, 1-leg squats performed at 65, 45, and 10% of 1-RM resulted in a 27% decrease in muscle glycogen of the same muscle. Similarly, Robergs et al. reported that 6 sets of 6 and ~12 reps of leg extensions performed at 70 and 35% of 1-RM respectively, significantly reduced muscle glycogen by 39% and 38% respectively via glycogenolytic process (Roberg et al., 1991). In another study, Tesch et al. reported muscle glycogen depletion of 40%, following 5 sets of 10 repetitions of concentric knee extensions performed at 60% of 1-RM (Tesch et al., 1998). Taken together, the above mentioned studies suggest that the level of muscle glycogen depletion observed during resistance exercise appears to be a function of the amount of work performed.

Since prolonged low to moderate intensity resistance exercise to exhaustion (high volume) likely utilises more muscle glycogen (due to the higher volume), the quantity of carbohydrate consumed might play a role in the ergogenicity of carbohydrate intake in

and around resistance exercise. Kulik *et al.* found that 0.3 g/kg body mass carbohydrate supplement drink in the morning taken before and during exercise did not improve performance in squat exercise at 85% of 1-RM (Kulik *et al.*, 2008). However, Haff *et al.* (1999) reported that consuming 1.2 g carbohydrate/kg body mass in the morning, and 0.38 g carbohydrate/kg body mass during every completed sets of squats performed to exhaustion, increased the number of sets and repetitions for leg squat at 55% 1-RM compared to a placebo drink (Haff *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, the majority of the studies reviewed provide carbohydrate in the form of beverages during exercise, rather than in a meal before exercise. Thus, these studies do not entirely represent breakfast omission or consumption *per se*.

In summary, the studies reviewed suggest that carbohydrate intake immediately before and during exercise, if sufficient, can increase performance in high volume, but not with low volume resistance exercise. However, whether carbohydrate intake at a pre-exercise meal influences resistance exercise performance is not known.

2.5.3 Effects of carbohydrate mouth-rinse on resistance exercise performance

It has been well-reviewed by Haff *et al.* that the ergogenic role of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake on resistance exercise performance is via increase availability of readily available carbohydrate stores (blood glucose, muscle, and liver glycogen) (Haff *et al.*, 2003). However, in an earlier study, Jeukendrup *et al.* argued that carbohydrate supplementation is unlikely to enhance high intensity exercise as it was relatively small amount of exogenous carbohydrate (5 - 15 g) can be oxidised in the first hour of exercise. It was thought to be too small to improve exercise performance and there is no clear

metabolic explanation for this effect on performance (Jeukendrup *et al.*, 1997). On the other hand, emerging studies in the literature have demonstrated that CHO mouth rinse (without swallowing) could modulate exercise performance by modulating fatigue (Carter *et al.*, 2004; Fraga *et al.*, 2017), optimise cognitive performance (Promportes *et al.*, 2017), improve time-trial performance in well-trained cyclists (Jensen *et al.*, 2017), improved morning performance of countermovement jump height, 10m sprint times (Clarke *et al.*, 2017) and improve resistance exercise number of repetitions (Decimoni *et al.*, 2018).

In the perspective of physiology, CHO mouth rinse could trigger receptors within the oral cavity, therefore influencing centrally mediate effects enhancing neural drive and inhibiting fatigue (Chambers *et al.*, 2009). The presence of CHO in the mouth may activate a phenomenon where it may enhance corticomotor output and attenuate declines in motor function associated with fatigue, providing a neurological basis for enhancements in motor performance observed in many behavioural studies (Turner *et al.*, 2014).

2.6 Effects of form of meal (solid vs. liquid) on appetite sensation regulations

Many studies have compared the regulation of appetite between meals of different form (mainly solid vs. liquid). Solid/semi-solid meals take a longer time to be digested, at least partially due to a slower rate of gastric emptying compared to liquid meal (Berry *et al.*, 2003). Hence, retention of food/fluid in the gastrointestinal tract, due to the slow digestion rate, could prolong postprandial satiety (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011) and possibly influence hormonal mediators of appetite. **Table 2.2** summarises literature findings comparing between solid versus liquid meals on appetite sensation. Collectively, it can be concluded that a solid meal in the morning could better preserve the sensation of satiety. This is supported by studies reporting higher energy intake at a subsequent meal following ingestion of a liquid meal compared to a solid meal (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Apolzan *et al.*, 2007).

Table 2.2 Intervention studies assessing appetite sensation following solid versus liquid forms of 'breakfast'. Studies arranged accordingly to chronological order.

Reference	Intervention	Study design	Finding
DiMeglio and Mattes, 2000	Two groups of; -Liquid = soda (450 kcal) -Solid = jelly beans (450 kcal) Meals were isocaloric and iso- carbohydrate.	Fifteen subjects (7 males and 8 females) participated in this cross over study. Following and overnight fast, subjects consumed allotted treatment.	Solid elicits precise energy compensation whilst Liquid elicits positive energy balance by 17%. No difference in sensation of hunger. That could due to solid food given was just snack.
Berry et al., 2003	Two groups of; -Solid = CHO drink + ground beef (740 kcal) -Liquid = CHO drink (200 kcal) Treatments were not isocaloric and non-homogenous.	Twelve subjects participated in this cross over study. Following an overnight fast, subject consume allotted treatment.	Solid food with ground beef delayed gastric emptying and increase heart rate.
Almiron et al., 2004	Equal energy load between; Liquid = regular cola (300 kcal) Solid = raspberry cookies (300 kcal) Both meals were isocaloric but not isocarbohydrate, where Liquid higher in CHO than Solid	Thirty-two subjects participated in this cross over study. Appetite sensation and energy compensation at lunch were measured.	No difference in sensation of satiety and subsequent energy intake between trials. Liquid reduces subsequent water intake compared to Solid.
Tieken <i>et al.</i> , 2007	Two meals replacement product in a form of; Liquid = 540 kcal Solid = 540 kcal Both meals were isocaloric but not isocarbohydrate where Liquid higher CHO than Solid. Both treatments were non-homogenous.	Nine men participated in this cross over study. After an overnight fasting, subjects consumed either Liquid of Solid consists of	Liquid elicit greater sensation of hunger. Insulin and ghrelin were higher during Liquid.

Stull et al., 2008	Two meal replacement products of; Liquid = 559 kcal (water, sugar, maltodextrin, sunflower oil etc.) Solid = 559 kcal (yogurt coating, corn syrup, raisins, honey, crisp rice etc.) Treatments were not iso- carbohydrate and non-homogenous and were different type of food.	Twelve men and twelve women participated in this cross over study. After an overnight fasting, subjects consumed either Liquid of Solid.	Liquid elicit greater sensation of hunger from 15 to 120 min. Subjects consumed 13.4% more oatmeal after the liquid vs solid
Pfeiffer et al., 2010	Three treatments of; 1. Drink = 1.55 g of CHO/min 2. Bar = 1.55 g of CHO (with other macronutrients + plain water) 3. Water = plain water Both meals were just isocarbohydrate but not isocaloric.	Eight well trained subjects participated in cross over study design. After overnight fasting, subjects exercise on a cycle ergometer for 2 hours at moderate intensity. This preceded by ingesting one of the 3 experimental treatment and measurement of fuel oxidation.	Solid bar increases CHO oxidation rate compared to drink, with higher sensation of fullness.
Apolzan <i>et al</i> ., 2011	Four groups of; -Sedentary (solid) -Sedentary (liquid) -Trained (solid) -Trained (liquid) All solid vs. liquid are isocaloric and homogenous (~258 kcal)	Eighteen sedentary and sixteen trained elderlies participated in this study. Mixed model cross over design comparing solid versus liquid on sedentary and resistance. Following an overnight fast, subjects consume 12.5% from total daily intake.	Solid food increase satiety but does not influence appetite hormones regulation and subsequent food intake

Abbreviations: CHO, carbohydrate.

2.6.1 Glucose response in a solid vs. liquid breakfast meal

The rate at which blood glucose reaches peak concentrations is influenced by the form of the meal ingested; either solid or liquid. In assessing glucose response upon meal ingestion, Jenkins and colleagues have introduced the glycaemic index (GI) method, which is defined as the area under the curve measured two hours after consuming 50 g of carbohydrate in relation with 50 g of glucose (Jenkins, *et al.*, 1981). GI represents the elevation (due to consumption) and depletion (due to cellular uptake) rate curve of particular carbohydrate type, within 2 hours of the solid or liquid meal, following 10-12 hours of overnight fasting (Salmerón, 1997; Liu *et al.*, 2000; Foster-Powell, *et al.*, 2002).

The glucose response depends on factors such as carbohydrate type (glucose, fructose, galactose, sucrose etc.), entrapment of carbohydrate molecules within the form of the meal, other macronutrient content in the meal, organic acids, amount of salts in the meal and the meal's viscosity (Mondazzi & Arcelli, 2009). Studies have suggested that the absorption rate of a meal could be dependent on its fibre content. Solid/high fibre meals could facilitate a slower digestion rate (Adams *et al.*, 2016), resulting in reduced postprandial glucose and insulin responses compared to liquid meals (Berry *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011). Additionally, a slower digestion rate could also produce a greater and more prolonged sensation of satiety (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011).

2.6.2 Exercise performance with different sensation of hunger and fullness

In almost every double-blind study, pre-exercise carbohydrate intake, treatment interventions have been provided in liquid form (Lambert *et al.*, 1991; Conley & Stone,

1996; Mitchell et al., 1997; Haff et al., 1999; Dalton et al., 1999; Haff et al., 2000; Kulik et al., 2008; Haff et al., 2001; Raposo, 2011; Fairchild et al., 2016; Jagim et al., 2016; Oliver *et al.*, 2016). However, this does not resemble the exact sensations if subject's habitual form of morning/pre-exercise meal is solid/semi-solid. Subjective appetite sensations have been shown to be influenced by the form of meal ingested, (Almiron-Roig et al., 2003; Ranawana & Henry, 2011), meaning that if appetite might influence exercise performance, then the form of meal and its subsequent effects on appetite might influence performance. In a review article by Noakes et al. the psychobiological effects explained in the Central Governor Model (CGM) of exercise regulation, where unpleasant feelings, due to non-habitual nature of certain new modified circumstances could mediate exercise performance (Noakes et al., 2012). Although this model does not entirely replicate the scenario of appetite sensation that could modulate exercise performance, the effect of what was explained in CGM can be linked to a 'learning effect' of particular exercise. In a study where a group of well-trained athletes were asked to perform different types of an unfamiliar endurance exercise time trial in 6 different occasion, demonstrated \sim 6% and \sim 10% improvement in time and power output in the third and sixth attempt, respectively (Foster et al., 2009). This study suggests that learning the new set of unfamiliar exercises, increases confidence and leads to better performance. Therefore, the psychological states of a person who anticipates what they expect to happen potentially optimises performance beyond physiological/metabolic effects. Thus, it is of interest to observe how manipulation of different appetite sensation (hunger and fullness) effects resistance exercise performance. This will answer whether psychological factors related to a meal might influence exercise performance besides the metabolic effects.

2.7 General summary from literature

In summary, several studies have investigated the effect of consuming or omitting breakfast on endurance exercise performance, however, this effect on resistance exercise is not clear. Given that resistance exercise is routinely included in the training programmes of athletes and sports persons, as well as recreationally active individuals, the effect of a pre-exercise meal/breakfast on performance is of particular interest. Of note, the results of previous experiments might be confounded by the participant's knowledge of the study intervention (i.e. they knew when they ate or skipped breakfast) or the manner in which the pre-exercise meal was provided (i.e. liquid meals). Furthermore, the influence of appetite and the performance effects of a pre-exercise meal in this regard has not been examined. Therefore, the comprehensive investigation of how pre-exercise energy/carbohydrate intake influences resistance exercise performance is warranted. In particular, the role that subjective and hormonal appetite regulation might play in this relationship is of interest and has received no attention in the scientific literature to the author's knowledge. This will allow the true effect of energy intake in the morning (i.e. breakfast) on resistance exercise performance to be determined.

CHAPTER 3: BREAKFAST OMISSION REDUCES SUBSEQUENT RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

3.1 Introduction

Number of studies in the literature have demonstrated detrimental effect of omitting breakfast on endurance exercise performance. Indeed, reduce glycogen level, especially in the liver, following an overnight fasting is believed the major reason for drop in endurance exercise performance. For resistance exercise, studies have shown it is also a type of glycogen-dependent activity, which refraining from consuming breakfast following overnight fasting could undoubtedly render liver and muscle glycogen deficit, therefore potentially reduce performance outcome. However, none of this has been published in the scientific literature. Thus, this study compares a single exposure of breakfast consumption or omission on strength performance, as well as components of energy balance and energy balance regulation (i.e. energy expenditure, subjective appetite, appetite-related hormones and ad-libitum energy intake).

3.2 Literature review

Resistance exercise is performed by many athletes, often as part of a wider training programme, with performance in such sessions having potential implications for adaptation to the resistance exercise itself, as well as possibly for other aspects of the athlete's performance (e.g. sport-specific strength performance) or health (e.g. injury prevention/recovery). High intensity exercise largely relies on the utilization of endogenous carbohydrate (glycogen) stores to supply energy for muscular contraction, and as such current recommendations suggest consuming 1-4 g carbohydrate/kg body mass in the 1-4 h before exercise (Burke, *et al.*, 2011). Whilst much research has examined the influence of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake (Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014) and breakfast (Clayton & James, 2015) on endurance exercise performance, little is known about how pre-exercise carbohydrate intake effects performance in resistance-type exercise.

Glycogen depletion of up to 40% has been reported following a single bout of resistance exercise (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff *et al.*, 2003). The degree of glycogen depletion is likely dependent on the type, intensity and duration of the exercise session, with hypertrophy-type resistance exercise (i.e. higher repetition, moderate load exercise) likely to produce larger reductions in muscle glycogen (Slater & Phillips, 2011). Previous studies have demonstrated that commencing resistance-type exercise with suboptimal muscle glycogen levels can impair performance capabilities (Jacobs *et al.*, 1981; Leveritt & Abernethy, 1999). Although this is not a universal finding (Mitchell *et al.*, 1997), muscle glycogen appears to be an important fuel source for resistance exercise performance, and pre-exercise glycogen stores might therefore effect performance and possible training quality/ adaptation.

Morning training sessions are common place for both athletes and recreational exercisers, and many athletes report skipping breakfast in the morning (Zullig *et al.*, 2006; Veasey *et al.*, 2015;)[.] Therefore, it is likely that at least some training will take place in a fasted state, where glycogen levels (at least liver glycogen) will be suboptimal. Consumption of a high carbohydrate meal (i.e. breakfast) in the morning after an overnight fast, increases liver (Bawden *et al.*, 2014) and to a less extent muscle (Coyle *et al.*, 1985; Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004;) glycogen levels, and has been shown to

enhance endurance performance (Neufer *et al.*, 1987; Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, the effect of morning carbohydrate intake before resistance exercise has not been well studied.

Carbohydrate intake before and during a bout of resistance exercise, increases (Haff *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000) or tends to increase (Lambert *et al.*, 1991) performance when sets of ~10 repetitions are performed to exhaustion. In contrast, carbohydrate intake before or during more intense but lower volume (i.e. sets of 5 reps) resistance exercise (Kulik *et al.*, 2008), or fixed repetition (3 sets of 10 reps) isokinetic dynamometer exercise (Haff *et al.*, 2000), does not appear to influence performance. These studies suggest that carbohydrate ingestion around resistance exercise is more likely to augment performance when the volume of the training session is greater.

It is not possible to isolate the specific effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate feeding in these experiments, as carbohydrate (and placebo) drinks were provided both before and during exercise. The only study, to our knowledge, to isolate the effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake on resistance exercise performance reported no benefit of carbohydrate intake on performance of 3 maximal efforts on an isokinetic dynamometer, for up to 90 min after ingestion (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016). However, given the findings of previous studies, the low volume nature of the exercise performed in this study might not be expected to be influenced by carbohydrate intake or manipulation of pre-exercise glycogen stores. Additionally, whilst the provision of carbohydrate in drink form might allow the impact of nutrient ingestion to be elucidated, it might not represent a typical breakfast consumed prior to exercise. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the effect of a typical high carbohydrate breakfast meal on subsequent performance of

four sets of resistance exercise at 90% 10-RM to failure (back squat and bench press exercise).

3.2.1 Objectives of study

In order to establish how breakfast consumption/omission affects appetite sensation and resistance exercise performance, this study had the following objectives:

- Primary objective: to investigate the effect of an ecological breakfast meal versus breakfast omission on subsequent performance of back squat and bench press.
- Secondary objective: to investigate the effect of an ecological breakfast meal versus breakfast omission on subjective appetite sensation of hunger, fullness, desire to eat and prospective food consumption.

3.3 Methodology

3.3.1 Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures

To investigate the problem, subjects, in a cross-over fashion, consumed a typical breakfast meal or a water-only breakfast, two hours before completing four sets of back-squat and bench press, with each set performed to failure. For this study, selection of 4 sets at 90% from 10 RM to exhaustion was meant to resemble a hypertrophy training session scenario as suggested by Ratamess *et al.* (2009). The main outcome measures of this study was the number of repetitions performed in each set which was recorded during both trials to quantify performance.

3.3.2 Subjects

To participate in the study, subjects were required to be non-smokers, habitually consuming breakfast 3 times a week and habitually performing resistance exercise ≥ 2 times a week for at least 2 years, and to include back squat and bench press in their training routine. Subjects who indicated that they were not habitual breakfast consumers and were not familiar with back squat and bench press were excluded from this study. The sample size for this study was estimated from G*Power 3.0.10 software using an α of 0.05, statistical power of 0.95 and estimated correlation between group of 0.5. After consideration of drop-out rate, it was estimated that 16 subjects would be sufficient to detect a 10% difference in performance between trials. The study received ethical approval from the Loughborough University Ethic Approvals (Human Participants) Sub-Committee and all subjects provided written consent and completed a medical screening questionnaire before commencing the study.

3.3.3 Procedures

3.3.3.1 Pre-trial standardization

In the 24 h before the first experimental trial, subjects weighed and recorded all dietary intake. Subjects also recorded all low intensity habitual activity for the 48 h before the first trial and any physical activity undertaken between 48-72 h before the first trial. These diet and activity patterns were replicated in the 72 h before the second experimental trial. Subjects refrained from any strenuous exercise or alcohol intake in the 48 h before trials.

3.3.3.2 Preliminary/familiarization trial

At the preliminary trial, subjects were briefed on the study, before completing consent and screening forms. Subject's physical characteristics (body mass and height) were then measured before their 10-repetition maximum (10-RM) was determined for two bilateral resistance exercises (back-squat and bench-press). Before exercise, subjects performed a 5-min cycling warm-up at 1.5 W/ kg body mass (Monark 894E, Vansbro). They then completed the 10-RM testing in back squat, followed by bench press, each of which was preceded by a 5 min self-selected exercise-specific warm up. Subjects completed 10 repetitions of the exercise, with the load continuing to increase until they were unable to complete 10 repetitions. The last completed set was termed the subjects 10-RM and was used to determine the workload for familiarization and experimental trials, nominally 90% of 10-RM. Following the 10-RM testing and 30 min of rest, subjects were familiarized with the exercise component of the experiment trials, as well as the measurement of subjective appetite (both described in detail below).

3.3.3.3 Experimental trials

For experimental trials, subjects arrived at the laboratory after an overnight fast (approximately 10 h) at a time typical for them to consume breakfast (i.e. approx. 0800-0900) and baseline measurements of body mass, and subjective appetite, were recorded.

During the breakfast consumption (BC) trial, subjects consumed a standardized breakfast meal consisting of rice cereal, milk, bread, butter, jam, and orange juice (Tesco, Cheshunt, United Kingdom) providing ~20% of their estimated energy requirements and 1.5 g carbohydrate/ kg body mass. During breakfast omission (BO), no food was

consumed, but subjects consumed water to match the total water content of the BC meal. Meals were consumed over 10 min and were followed by 2 h seated rest in the laboratory. Trials were arranged in a cross-over randomised counter balance, separated by \geq 4 days in between to allow energy replenishment (Haddock *et al.*, 2006). Schematic timeline of this study is presented in **Figure 3.1** whilst the energy and macronutrient content of the breakfasts is provided in **Table 3.1**.



* Time duration approximately 3-4 hours

Figure 3.1. Schematic timeline for a typical subject on each visit.

	Breakfast meal	
	ВО	BC
Protein (g)	0 ± 0	14.7 ± 1.4
Carbohydrate (g)	0 ± 0	116.3 ± 10.7
Fat (g)	0 ± 0	8.4 ± 0.8
Fibre (g)	0 ± 0	3.8 ± 0.4
Energy (kJ)	0 ± 0	2511 ± 230
Water (ml)	514 ± 72	514 ± 72

Table 3.1 Macronutrient, energy and water intake during each trial.

Breakfast consumption, BC; Breakfast omission, BO. Values are presented as Mean \pm SD.

3.3.3.4 Resistance exercise performance

To assess resistance exercise performance, subjects performed 4 sets to failure of back squat followed by bench press at 90% of each subject's 10-RM. Subjects initially performed a 5-min cycling warm-up, as previously described. For each exercise, subjects then performed 5 min of individually standardized self-selected stretching and exercise-specific warm up, followed by two warm up sets of 10 repetitions at 30% and 60% of 10-RM. All exercise sets were followed by 3 min rest. For each exercise, subjects performed standardized lifting technique, with two spotters assisting them to reach the starting position for each set. For the squat, the bar was held across the back of subject's shoulders and they started with knees fully extended, lowering themselves until their thighs were parallel to the floor, before returning to the starting position. For bench press, subjects

started with their elbows fully extended and lowered the bar until it lightly touched their chest, before returning to the starting position. Each correctly completed repetition was counted by an investigator and failure defined as when subjects were unable to complete a repetition.

3.3.3.5 Subjective appetite sensations

Subjects rated their sensations of hunger, fullness, desire to eat (DTE) and prospective food consumption (PFC) using a visual analogue scale before BC/BO (~0820), after BC/BO (~0830), as well as 1 h (~0930) and 2 h (~1030) after BC/BO. Written anchors of "not at all" /"none at all" and "extremely"/ "a lot" were placed 0 and 100 mm, respectively (Flint *et al.*, 2000).

3.3.4 Statistical analyses

Data were reported as mean and standard deviation ($M \pm SD$) and were analysed using SPSS software (Version 23.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The Shapiro-Wilk test was initially used to determine the normality of data. The Levene's test was used to assess the homogeneity of variance between groups. Data containing two factors were analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA, with significant effects followed by Holm-Bonferroni-adjusted paired *t*-test or Holm-Bonferroni-adjusted Wilcoxon's Signed Rank test, as appropriate. Data containing one factor were analysed using paired *t*-test or Wilcoxon's Signed Rank test, as appropriate. Statistical significance was set at *P* < 0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Descriptive demographic

Sixteen resistance trained males (age 23 ± 4 years, body mass 77.56 ± 7.13 kg, height 1.75 ± 0.04 m, BMI 25.3 ± 2.3 kg/m²) completed this study. On average, subjects consumed breakfast 5 ± 2 times/week and performed resistance exercise 4 ± 2 times/week, with back squat and bench press performed 2 ± 1 times/ week and 2 ± 1 times/week, respectively.

3.4.2 Pre-trial measures and breakfast perceptions

Pre-trial body mass was similar between trials (BO: 77.78 ± 7.33 kg; BC: 77.58 ± 7.21 kg; P = 0.355). Subjective feelings of hunger (P = 0.083), fullness (P = 0.245), DTE (P = 0.088) and PFC (P = 0.775) were also similar between trials (Table 2). Subjects rated the breakfast consumed during BC as more pleasant (BO = 7 ± 13 mm; BC = 63 ± 21 mm; P < 0.001) and more filling (BO = 42 ± 21 mm; BC = 77 ± 14 mm; P = 0.001) than the water consumed in BO.

3.4.3 Strength performance

There were trial (P < 0.001), time (P < 0.001) and interaction (P = 0.027) effects for back squat performance. Over the four working sets, total repetitions completed were ~10% lower during the BO trial (BO = 58 ± 11 reps; BC = 68 ± 14 reps; P < 0.001) (**Figure 3.2 A**). Repetitions in sets 1 (BO = 21 ± 5 reps; BC = 26 ± 6 reps; P = 0.001) and 2 (BO = 15 ± 2 reps; BC = 17 ± 4 reps; P = 0.008) were lower during BO compared
to BC, whilst repetitions in sets 3 (P = 0.54) and 4 (P = 0.13) were not different between trials (**Figure 3.2 B**). For bench press performance, there were trial (P = 0.001) and time (P < 0.001) effects, but no interaction effect (P = 0.297). Total repetitions completed were ~5% lower during the BO trial (BO = 38 ± 5 reps; BC = 40 ± 5 reps; P < 0.001) (**Figure 3.3 A**). Similarly, repetitions in sets 1 (BO: 14 ± 2 repetitions; BC: 15 ± 2 repetitions; P= 0.009) and 2 (BO = 9 ± 2 repetitions; BC = 10 ± 2 repetitions; P = 0.038) were lower during BO compared to BC, whilst repetitions in sets 3 (P = 0.24) and 4 (P = 0.46) were not different between trials (**Figure 3.3 B**).



Figure 3.2 (A) Total repetitions over the four sets of back-squat and (B) repetitions performed in each back-squat set. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD and lines represent individual subject data, n = 16. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different from BC (P < 0.05).



Figure 3.3 (A) Total repetitions over the four sets for bench-press and (B) repetitions performed in each bench-press set. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different from BC (P < 0.05).

3.4.4 Subjective appetite sensations

There were trial (P < 0.001), time (P < 0.001), and interaction (P < 0.001) effects for all subjective appetite sensations (**Figure 3.4**). At all-time points post-meal, fullness was greater, whilst hunger, DTE and PFC were all lower after BC compared to BO (P < 0.001). Compared to pre-meal values, the breakfast during BC decreased hunger, DTE and PFC, and increased fullness immediately and 1 h post-meal ($P \le 0.001$), with the effects for fullness and DTE persisting to 2 h post-meal ($P \le 0.043$). In contrast, compared to pre-meal, the water-only breakfast in BO increased fullness immediately post-meal ($P \le 0.002$).



Figure 3.4. Subjective appetite ratings of hunger, fullness, desire to eat (DTE), and prospective food consumption (PFC) throughout the experimental trial. White circle ($^{\bigcirc}$) represents the breakfast omission (BO), and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represent breakfast consumption (BC). Dagger (†) denotes significantly different from BC, whilst asterisk (*) denotes significant different from pre-meal (P < 0.05).

3.5 Discussion

This study is the first to report the effect of an ecologically valid high carbohydrate breakfast on subsequent resistance exercise performance. The main findings of this study were that participants completed ~15% more repetitions of back squat and ~6% more repetitions of bench press when they consumed the high carbohydrate breakfast (providing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass) compared to when they consumed a water only breakfast. This suggests that a high carbohydrate meal might be a beneficial pre-exercise strategy to augment an increased training volume at a morning resistance exercise session.

Whilst there is a wealth of literature suggesting that pre-exercise carbohydrate/energy intake enhances prolonged endurance performance, little is known about how resistance-type exercise performance is influenced by pre-exercise nutrition. Thus, this study provides novel data suggesting that resistance exercise performance can be enhanced by the consumption of a high carbohydrate pre-exercise meal. This finding contrasts the results of the only other study to investigate the isolated effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate/ energy intake on resistance exercise performance (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016). These disparate results might be explained by the nature of the resistance exercise performed, where different mechanisms are likely to limit performance. Performance in the study of Fairchild *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, the higher volume nature of the exercise used in the present study, which represents a more ecologically valid resistance training scenario, is more likely to rely on glycogen as a fuel source (Lambert *et al.*, 1991), potentially explaining the observed results.

Indeed, some evidence supports the notion that pre-resistance exercise carbohydrate intake/glycogen stores might be an important determinant of performance. Leveritt and Abernathy reported that a muscle glycogen depleting regimen (cycling exercise followed by 2 days low carbohydrate diet) produced a ~20% reduction in the number of repetitions completed in 3 sets of back squat to fatigue (Leveritt & Abernethy, 1999). Interestingly, Leveritt and Abernathy also measured performance in 5 sets of 5 repetitions of isokinetic dynamometry, observing no difference between conditions (Leveritt & Abernethy, 1999). This suggests, as mentioned above, that pre-exercise glycogen stores might play a more important role where the volume of work performed is higher. Similarly, Haff et al. (Haff et al., 2000) and Oliver et al. (Oliver et al., 2016) reported that performance during resistance exercise a few hours after a bout of glycogen depleting exercise was enhanced when carbohydrate was provided between the two exercise bouts. Although muscle glycogen was not measured in these studies, the ingestion of carbohydrate in one trial, but not the other would be expected to alter glycogen re-synthesis and glycogen content at the start of the second bout of exercise. Mitchell *et al.* manipulated muscle glycogen before a bout of resistance exercise with subjects performing cycling exercise, followed by 48 h of either high or low carbohydrate intake (Mitchell et al., 1997). In contrast to previous studies, performance in 5 sets to fatigue (~10-15 reps) of squat, leg press and leg extension was not affected by this pre-exercise regimen (Haff et al., 2000; Oliver et al., 2016). Although an explanation for the disparity in findings between studies remains elusive, the lack of a direct measure of muscle glycogen means there is uncertainty about whether muscle (or indeed liver) glycogen stores were different between conditions. On balance, at least, it would seem that starting exercise with high glycogen stores or following a high carbohydrate intake is the most prudent approach to maximise resistance

exercise performance, with the findings of the current study perhaps providing further evidence of this.

Muscle glycogen is an important fuel source during resistance-type exercise (Lambert & Flynn, 2002), with studies reporting muscle glycogen depletion by up to 40% following a single bout of resistance exercise (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Haff *et al.*, 2000; Haff *et al.*, 2003). For example, Robergs *et al.* (1991) reported that 6 sets of 6 repetitions of leg extension at 70% 1-RM caused a 38% reduction in the glycogen content of the vastus lateralis (Robergs *et al.*, 1991). It is well documented that, whilst type-II muscle fibres have greater glycogen stores compared to type I fibres (Greenhaff *et al.*, 1994), the rate of glycogenolysis during high intensity exercise is also greater (Greenhaff *et al.*, 1994; Judelson *et al.*, 2008; Vøllestad *et al.*, 1992). Resistance exercise augments a similar response, with selectively greater muscle glycogen use in type-II versus type-I muscle fibres (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Koopman *et al.*, 2006;). If, as suggested by Lambert and Flynn, the depletion of muscle glycogen is a contributing factor to the generation of fatigue during resistance exercise, then increasing pre-exercise glycogen stores might have the potential to enhance performance (Lambert & Flynn, 2002).

Consumption of a high carbohydrate meal after an overnight fast has been shown to produce a small, but potentially meaningful, increase in skeletal muscle glycogen content (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004), which may account for the enhanced performance in the BC trial. Indeed, the fact that carbohydrate intake after an overnight fast only induces a small increase in muscle glycogen, might go some way to explain the pattern of results in the present study. For both back squat and bench press, repetitions completed were greater during BC compared to BO in the first 2 sets only. It is possible that the extra repetitions performed in sets 1 and 2 utilised any additional glycogen present at the start of the exercise in the BC trial, meaning that by the time subjects performed sets 3 and 4, muscle glycogen content was similar between trials. In addition to muscle glycogen, the consumption of breakfast in BC would have substantially increase liver glycogen compared to BO (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973; Hawley & Burke, 1997) . Whilst liver glycogen appears to be an important energy store utilised during endurance exercise (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2016), its relevance to resistance-type exercise performance is unknown. However, in the absence of an exogenous carbohydrate source, liver glycogenolysis helps to maintain blood glucose concentrations. Provision of exogenous carbohydrate during resistance exercise has been shown to attenuate muscle glycogen use (Haff *et al.*, 2000) and increase performance (Lambert *et al.*, 1991; Haff *et al.*, 1999;). Therefore, it is possible that starting exercise with greater liver glycogen stores might mean a greater supply of glucose to the working muscle from blood glucose, reducing the reliance on muscle glycogen and enhancing performance capabilities.

Although blood glucose was not measured in the present study, the breakfast used in the BC trial was very similar to those used in previous published studies (Clayton *et al.*, 2016a; Clayton, *et al.*, 2016b). These previous studies report acute increases in plasma glucose and insulin concentrations, giving us confidence that the same effects were apparent in the present study. Whilst the provision of carbohydrate in the breakfast and the subsequent effects on glycogen stores is the most likely cause of the enhanced performance, other non-nutrient specific mechanisms might also be responsible for the observed effects. The breakfast in the BC trial suppressed appetite after consumption, with hunger, desire to eat and prospective food consumption all lower, and fullness higher in BC compared to BO at all time points after eating. Although speculative, it is possible that the increase in appetite in the BO trial induced some level of discomfort/ distraction that might have reduced exercise performance. Future experiments should attempt to separate the performance effects of nutrient provision from that of the appetite suppression induced by eating.

Whilst the present study demonstrates a pre-exercise meal (i.e. breakfast) enhances resistance exercise performance, the results are not without limitation. Whilst the purpose of the present study was to examine the impact of an ecologically valid breakfast on resistance exercise performance, this meant, by design, that whilst the study included a control trial (i.e. the BO trial), the results observed could be caused by subject's knowledge of whether they consumed breakfast or not. It is possible that the breakfast in the BC trial might have acted as a placebo to enhance performance. Recently, Mears *et al.* reported that a short duration cycling time trial (~20 min) was similarly enhanced compared to a water control trial by a placebo breakfast (a very low energy thickened breakfast drink) and a high carbohydrate breakfast (the same breakfast drink plus 2 g carbohydrate/ kg body mass) (Mears *et al.*, 2017). This suggests, that in some situations, breakfast might act as a placebo that can enhance performance, which is something future studies should investigate with resistance exercise performance.

3.6 Conclusion

The results of this study conclude that, for trainers, consumption of a pre-exercise breakfast meal (1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass and ~20% from total daily requirement) might enhance resistance exercise performance. This might have implications for the volume of exercise completed, and possibly the subsequent adaptive response to exercise training. Therefore, these results suggest that, at least for exercise sessions where subjects exercise to failure, it might be advisable to recommend the consumption of a high carbohydrate meal before exercise, particularly if the training session is undertaken in the

morning. Therefore, answering hypothesis 1, omission of an ecological breakfast was shown to be detrimental to resistance exercise performance in the morning. However, given the paucity of data in this area, future studies should explore optimal amounts and timings of pre-exercise meals to maximise resistance-type exercise performance.

CHAPTER 4: A PRE-EXRERCISE MEAL INCREASE RESISTANCE PERFORMANCE VIA PLACEBO EFFECT

4.1 Introduction

This study follows on from Chapter 3 that demonstrated skipping breakfast can impair resistance exercise performance compared when an ecologically valid breakfast with high portion of carbohydrate was given. However, the nocebo effect of this study, as with many previous studies investigating the effect of breakfast consumption might be confounded by the participant's knowledge of the study intervention which they were in aware when they ate or skipped breakfast. Therefore, this study was designed to isolate the metabolic and psychological effects of a breakfast by using a low-energy gelling agent to increase the viscosity (thickness) and therefore decrease sensations of hunger and increase fullness, of a low-energy placebo solution to give the appearance of energy consumption. This will allow the true effect of calorie intake in the morning (i.e. breakfast) to be determined.

4.2 Literature review

Resistance exercise is regularly performed by athletes/recreational exercisers and performance in such sessions might have important implications for training volume, and consequently gains in muscle mass/strength (Ralston, *et al.*, 2018), as well as for prevention of/recovery from injury. The pre-exercise meal, particularly its carbohydrate content, is an important component of an athlete's nutrition plan (Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014),

with current guidelines recommending 1-4 g carbohydrate/kg body mass should be consumed in the 1-4 h pre-exercise (Burke *et al.*, 2011). Previous research has demonstrated that consumption of carbohydrate in the hours before endurance exercise enhances performance (Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014), but little is known about how such nutrition strategies influence performance in resistance-type exercise. However, whether the beneficial effects of carbohydrate intake before endurance exercise extend to resistance exercise is not well understood.

Carbohydrate intake at the first meal of the day following an overnight fast (i.e. breakfast) increases both the liver (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) and muscle (Coyle et al., 1985; Chryssanthopoulos et al., 2002) glycogen. Muscle glycogen appears to be an important fuel source for resistance-type exercise, with a single exercise bout reducing muscle glycogen content by up to 40% (Haff et al., 1999; Robergs et al., 1991). Some have suggested that this muscle glycogen depletion might play a role in the development of fatigue during resistance exercise (Lambert & Flynn, 2002; Ørtenblad, Westerblad, & Nielsen, 2013). Consequently, the elevation of endogenous glycogen stores through preexercise feeding might delay fatigue and enhance performance (Coyle et al., 1986). Indeed, commencing a bout of resistance exercise with reduced glycogen stores has been shown to reduce performance by some (Jacobs *et al.*, 1981; Leveritt & Abernethy, 1999; Oliver et al., 2016), but not all (Mitchell et al., 1997) studies. Similarly, we recently reported (Mears et al., 2017; Naharudin et al., 2019) that compared to a no breakfast trial, an ecologically valid breakfast (containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass) increased performance in 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench-press 2 h later. Collectively, these studies suggest that greater endogenous glycogen stores at the start of resistance exercise might increase performance.

The results of these studies might, at least partially, be explained by the overtness of the methods used (i.e. conscious exercise/diet manipulation). Consequently, these previous studies might have been influenced by subjects' knowledge of, and preconceptions about, the intervention taking place. Indeed, we have recently demonstrated that a virtually energy-free placebo breakfast produces a similar increase in high-intensity cycling performance (~20 min) as a taste/texture matched high carbohydrate (2 g/kg body mass) breakfast, when compared to a water-only control breakfast (Mears *et al.*, 2018). This suggests that a pre-exercise meal/breakfast might act as a placebo to enhance high-intensity endurance performance, but whether these effects extend to resistance exercise (another high-intensity activity) is unknown.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the effect of a pre-exercise highcarbohydrate breakfast meal on resistance exercise performance, compared to a texture and taste-matched placebo breakfast and a water control. This was to enable the physiological/metabolic effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate/energy intake to be separated from the potential psychological effects of eating. It was hypothesized that the carbohydrate and placebo breakfast meals would increase resistance exercise performance compared to the control breakfast, with the carbohydrate breakfast meal also increasing resistance exercise performance compared the placebo breakfast meal.

4.2.1 Objectives of study

For this experiment, it is aimed to observe if performance would be affected by preceding breakfast meal thought to contain energy given to a group of gym goers who habitually consume breakfast. The objectives of this study were:

- Primary objective: to compare pre-exercise meals of water, as well as placebo and maltodextrin containing meals on performance in 4 sets of each of back squat and bench press exercise.
- Secondary objective: to compare how subjective appetite sensations, plasma glucose, insulin, total ghrelin_{total}, GLP-1_{total} and PYY_{total} were regulated following the consumption of a water-only breakfast, as well as placebo and maltodextrin containing meals.

4.3 Methodology

4.3.1 Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures

This study follows on from Chapter 3 that showed that skipping breakfast impaired resistance exercise performance compared to eating breakfast. However, the results of this study, as with many previous studies investigating the effect of breakfast might be confounded by the participant's knowledge of the study intervention (i.e. they knew when they ate or skipped breakfast). Therefore, this study used a low-energy gelling agent to increase the viscosity (thickness) of a liquid breakfast and give the appearance of energy consumption. This allowed the true effect of energy intake (specifically carbohydrate) in the morning (i.e. breakfast) to be determined. The main outcome measure of this study was to determined back-squat and bench press total repetitions following 3 type of pre-exercise meal which were placebo, carbohydrate-containing a water control.

4.3.2 Subjects

For enrolment into the study, which was approved by the Loughborough University Ethical Approvals (Human Participants) Sub-Committee, subjects had to be gym goers, habitually consuming breakfast at least three mornings a week, and who included back squat and bench press as part of their weekly training routine for at least once a week. Subjects who indicated that they were not habitual breakfast consumers or were not familiar with back squat and bench press were excluded from the study. The sample size for this study was estimated from G*Power 3.0.10 software using an α of 0.05, statistical power of 0.95 and estimated correlation between group of 0.5. It was estimated that 22 subjects would be sufficient to detect a 15% difference in performance between trials.

4.3.3 Study design

The study examined the effect of a high carbohydrate pre-exercise breakfast on resistance exercise performance, whilst controlling for any placebo effect associated with breakfast/food intake. Subjects visited the laboratory on 5 separate occasions: 10-repetition maximum (10-RM) measurement; familiarisation trial; and three experimental trials, during which subjects consumed a breakfast and ~2 h later performed an exhaustive bout of resistance exercise. The breakfasts used were a water-only control breakfast (WAT), and two viscous breakfasts containing either 0 g/kg body mass (PLA) or 1.5 g/kg body mass (CHO) of maltodextrin. Trials were arranged in a cross-over randomised counter-balanced design, separated by \geq 4 days to allow energy replenishment (Haddock *et al.*, 2006) and CHO and PLA breakfasts were administered in a double-blind manner. Subjects were told the purpose of the experiment was to test two energy-containing breakfasts of different macronutrient composition against a no-breakfast control trial. They were not aware one of the breakfast trials contained virtually no energy. Schematic timeline of this study can be observed in **Figure 4.1**.

4.3.4 Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial

After warming up (5 min cycling at 1.5 W/kg body mass) subjects completed 10repetition maximum (10-RM) testing of back squat and bench press, each of which was preceded by 5 min of self-selected exercise-specific warm-up. After some warm up sets (self-selected), subjects were asked to perform their first attempt of each exercise at a weight close to their estimated 10-RM. The load increased incrementally thereafter until they could no longer complete 10 repetitions. Subjects were given at least 3 minutes of rest between sets. The last completed set of 10 repetitions was termed subject's 10-RM and was used to determine the study exercise workload. During a separate visit, subjects were fully familiarised with all procedures used in the experimental trials.



Figure 4.1. Schematic diagram for typical subjects during trial visit.

4.3.4.1 Pre-trial standardisation

Subjects were given a diet/activity diary and were asked to record their habitual diet and activities for two days before the first experimental trial and replicated these patterns before subsequent trials. Subjects were asked to refrain from taking part in any vigorous activity or consumption of alcohol in this 48-h pre-trial period.

4.3.4.2 Experimental trials

Subjects arrived at the laboratory after an overnight fast (10-13 h) at a time typical for them to consume breakfast (i.e. approx. ~0800-0900). Baseline measurements of body mass and subjective appetite were made, and after 15 min seated rest, a venous blood sample was collected. Subjects then consumed their allotted breakfast meal within 10 min, with additional measures of subjective appetite taken immediately (i.e. 10 min), 45 min and 105 min post-meal. Further venous blood samples were drawn at 45 min and 105 min. Subjects then completed the resistance exercise session described below.

4.3.4.3 Breakfast meals

During the two breakfast trials, subjects ate a semi-solid breakfast meal from a standard bowl using a standard spoon. The volume of the meal was 5 mL/kg body mass, of which 15% (i.e. 0.75 mL/kg body mass) was low-energy orange flavoured squash (Double Strength Orange squash, Tesco, Welwyn Garden City, UK), with the remainder made up of tap water. To this mixture, either 0 g/kg body mass (PLA) or 1.5 g/kg body mass of maltodextrin (My Protein, Northwich, UK) was added and mixed thoroughly,

before 0.1 g/kg body mass of xanthan gum (My Protein, Northwich, UK) was added and the mixture blended to thicken the solution and enhance the perception of energy intake (Fiszman & Varela, 2013). PLA and CHO breakfasts were taste, texture and colour matched and were made the day before trials by an experimentor not involved in data collection. Additionally, 3 mL/kg body mass of tap water was consumed as a drink with meals. For the WAT trial, subjects consumed 8 mL/kg body mass of tap water to match the water content in PLA and CHO. The nutritional content of the breakfast meals is presented in **Table 4.1**. All meals were consumed over a 10 min period.

At the end of the last experimental trial, subjects were informed of the contents of the breakfasts and the true aim of the study, before being asked if they could identify the breakfasts. If they answered yes, they were asked to say which was which.

	WAT	PLA	СНО
Protein (g)	0 ± 0	0.8 ± 0.1	0.8 ± 0.1
Carbohydrate (g)	0 ± 0	2.4 ± 0.1	119.2 ± 12.4
Fat (g)	0 ± 0	0.6 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.1
Fibre (g)	0 ± 0	5.4 ± 0.6	5.4 ± 0.6
Energy (kJ)	0 ± 0	122 ± 13	2075 ± 216
Water (mL)	623 ± 65	623 ± 65	623 ± 65

Table 4.1. Nutritional content of breakfast meals.

Water control trial; WAT, placebo trial; PLA; carbohydrate trial; CHO. Values are present in mean \pm SD.

4.3.4.4 Resistance exercise performance

Subjects initially performed a 5 min warm-up on a cycle ergometer at 1.5 W/kg body mass, before performing back squat followed by bench press exercise. Each exercise was preceded by 5 min of individually standardised self-selected stretching and exercise-specific warm up followed by warm-up sets of 10 repetitions at 30% and 60% of 10-RM. Subjects then perform four sets to failure at 90% 10-RM. For each exercise, subjects performed standardised lifting technique, with two spotters assisting them to reach the starting position for each set. For the squat, the bar was held across the back of subject's shoulders and started with knees fully extended, lowered themselves until their thighs were parallel to the floor, before returning to the starting position. For bench press, subjects started with their elbows fully extended and lowered the bar until it lightly

touched their chest, before returning to the starting position. Every repetition was counted in silence and verbal standardised encouragement was given to the subjects throughout. All sets were separated by 3 min rest. Additional subjective appetite measures were made after the back squat and bench press exercise. Subjects consumed 0.5 mL/kg body mass of water immediately before the cycling warm up, as well as before sets 1 and 3 of back squat and bench press.

4.3.4.5 Subjective appetite sensations

Throughout experiment trials, subjects rated their subjective sensation of hunger and fullness using visual analogue scales with written anchors of "not at all" /"none at all" and "extremely"/ "a lot" placed 0 and 100 mm, respectively (Flint *et al.*, 2000).

4.3.4.6 Blood sampling and analysis

For each sample, ~10 mL blood was drawn by venepuncture from an antecubital/forearm vein after 15 min seated rest. Blood was dispensed into tubes (Sarstedt AG & Co., Nümbrecht, Germany) containing a clotting catalyst or EDTA (1.75 mg/mL), centrifuged 2300 g, 15 min, 4°C) and the resultant serum/plasma was stored at -20°C until analysis. Plasma glucose was determined using a colorimetric assay (Horiba Medical UK, Northampton, UK; CV 0.5%), whilst serum insulin (Immunodiagnostic Systems, Bolden, UK; CV 2.2-3.8%) and total concentrations of plasma ghrelin (CV = 1.7-1.8%), glucagon-like pepetide-1 (GLP-1; CV = 2.5-8.2%) and peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY; CV = 3.8-5.6%; All Merck Millipore Ltd, Watford, UK) were determined

using commercially available ELISAs. Due to issues with blood collection with 2 subjects, blood samples were only collected from 20 subjects.

4.3.5 Statistical analyses

Data were analysed using SPSS (Version 23.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). All data were checked for normality using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Data containing two factors were analysed using two-way repeated measure ANOVA. Data containing one factor were analysed using one-way repeated measures ANOVA. Where ANOVA indicated significant effects, *post-hoc* Holm-Bonferroni-adjusted paired sample *t*-test or Bonferroni-adjusted Wilcoxon Signed Rank test were used, as appropriate All statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 and data are presented as means \pm SD.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Descriptive demographic

Twenty-four men experienced with resistance exercise (age 23 ± 3 years, body mass 77.9 ± 8.1 kg, height 1.75 ± 0.05 m, BMI 25.2 ± 2.0 kg/m²) volunteered for this study. However, twenty-two subjects completed the experiment whilst one withdrew due to old injury and the other due to illness, with both of these unrelated to the study protocol. Subjects had 4.7 ± 1.5 -year resistance exercise experience, were performing 5 ± 1 resistance training sessions/week, with 2 ± 1 sessions/week of both back squat and bench press. All subjects ate breakfast 7 days a week.

4.4.2 Baseline measures and breakfasts perception

Subjects baseline body mass was comparable between trials (WAT 77.4 \pm 8.3; PLA 77.5 \pm 8.4; CHO 77.4 \pm 8.4 kg; *P* = 0.671). Additionally, hunger (*P* = 0.543), fullness (*P* = 0.961), were similar between trials. Subjects rated the meals similarly pleasant (WAT: 34 \pm 19 mm; PLA: 27 \pm 19 mm; CHO: 27 \pm 23 mm; *P* = 0.462), but rated in the PLA (73 \pm 19 mm) and CHO (79 \pm 16 mm) meals more filling than WAT (34 \pm 24 mm *P* < 0.001), with no difference between PLA and CHO (*P* = 0.176).

Thirteen subjects stated they thought they could detect a difference between PLA and CHO breakfasts, with 11 correctly identifying the trials. Of these thirteen subjects, seven and eight of them performed better in back squat and bench press, respectively, in CHO trial.

4.4.3 **Resistance exercise performance**

Total repetitions for back-squat (**Figure 4.2A**) were greater in PLA and CHO than WAT (P < 0.001), with no difference between PLA and CHO (P = 1.000). For back-squat repetitions completed over the 4 sets (**Figure 4.2B**), there were trial (P < 0.001), time (P < 0.001) and interaction (P = 0.002) effects. Repetition in set 1 (P < 0.001) and 2 (P < 0.01) were greater in CHO and PLA, compared to WAT, whilst no difference between trials in set 3 and 4 were noted. For bench-press, total repetitions were not different between trials (**Figure 4.3A**; P = 0.130). There were trial (P = 0.01) and time (P < 0.001) effects, but no interaction effect (P = 0.234) for bench press repetitions completed over the 4 sets (**Figure 4.3B**). Repetitions in set 1 were greater in CHO compared to WAT (P = 0.039), with no other differences.



Figure 4.2. (A) Back-squat repetitions in total over the four sets and (B) in each of the four sets (B) during the carbohydrate (CHO), placebo (PLA) and water (WAT) trials. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT (P < 0.05). Values are mean ± SD.



Figure 4.3. (A) Bench-press repetitions in total over the four sets and (B) in each of the four sets (B) during the carbohydrate (CHO), placebo (PLA) and water (WAT) trials. Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT (P < 0.05). Values are mean ± SD.

4.4.4 Subjective appetite sensation

There were trial (P < 0.001), time (P < 0.001) and interaction (P < 0.001) effects for sensations of hunger and fullness (**Figure 4.4**). Hunger was lower during PLA and CHO compared to WAT at all time points after breakfast ($P \le 0.002$). Conversely, fullness was greater during PLA and CHO compared to WAT at all time points after breakfast ($P \le 0.027$), with the exception of post-bench press in CHO, which tended to be greater (P = 0.055). Compared to pre-meal, hunger was reduced, and fullness was increased at 10 min, 45 min, 105 min in CHO and PLA, and post-back squat in CHO (P < 0.05). Hunger and fullness were not different between PLA and CHO ($P \ge 0.144$).



Figure 4.4. Subjective appetite ratings of hunger and fullness throughout the experimental trial. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (\blacksquare) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press) ratings were measured right after both exercise's final set. Dagger (†) denotes CHO significantly different to WAT whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different to pre-meal, (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD

4.4.5 Blood analyses

There was time (P = 0.003) and interaction (P < 0.001) effects, but no trial (P = 0.087)effect for plasma glucose concentration (Figure 4.5 A). Compared to pre-meal, plasma glucose was increased at 45 min during CHO, returning to baseline at 105 min. Plasma glucose concentration did not change during WAT or PLA and after Holm-Bonferroni correction there were no between-trial differences. For serum insulin concentration, there were time (P < 0.001), trial (P < 0.001) and interaction (P < 0.001) effects. Insulin concentration (Figure 4.5 B) was increased at 45 min and 105 min compared to pre-meal in CHO only (P < 0.001) and additionally, was greater at 45 min and 105 min in CHO compared to WAT or PLA (P < 0.001). For plasma ghrelin concentration (Figure 4.6 A), there were trial (P < 0.001) and interaction (P = 0.045) effects, but no effect of time (P = 0.206). Compared to pre-meal, plasma ghrelin was decrease at 105 min in the CHO trial only (P = 0.010) and was decreased in CHO compared to both WAT and PLA at 45 min (P < 0.003) and 105 min (P < 0.003). For plasma GLP-1 concentration (Figure 4.6 **B**), there were no trial (P = 0.940) or interaction (P < 0.391) effects, but there was a main effect of time (P < 0.001), with an increase at 45 min relative to pre-meal (P = 0.008). For plasma PYY concentration (Figure 4.6 C), there were trial (P = 0.035) and time (P= 0.002) effects, but no interaction effect (P = 0.329). After Holm-Bonferroni correction, there were no difference between trials or from pre-meal.



Figure 4.5. (A) Plasma glucose and (B) insulin measured at specified time-points before the exercise protocol was commenced. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (\blacksquare) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press). Dagger (†) denotes significantly different to WAT. Asterisk (*) denotes significantly different from pre-meal (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD



Figure 4.6. Plasma (**A**) Ghrelin_{total} (**B**) GLP-1_{total} and (**C**) PYY_{total}, measured at specified time points before the exercise protocol was commenced. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the water control (WAT), grey square (**I**) represents placebo (PLA) and black triangle (\blacktriangle) represents carbohydrate (CHO) trial. Post-BS (post-back squat) and Post-BP (post-bench press). Dagger (†) denotes CHO significantly different to WAT, whilst asterisk (*) denotes significantly different to pre-meal (P < 0.05). Values are mean ± SD.

4.5 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate the physiological and psychological effects of a pre-exercise high-carbohydrate breakfast meal on performance in a subsequent bout of resistance exercise in trained males. The main findings of the present study were that subjects completed more repetitions of back squat after consumption of a virtually energy-free placebo and high carbohydrate breakfast meal compared to the water-only control trial (PLA +14.9%; CHO +15.7%; P < 0.001), with no difference between the placebo and carbohydrate breakfast meals (P = 1.000). Smaller (PLA +3.9%; CHO +4.7%), non-significant (P = 0.130) effects were observed for bench press. These results suggest that a pre-exercise breakfast meal likely influences resistance exercise performance via a psychological, rather than physiological effect, possibly acting as a placebo to enhance subsequent performance, at least in habitual breakfast consumers.

This study is the first to demonstrate that performance in a single bout of resistance exercise was enhanced when subjects perceive they have consumed an energy-containing pre-exercise meal. This supports previous observations in high-intensity endurance cycling (Mears *et al.*, 2017) and yields novel findings to optimise pre-exercise nutritional intake for resistance exercise. Importantly, the present study demonstrates that in rested and trained males, consumption of a high carbohydrate pre-exercise breakfast meal has no additional benefit over that of a placebo when 4 sets of both back squat and bench press are performed.

Previous research has mainly focussed on the effects of a pre-exercise meal on endurance performance, generally demonstrating that a high carbohydrate pre-exercise meal enhances subsequent performance (Coyle & Coggan, 1984; Neufer *et al.*, 1987; Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014). To our knowledge, only two studies have isolated the effect of a pre-exercise meal on resistance exercise performance (Fairchild et al., 2016; Naharudin et al., 2019). Naharudin et al. observed that performance in 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench-press were both greater 2 h after a high carbohydrate ecologically valid breakfast (1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass from typical breakfast foods) compared to a water only breakfast. The increases in back-squat (~15%) and bench-press (~6%) in this previous study (Naharudin et al., 2019) were almost identical to those observed in the present study (~15% and ~4%, respectively), suggesting these previous findings might also be explained by a placebo effect associated with pre-exercise feeding. Interestingly, Fairchild et al. (Fairchild et al., 2016) reported performance in 3 repetitions of isokinetic knee extension/flexion for up to 90 min after consuming either a 75 g carbohydrate drink or a placebo drink were similar between trials. The failure of carbohydrate to enhance performance when delivered in a placebo-controlled manner in the study of Fairchild et (Fairchild et al., 2016) further supports the theory that a pre-exercise al. meal/carbohydrate intake might enhance resistance exercise performance via a placebo effect.

Muscle glycogen is an important fuel source for resistance exercise and muscle glycogen depletion, particularly of type-II muscle fibres, and has been shown to decrease maximal strength (Jacobs *et al.*, 1981). The degree of muscle glycogen depletion during resistance exercise is related to the work completed (Robergs *et al.*, 1991) and thus, if sufficient work is undertaken, muscle glycogen levels could become depleted to a level where performance capabilities are compromised (Lambert & Flynn, 2002). In the CHO trial, plasma glucose was increased at 45 min, whilst serum insulin was increased at 45 min and 105 min, with no changes in the WAT and PLA trials. These findings suggest that the glucose in the CHO meal was absorbed and available for use before/during exercise. Carbohydrate feeding after an overnight fast has been shown to increase liver

(Bawden *et al.*, 2014) and to a lesser extent muscle (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004) glycogen stores, suggesting that augmentation of these stores, at least in a well-rested subject, is not necessary to maximise resistance exercise performance. In the present study, subjects rested for 48 h before each trial, meaning that muscle glycogen stores were likely to be high pre-meal, possibly accounting for the ineffectiveness of the carbohydrate breakfast meal to enhance performance. In many athletic settings, resistance training might occur only a few hours after another training session where glycogen may have been depleted. In this situation, it seems logical that addition of carbohydrate to the meal consumed before resistance exercise is more likely to be ergogenic, as it will also assist with recovery and replacement of glycogen used in the previous exercise bout (Oliver *et al.*, 2016).

For endurance exercise lasting ~120 min at ~70% O₂max, consuming carbohydrate (> 1.1 g/kg body mass) in the 1-4 h before exercise appears to enhance exercise performance/capacity by ~9-15% (Sherman *et al.*, 1989; Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004; Sherman, Peden, & Wright, 1991). At these submaximal exercise intensities muscle and liver glycogen depletion contributes to fatigue (Coyle & Coggan, 1984; Ørtenblad *et al.*, 2013), meaning that small differences in pre-exercise glycogen levels might influence performance (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2002). In contrast, whilst muscle glycogen is used during resistance exercise, 3-6 sets of 6-12 repetitions of a single exercise only reduces muscle glycogen by 17-40% (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Macdougall *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, 4 sets of an exercise, as used in the present study, is unlikely to deplete muscle glycogen to a level that would influence performance. The number of sets of each exercise performed in the present study was chosen to reflect current guidelines for those engaged in resistance training programmes, typically 3-5 sets

per exercise (Ratamess *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the present study suggests that any small increase in pre-exercise muscle glycogen levels caused by pre-exercise carbohydrate intake is unlikely to influence performance. Whether pre-exercise carbohydrate intake enhances performance in situations were substantially more than 4 sets are performed is not known and should be investigated in future studies.

Liver glycogen has been shown to be an important fuel source in endurance exercise (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2016), but its relevance to performance in resistance exercise is unknown. Although it was not measured, consumption of ~120 g carbohydrate in the CHO would likely have increased liver glycogen (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973), whilst continued fasting in the PLA and WAT trials would likely produce a further decline in liver glycogen (Bawden *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, exercise in the PLA and CHO trials likely commenced with very different liver glycogen levels. The finding that performance was not different between these trials, suggests that differences in liver glycogen within the range of normal daily fluctuations are unlikely to influence performance in resistance exercise of this nature.

The results of the present study closely replicate the results of a previous study, where both a high carbohydrate and placebo breakfast, consumed 2 h before exercise, similarly enhanced high-intensity cycling performance (~20 min in duration) relative to a water control trial (Mears *et al.*, 2017). The present study and that of Mears *et al.* are the only studies to report the placebo effects of a pre-exercise meal, specifically breakfast (Mears *et al.*, 2017). Breakfast is considered an important meal by many (Clayton & James, 2015; Betts *et al.*, 2016), and as such it would be interesting to know whether the placebo effect of pre-exercise meals extends to other eating occasions. Regarding carbohydrate intake during exercise, a placebo effect has been observed during ~1 h cycling (Clark, *et al.*, 2000), but not during ~3 h of cycling (Hulston & Jeukendrup, 2009). Combined, these studies suggest that any placebo effect associated with energy (or carbohydrate) intake is possibly duration dependent and is more likely to affect performance during exercise of shorter duration.

In this study, xanthan gum was used to increase the viscosity of the meals in the PLA and CHO trials and enhance the perception of energy intake. Previous research has shown that increasing the viscosity of a liquid/semi-solid meal increases subsequent satiety (Marciani et al., 2000, 2001; Fiszman & Varela, 2013). Consistent with these previous findings, it is observed that reduced hunger and increased fullness following the PLA and CHO meals compared to the WAT meal. Whilst there was a small amount of energy (~122 kJ) in the PLA meal, contributed by the ~5.4 g of fibre and the orange squash, it seems unlikely this energy would cause these effects on subjective appetite, a notion that is supported by the results for gut peptides GLP-1, PYY, and ghrelin. GLP-1, and PYY which are reported to exert anorexigenic effects (Batterham et al., 2002), were not different between trials, despite greater hunger and lower fullness post-meal in WAT compared to PLA and CHO. Furthermore, ghrelin, reported to exert an orexigenic effect (Cummings & Overduin, 2007), was reduced in the CHO trial only and therefore we observed differences in ghrelin with (i.e. WAT vs. CHO) and without (i.e. PLA vs. CHO) differences in appetite, as well as no difference in ghrelin, despite a difference in appetite (i.e. WAT vs. PLA). These results suggest that, at least in response to a single meal, there can be a discordant response for the subjective and physiological regulators of appetite. Nonetheless, the differential response for ghrelin, as well as glucose and insulin, demonstrates that the CHO breakfast meal induced a physiological response. Interestingly, the differences in hunger/fullness between trials matched the differences in
performance. Whether hunger can influence performance is not known and not possible to delineate in the present study.

4.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of the present study demonstrate that performance in 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench press were similarly enhanced by both placebo and carbohydrate-containing pre-exercise breakfast meals when subjects believed these two meals contained energy. Therefore, the hypothesis 2 stated earlier is rejected because the placebo meal in present study increased back squat performance to a similar degree as the carbohydrate containing meal. This suggests that any performance effects of pre-resistance exercise energy/carbohydrate intake are caused by psychological effects, rather than any physiological/metabolic effects caused by the energy/ carbohydrate content of the meal, at least in otherwise well rested habitual breakfast consumers.

CHAPTER 5: CARBOHYDRATE CONSUMPTION OF A PRE-EXERCISE MEAL INCREASES HIGH-VOLUME EXHAUSTIVE RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

5.1 Introduction

From Chapter 3, it was found that an ecological breakfast consumption has shown to improve high-intensity resistance exercise performance compared to when it was omitted. However, in Chapter 4, blinded breakfast comparing between maltodextrin contained meal versus colour, texture and taste match placebo, were found negligible on the same mode of exercise. Apart from this placebo effects in Chapter 4, it is stipulated that the small sets number of resistance exercise bout itself might be insignificant (4 sets at 90% 10-RM) to magnify difference in performance following carbohydrate manipulation. Therefore, larger exercise sets which render greater volume might be required to see the ergogenic role of carbohydrate supplementation preceding exercise. Therefore, this chapter attempts to answer whether a greater resistance exercise volume (moderate intensity, longer time duration and larger resistance exercise sets), where multiple bout exercise on one specific isolated muscle group is able to utilise the ergogenic role of preexercise carbohydrate ingestion in the morning (i.e. breakfast).

5.2 Literature review

For many athletes/exercisers, resistance exercise is an essential part of their training programme, with performance in training sessions possibly having important implications for maximising resistance training adaptations. As such, if nutritional intake around resistance exercise can alter performance, it might also have the potential to influence the

efficacy of training and the resultant adaptive outcomes. With regard to the pre-exercise carbohydrate intake, current recommendations suggest consuming of 1-4 g carbohydrate/kg body mass in the 1-4 h before exercise (Burke *et al.*, 2011). To date, the vast majority of studies in this area have examined endurance exercise, with the balance of evidence suggesting that pre-exercise carbohydrate intake can optimise subsequent performance (Clayton *et al.*, 2015; Clayton & James, 2015; Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014). More recently, some studies have examined the influence of pre-exercise carbohydrate/energy intake on resistance exercise performance (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016; Naharudin *et al.*, 2019), with less convincing results.

Previous studies isolating the effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake on resistance exercise performance have all examined performance in relatively low-volume resistance exercise sessions. Fairchild *et al.* (2016) reported that carbohydrate (provided in a preexercise drink) did not affect performance in 3 reps of isokinetic dynamometry for up to 90 min after ingestion. In contrast, Naharudin *et al.* 2019 reported that total repetitions performed in 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench press were ~15 and ~6% less when breakfast was omitted compared to when an ecologically valid high carbohydrate breakfast was consumed (bread, jam, margarine, cereal, milk and orange juice). Interestingly, in my second study (Chapter 4) suggested that this ergogenic effect of a pre-exercise high carbohydrate meal might be caused by a placebo/nocebo effect since perception of energy intake/consuming a meal was as ergogenic as a high carbohydrate intake pre-exercise meal. Thus, there is little convincing evidence that carbohydrate intake before resistance exercise influences performance.

Pre-exercise carbohydrate intake, particularly in the morning after an overnight fast, facilitates increases in muscle (Taylor, *et al.*, 1993; Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2002) and

liver (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) glycogen, which may enhance exercise performance in situations where glycogen availability limits performance (Coyle & Coggan, 1984; Ørtenblad *et al.*, 2013; Williams & Rollo, 2015). The low-volume nature of the resistance exercise performed in these previous studies exploring the impact of pre-exercise carbohydrate/energy intake (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016; Naharudin *et al.*, 2019) means that the glycogen depletion induced was likely to be small (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Macdougall *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000) and insufficient to compromise performance. Indeed, studies examining the effect of carbohydrate intake immediately before and during a bout of resistance have reported performance is enhanced when the volume of an individual exercise is high (Haff *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2001), but not when it is low (Lambert *et al.*, 1991). Whether pre-exercise carbohydrate intake influences performance in bouts of resistance exercise where the volume of work performed is high is unknown.

Therefore, the aim of the present study was to examine the effect of carbohydrate intake at the pre-exercise meal on high volume exhaustive resistance exercise performance (slightly lower intensity but greater number of set), with carbohydrate provided in a double-blind placebo-controlled manner. It was hypothesised that carbohydrate provision in the pre-exercise meal would increase resistance exercise performance, measured as an increase in the number of repetitions and sets of exercise completed.

5.2.1 Objectives of study

For this experiment, it is aimed to observe if performance in very high-volume resistance exercise would be differently affected by placebo or carbohydrate-containing breakfast meals t. The objectives of this study were:

- Primary objective: to compare the effect of carbohydrate versus placebo breakfast meals on performance of leg extension.
- Secondary objective: to investigate how subjective appetite sensations and blood glucose concentrations would be affected by placebo and carbohydrate containing breakfast meals.

5.3 Methodology

5.3.1 Experimental approach to the problem and main outcome measures

From the experiment in Chapter 3, we found that an ecological breakfast increased high intensity resistance exercise performance compared to omitting breakfast. In Chapter 4 however, a blinded breakfast meal with very little energy content, on the contrary, was no different compared to a high carbohydrate meal. Apart from the placebo effects on performance, it is stipulated that the volume of resistance exercise itself might be too small (4 sets) to observe changes in performance due to pre-exercise carbohydrate intake. Thus, a further investigation implementing a larger exercise volume, (i.e. more set/work to be done) will allow the true effect of carbohydrate ingestion in the morning (i.e. breakfast) to be examined. The main outcome measure for this study was leg extension number of repetitions and number of sets that subjects could perform to exhaustion.

5.3.2 Subjects

To participate for this study, subjects had to be gym goers, habitually consuming breakfast at least three mornings a week, and who included leg-extension exercise as part of their weekly training regimen at least once a week. Subjects who indicated that they were not habitual breakfast consumers or were not familiar with back squat and bench press were excluded from this study. The sample size for this study was estimated from G*Power 3.0.10 software using an α of 0.05, statistical power of 0.95 and estimated correlation between group of 0.5. The estimated number of 12 subjects would be sufficient to detect a 10% difference in performance between trials. However, considering drop-out rates, 16 subjects were finally recruited.

5.3.3 Study design

All subjects completed 4 visits, consisting of 10 repetition maximum (10-RM) measurement, a familiarisation session and two experimental trials where they consumed carbohydrate (CHO) and placebo (PLA) pre-exercise breakfast meals and performed leg extension to exhaustion ~2 h later. Experimental trial visits were administered in a randomised, counter-balance double-blind manner and separated by \geq 4 days to allow energy replenishment (Haddock *et al.*, 2006). Subjects were informed the purpose of the experiment was to compare two energy-containing breakfast meals of different macronutrient composition. Thus, subjects were unaware that one of the breakfasts consumed was virtually energy-free. Schematic timeline of this study is presented in **Figure 5.1**.

5.3.3.1 Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial

During their first visit, subjects initially warmed up on a cycle ergometer (5 min at 1.5 W/kg body mass; Monark 894E, Vansbro), followed by a period of self-selected stretching. Subjects then completed incremental sets of 10 repetitions of leg extension to determine their 10-RM. After some warm up sets (self-selected), subjects first 10-RM attempt was at a load subjects predicted would be their 10-RM based on their training experience. The load of subsequent attempts was increased until the subject was unable to complete 10 full repetitions. Subjects were given at least 3 min rest between 10-RM attempts. The load of the last completed set was termed the subject's 10-RM and used to determine the load for exercise in the familiarisation and experimental trials, which was ~80% of 10-RM. The second visit was to familiarise subjects with all aspects of the study by completing a trial identical to the CHO trial.



Legends:



Figure 5.1. Schematic diagram for a typical subject during trial visit.

5.3.3.2 Pre-trial standardisation

Subjects recorded their dietary intake on the day before and their habitual physical activities in the two days before their first experimental trial, replicating these patterns in the two days before their second experimental trial. Additionally, subjects were asked not to consume alcohol or perform any strenuous physical activity in the two days before experimental trials.

5.3.3.3 Experimental trials

For experimental trials, subjects arrived in the morning after an overnight fast (10-13 h) at a time typical for them to consume breakfast (i.e. 0800-1000) and baseline measurements of post-void body mass, subjective appetite and a finger prick blood sample were collected. Subjects then consumed their allotted breakfast and rested in the laboratory for the next 110 min. Additional appetite questionnaires and finger prick blood samples were collected at 10, 30, 60 and 110 min after breakfast, as well as after every 7th set and after the final set of leg extension.

5.3.3.4 Breakfast meal

Breakfasts were semi-solid, served in a standard bowl and eaten with a standard spoon and administered in a double-blind manner. Breakfast meals were 5 mL/kg body mass in volume, consisting of 0.75 mL/kg body mass of low-energy sugar-free orange flavoured squash (Double Strength Orange squash, Tesco, Welwyn Garden City, UK) and 4.25 mL/kg body mass of tap water. To this, 0 g/kg body mass (PLA) or 1.5 g/kg body mass (CHO) of carbohydrate as maltodextrin (Myprotein, Northwich, UK) was added. A small amount (0.1 g/kg body mass) of xanthan gum (Myprotein, Northwich, UK) was added to thicken the solution and enhance the perception of energy intake (Fiszman & Varela, 2013). Both PLA and CHO breakfast's meals were taste, texture and colour matched and were made the day before trials by a researcher who was not involved in data collection component of the study. Additionally, 3 mL/kg body mass of tap water was consumed as a drink with meals. Macronutrient composition on each trail is presented in **Table 5.1**. All meals were consumed over a 10 min period. At the end of the final trial, both meal contents were revealed to subjects and they were informed of the true aim of the study. Subjects were then asked whether they could identify the breakfasts and if so, to guess which meal was which.

	Breakfast meal	
	PLA	СНО
Protein (g)	0.7 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.1
Carbohydrate (g)	2.0 ± 0.3	100.1 ± 14.6
Fat (g)	0.5 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1
Fibre (g)	4.5 ± 0.7	4.5 ± 0.7
Energy (kJ)	102 ± 15	1742 ± 255
Water (mL)	522.9 ± 76.5	522.9 ± 76.5

Table 5.1 Macronutrient, energy and water intake during each trial.

Values are presenedt in Mean \pm SD, n = 16, PLA, placebo trial; CHO carbohydrate trial.

5.3.3.5 Leg extension exercise performance

Subjects performed a 5 min cycling warm up at 1.5 W/kg body mass, followed by 5 min self-selected standardised warm-up. Subsequently, they performed as many sets of 10 repetitions of leg extension as possible at ~80% 10-RM. Once subjects could no longer complete 10 repetitions in a set they completed as many repetitions as possible for each set until they could no longer successfully complete 8 repetitions. Repetition pace was maintained using a metronome, corresponding to 20 repetitions/minute. Sets were separated by 3 min rest, during which subjects remained seated on the leg extension machine (Nautilus 2ST Leg Extension, USA). Water was provided in a volume of 0.5 mL/kg body mass pre-exercise and every 7th set.

5.3.4 Blood samples

Blood samples were drawn using the finger prick technique and were analysed using a glucose meter (Accutrend Plus, Roche, Germany). All samples were drawn and dispensed by investigators suitable trained in this procedure. Any adverse effects were dealt with using appropriate first aid or medical intervention.

5.3.5 Subjective appetite sensations

Subjects rated their subjective sensations of hunger, fullness, light-headedness, tiredness, alertness and head soreness using visual analogue scales with written anchors of "not at all" /"none at all" and "extremely"/ "a lot" placed 0 and 100 mm, respectively (Flint *et al.*, 2000).

5.3.6 Statistical analyses

Data were analysed using SPSS (Version 23.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). Normality of the data was tested using a Shapiro-Wilk test. All data containing two factors were analysed using two-way repeated measure ANOVA followed by Holm-Bonferroni adjusted *t*-tests or Holm-Bonferroni adjusted Wilcoxon sign rank tests, as appropriate. Data containing one factor were analysed using paired sample *t*-test or Wilcoxon sign rank test, as appropriate. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 and data are presented as mean \pm SD.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 **Descriptive demographic**

Sixteen experienced resistance trained men provided written consent before completing this study, which was approved by the University of Malaya Research Ethics Clearance. Subjects (age 22 ± 1 years, body mass 65.36 ± 9.56 kg, height 170.65 ± 6.31 cm, BMI 22.46 ± 3.35 kg/m²) had > 6 years' experience of regular resistance exercise and at the time of the study performed resistance exercise 4 ± 1 times/week and leg extension exercise 2 ± 1 times/week. In addition, subjects also habitually consumed breakfast ≥ 6 days/week.

5.4.2 Blood glucose concentration and leg extension performance

For blood glucose, there were time (P < 0.001) trial (P < 0.001) and interaction (P < 0.001) effects. Blood glucose was greater during CHO compared to PLA at all time points post-meal (P < 0.01), except at exhaustion (P = 0.176). Compared to pre-meal, blood

glucose was increased during CHO at all time points post-meal (P < 0.01), but only after the 7th set of resistance exercise during PLA (P = 0.047). Glucose response is presented in **Figure 5.2**

The total number of repetitions to exhaustion were 8% greater during CHO compared to PLA (CHO 178 ± 33 repetitions; PLA 164 ± 36 repetitions; P = 0.046). The number of sets of 10 repetitions completed was greater during CHO compared to PLA (CHO 13.6 ± 3.6 sets; PLA 11.0 ± 4.8 sets; P = 0.017), but the total number of sets performed did not quite reach statistical significance between trials (CHO 18.8 ± 3.4 sets; PLA 17.5 ± 3.5 sets; P = 0.090). Leg extension performance of number of reps and sets for both trial visit is presented in and **Figure 5.3 A** and **5.3 B** respectively.



Figure 5.2 Comparison of glucose response between trials. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the placebo (PLA) and black square (\blacksquare) represents maltodextrin (CHO) containing meal. Mid-exercise bout appetite sensations were measured at 7th set. Dagger (†) indicates significantly different between PLA and CHO, whilst asterisk (*) indicates significant difference compare to pre-meal (P < 0.05).



Figure 5.3 Leg extension (**A**) total repetition and (**B**) total sets during placebo (PLA) and maltodextrin (CHO) meals. Bars are mean values, vertical error bars represent SD. Dagger (†) indicates significantly different between PLA and CHO (P < 0.05).

5.4.3 Subjective appetite sensation

There was only time effect (P < 0.001) with no interaction and trial effect noted, consistently for all subjective appetite responses. It is observed that both CHO and PLA within trial subjective appetite sensations behaving similarly. Compared to the baseline (pre-meal), both trial's sensation of hunger was decreased from 10 to 60 min, but becoming insignificant at 110 min. During exercise, both trial's sensation of hunger was elevated at mid-exercise (7th bout) compared to the baseline and continue to increase until post-exercise. Sensations of fullness, were increased compared to pre-meal from 10 to 60 min in both trials (P < 0.05). Whilst during exercise, only CHO trial shows significant elevation at mid-exercise (7th) bout, but at post-exercise bout, both trials demonstrated insignificant compared to the baseline. Subjective appetite sensation for both trials are presented in **Figure 5.4**.

5.4.4 Breakfast perception

Subjects rated the meals were similarly pleasant (PLA: 34 ± 24 mm; CHO: 37 ± 28 mm; P = 0.391) and equally filling (PLA: 82 ± 14 mm; CHO: 81 ± 10 mm; P = 0.831). Out of sixteen subjects, eight subjects claimed they thought they could detect a difference between PLA and CHO breakfast meals, with 5 of those correctly identifying the trials.



Figure 5.4 Subjective appetite sensations of (**A**) hunger and (**B**) fullness for placebo (PLA) and maltodextrin (CHO) containing meal. White circle (\bigcirc) represents the PLA and black square (\blacksquare) represents CHO. Values are presented in Mean ± SD, n = 16. Mid-exercise bout appetite sensations were measured at 7th set. Asterisk (†) indicates significantly different between trials (P < 0.05).

5.5 Discussion

The main findings of this experiment were that total leg extension repetitions and the number of sets of 10 repetitions completed were greater ~2 h after consuming a meal containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass, compared to a virtually energy-free placebo meal. Given the scarcity of data exploring the effects of pre-exercise energy/carbohydrate intake for resistance exercise performance, these data yield novel and potentially important insight into how to best prepare for exercise of this nature. Pre-exercise carbohydrate intake has consistently been shown to enhance endurance performance in the hours following (Ormsbee et al., 2014; Clayton & James, 2015). Additionally, most (Jacobs et al., 1981; Leveritt & Abernethy, 1999; Oliver et al., 2016), but not all (Mitchell et al., 1997) previous studies have reported that starting exercise glycogen depleted impairs resistance exercise performance. However, this study is the first study to demonstrate that pre-exercise carbohydrate intake can enhance performance in resistance exercise. Whilst these effects are likely dependent on the volume of the resistance exercise session performed (Slater & Phillips, 2011), when maximising performance in resistance exercise is desirable (perhaps during critical rehabilitation exercise/key training sessions), commencing the exercise after a high carbohydrate meal might be the prudent approach to optimise performance. It is worth noting that this should be easily achievable by timing resistance exercise training appropriately around normal daily eating patterns.

Interestingly, these results contrast with those of recent studies that have isolated the effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake on resistance exercise performance in a blinded manner (Fairchild *et al.*, 2016). These divergent results are likely explained by differences between studies in the resistance exercise bouts used to test performance. Fairchild *et al.*

(2016) had subjects perform 3 repetitions of isokinetic knee extension periodically between 5-90 min after ingesting a 300 mL drink containing either 0 g or 75 g glucose, observing no differences in strength performance or electromyography (EMG) between conditions, despite large difference in blood glucose over that time period. Similarly, in Chapter 4, it was observed no difference in performance (total repetitions) during 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench-press performed ~2 h after consuming semi-solid meals with either 0 g or 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass added. In contrast, in the present study, leg extension exercise continued until exhaustion and resulted in subjects performing ~18 sets, a substantially greater volume of exercise compared to these previous studies. Consistent with this, previous studies examining the effect of carbohydrate intake during resistance exercise have observed performance is enhanced (Haff et al., 1999; Haff et al., 2001) or tends to be enhanced (Lambert et al., 1991) when carbohydrate is ingested during a prolonged exhaustive exercise bout utilising the same exercise. In a similar manner to pre-exercise carbohydrate intake, when lower-volume resistance exercise is performed carbohydrate intake during exercise does not appear to influence performance (Haff et al., 2000; Kulik et al., 2008).

Whilst the present results demonstrate that carbohydrate intake at a pre-exercise meal enhances subsequent exhaustive resistance exercise performance, it cannot elucidate the mechanisms responsible. The most likely candidate to explain the difference in performance between trials is the differential effects of the pre-exercise meals on endogenous glycogen stores. Muscle glycogen is an important fuel source during resistance exercise, with a single exercise session decreasing stores by up to 40% (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Macdougall *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000). The level of muscle glycogen depletion observed appears to be a function of the amount of

work performed (Robergs *et al.*, 1991), meaning alterations in pre-exercise endogenous glycogen stores are more likely to influence prolonged resistance exercise sessions utilising the same muscle groups. Since the pre-exercise meal in the present study was consumed after an overnight fast, the ~100 g carbohydrate provided in the CHO trial (compared to the ~2 g in the PLA trial) would likely have increased liver (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) and to a lesser extent muscle (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004) glycogen.

Chryssanthopoulos *et al.* (2004) reported that a breakfast of 2.5 g/kg body mass increased muscle glycogen by ~11% 3 h later and in a separate study (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2002) that the same breakfast increases endurance running capacity by ~9%. Interestingly, although the carbohydrate content of the breakfast was slightly smaller in the present study, performance was increased by a relatively similar amount (~8%). Although muscle glycogen was not measured in the present study, the prolonged nature of the resistance exercise in the present study likely meant that muscle glycogen depletion was substantial and may have contributed to fatigue (Lambert *et al.*, 1991). Thus, any small difference in starting muscle glycogen between trials could have influenced performance and the possibly greater starting muscle glycogen in the CHO trial might therefore have increased performance in this trial.

Whilst the role of muscle glycogen in fatigue is well established, at least for endurance exercise (Coyle & Coggan, 1984; Ørtenblad, Westerblad, & Nielsen, 2013), the effect of liver glycogen is less well understood (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2016). Trials in the present study commenced in the morning after an overnight fast when liver glycogen would be low. Again, whilst liver glycogen stores were not measured, the pre-exercise meal in the CHO trial would likely have facilitated a substantial increase in liver glycogen (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973), which would not have occurred in the PLA trial, producing large

differences in liver glycogen content pre-exercise. This may provide another mechanism explaining how performance was enhanced in the CHO trial. Provision of an exogenous carbohydrate source during a standardised bout of resistance exercise, attenuates muscle glycogen depletion (Haff *et al.*, 2000) and enhances performance (Lambert *et al.*, 1991; Haff *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2001). Without exogenous carbohydrate supply during exercise, liver glycogenolysis will maintain blood glucose concentrations and, particularly given the 3 min rest between sets, liver glycogenolysis could provide an additional source of carbohydrate for the working muscle, attenuating muscle glycogen depletion and delaying fatigue. Although in the absence of mechanistic data, this hypothesis remains speculative at this time.

Whilst this study is the first to robustly demonstrate that pre-exercise carbohydrate intake can enhance performance in resistance-type exercise, it is not without limitations. The exercise bout utilised is not particularly ecologically valid, as in most resistance training scenarios, current guidelines recommend completing 3-5 sets of an exercise (Ratamess *et al.*, 2009), with exercisers typically performing a number of exercises utilising different muscle groups. Indeed, in this scenario it is unlikely that glycogen depletion will be sufficient to impair performance in any one exercise. However, in some training scenarios (e.g. pyramid sets, body mass conditioning exercises, circuit training, certain rehabilitation situations etc.), the training volume of a specific exercise might be sufficient that glycogen availability could limit performance. Therefore, whether or not carbohydrate intake at a pre-exercise meal is a priority is likely to be dictated by the nature of the exercise session planned.

5.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, prolonged multiple-bout leg extension exercise at a moderately-intense load can be improved by pre-exercise carbohydrate intake. Therefore, findings from this experiment accept hypothesis 3 where the ingestion of a high-carbohydrate meal following an overnight fast would enhance exhaustive multiple-bout resistance exercise beyond that of a placebo. In addition, this finding also adds to the knowledge that prolonged exercise by any means, are dependable on the availability of fuel. For a given muscle group, ingesting a considerable amount of carbohydrate may allow sustained performance at a given exercise intensity. As for this study, subjects were able to perform a higher number of repetitions. Practically, this could also extend to any intermittent type of exercise work-out or sports in the morning, although caution should be taken when trying to extend these finding to other types of exercise.

CHAPTER 6: INCREASE IN SENSATION OF FULLNESS FROM A SEMI-SOLID MEAL IMPROVES RESISTANCE EXERCISE PERFORMANCE

6.1 Introduction

In Chapter 3, it was demonstrated that consumption of an ecologically valid preexercise breakfast meal increased resistance exercise performance, whilst in Chapter 4 it was demonstrated that this effect was possibly caused by a placebo effect associated with breakfast consumption or a nocebo effect associated with breakfast omission. However, in the experiments in both these chapters, all the 'breakfasts' also suppressed appetite (i.e. decreased hunger and increased fullness) compared to the no breakfast trials. This raises the question of whether it is the perception of eating a meal (i.e. breakfast) or the effect of the meal on sensations of hunger and fullness that influences performance. This chapter attempts to answer this question by manipulating the viscosity of two carbohydratecontaining breakfasts to hopefully effect changes in appetite, with similar carbohydrate provision.

6.2 Literature review

Whilst the ergogenic effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake have been well documented for endurance (Clayton *et al.*, 2015; Ormsbee *et al.*, 2014) and intermittent (Lambert *et al.*, 1991) exercise, the effect on resistance-type exercise is less well understood, although some recent work is emerging (Fairchild *et al.* 2016; Chapter 3-5 of this thesis). For endurance and intermittent exercise, it is generally thought that the erogenicity of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake is derived from its effects on endogenous

glucose stores (Coyle *et al.*, 1986; Taylor *et al.*, 1996). After an overnight fast, liver glycogen stores are depleted and ingestion of carbohydrate increases liver glycogen (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) and to a lesser extent muscle glycogen (Taylor *et al.*, 1993; Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004).

During prolonged endurance exercise, where glycogen availability likely plays a role in fatigue development (Coyle *et al.*, 1986; Duhamel, Perco & Green, 2006; Ørtednblad *et al.*, 2011; Knuiman *et al.*, 2015), there is a clear metabolic basis to explain the effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake (i.e. increased endogenous glycogen stores). However, during resistance exercise, particularly ecologically valid resistance exercise, it seems unlikely that pre-exercise carbohydrate would act to influence performance via these mechanisms. Current recommendations for resistance exercise training suggest performing 3-5 sets of an exercise, with the number of repetitions (and load) varying depending on training goals (Ratamess *et al.* 2009). Whilst muscle glycogen is utilised during resistance exercise (Roberg *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; Haff *et al.*, 2000), whether the degree of muscle glycogen depletion elicited by exercise of this volume (17-40%) is sufficient to influence performance is unknown.

The previous two chapters suggest that whether provision of carbohydrate ~2 h before resistance exercise influences performance depends on the volume of resistance exercise performed (Chapter 4 and 5). When 4 sets of an exercise were performed, carbohydrate in a pre-exercise meal did not influence performance, but both placebo and carbohydrate meals increased performance compared to a water only control meal (Chapter 4), replicating previous work in high-intensity endurance exercise (Mears *et al.*, 2018). It was speculated these findings were explained by a placebo effect (Mears *et al.*, 2018; Chapter 4), but equally they could be due to other non-nutrient specific effects. One such factor is

the influence of the pre-exercise meal on subjective appetite sensations since the placebo and carbohydrate meals both equally suppressed appetite, meaning the subjects reported greater hunger and reduced fullness in the water-only control trial. Consistent with this, in Chapter 3, the ecologically valid breakfast meal facilitated similar increases in performance and suppression of appetite to those observed in Chapter 4 (~15%).

Although no research has examined the influence of hunger/appetite on exercise performance, there is evidence to suggest that other sensations might influence human exercise performance, including thirst (Goulet 2011), heat (Sawka, 1990) and pain (Mauger 2014). Some have suggested that any factor that influences motivation might influence (endurance) performance (Marcora *et al.* 2009) and as such perceptions of hunger might influence motivation and consequently performance. Therefore, it is possible the results of previous studies reporting a placebo effect of a pre-exercise meal on performance (Mears *et al.*, 2018; Chapter 4) might be, at least partially, explained by the effects of the meal on subjective sensations of appetite (i.e. hunger). Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the effect of hunger on resistance exercise performance, by providing pre-exercise carbohydrate-containing meals of different viscosity which should elicit differences in subjective hunger (Apolzan *et al.*, 2007; Berry *et al.*, 2003; Pfeiffer *et al.*, 2010; Tieken *et al.*, 2007; Martens *et al.*, 2012; Chapter 4). It was hypothesised that sensations of hunger would decrease resistance exercise performance.

6.2.1 Objectives of study

For this experiment, it was aimed to observe how different pre-exercise meal viscosity thought to provide similar outcome, would affect appetite sensation and resistance exercise performance. The objectives of this study were:

- Primary objective: to investigate whether the semi-solid pre-exercise meal would decrease sensations of hunger compared to a liquid pre-exercise meal and consequently increase performance in back squat and bench press exercise.
- Secondary objective: to investigate how subjective appetite sensations, plasma glucose, insulin, ghrelin_{total}, PYY_{total}, would be regulated following the consumption of semi-solid and liquid meal, both with comparable energy content.

6.3 Methodology

6.3.1 Experimental approach and main outcome measures

In Chapter 4, it is found that consuming a semi-solid meal, regardless of the content, was shown to improve performance in back squat, likely via placebo effect. However, it is possible that this increased performance could be due to the concomitant changes in appetite sensations (i.e. decreased hunger and/or increased fullness) caused by the high viscosity meal provided. Thus, a study where sensations of hunger and fullness are manipulated is crucial to answer whether these sensations arising from a meal could influence performance outcomes. Therefore, by giving two isocaloric meals either with (semi-solid) or without (liquid) xanthan gum (liquid) might allow manipulation of appetite whilst largely controlling other nutritional factors. This might then allow examination of whether appetite influences resistance exercise performance and answer

this gap of knowledge. The main outcome measures of this study were back squat and bench press number of repetitions following consumption of these meals.

6.3.2 Subjects

To participate in this study, subjects had to be non-smokers, habitually consuming solid/semi-solid breakfast at least four mornings a week and habitually perform resistance exercise training, including at least one session a week of back squat and bench press exercise. Subjects who indicated that they were not habitual breakfast consumers or were not familiar with back squat and bench press were excluded from this study. Suggested number of sample size for this study was computed using G*Power 3.0.10 software using an α of 0.05, statistical power of 0.95 with 2 number of groups. Based on experiment in Chapter 3, it was estimated that 16 subjects would be sufficient to detect a 15% difference between trials.

6.3.3 Study design

This study was primarily designed to examine the effect of hunger on resistance exercise performance, by manipulating the viscosity of a carbohydrate-containing (1.5 g/kg body mass) pre-exercise meal, using a low-energy thickener to decrease hunger (Chapter 4). Secondary aims were to examine the effect of viscosity/fibre intake on appetite regulation measured using subjective appetite and selected gut peptides. Subjects visited the laboratory on 4 separate occasions for: 10 repetition maximum (10-RM) measurement; a familiarisation trial; and two experimental trials (Figure 6.1). During each experimental trial, subjects consumed the allotted pre-exercise meal containing 1.5 g carbohydrate/kg body mass (maltodextrin; My Protein, Northwich, UK) ~2 h before performing 4 sets each of back squat and bench press, with each set performed to failure. The pre-exercise meals were either high viscosity semi-solid (SEM) or low viscosity liquid (LIQ) meals containing 1.5 g/kg body mass as maltodextrin. Trials were assigned in a cross-over randomised, counter-balanced order from coin toss between SEM and LIQ and subsequent counter-balancing, and were separated by \geq 4 days to allow energy replenishment (Haddock *et al.*, 2006). Schematic diagram for this study can be observed in **Figure 6.1**.



6.3.3.1 Preliminary visit and familiarisation trial

During the first visit, subjects performed a 5 min cycling warm-up at 1.5 W/kg body mass. Subsequently, subjects completed 5 min of self-selected exercise-specific warm-up prior to 10-RM testing for back squat and bench press. After self-selected and standardised warm-up sets, subjects performed their first attempt of each exercise at a weight close to their estimated 10-RM. The load increased until subjects could no longer complete 10 repetitions, with attempt separated by 3 min. The weight of the final completed set of 10 repetitions was termed the subject's 10-RM and was used to determine the load used in subsequent testing sessions (nominally 90% of 10-RM). On a separate visit, subjects were fully familiarised with all procedures that would be expected later in the experimental trials. During this familiarisation, subjects were free to consume their daily habitual breakfast before commencing exercise.

6.3.3.2 Pre-trial standardisation

During the familiarisation visit, subjects were given a diet/activity diary and were asked to record their habitual diet and activities for two days before their first experimental trial. Subjects were then asked to replicate these patterns before the second experimental trial. Subjects were also asked not to undertake any strenuous activity or consume alcohol in this 48 h pre-trial period

6.3.3.3 Experimental trials

During experiment trials, subjects arrived at the laboratory in the morning (~0800-0900) in a fasted state (10-13 h from their last meal). Baseline measurements of body mass, subjective appetite and blood glucose via finger prick, were collected, then, after 15 min seated rest, a venous blood glucose sample was collected. Subjects then consumed their allotted meal (SEM or LIQ) within 10 min. Additional measures of subjective appetite were taken immediately (10 min), 45 min, 60 min and 105 min post-meal initiation. Additional finger prick blood samples were collected at 15, 30, 45, 60 and 105 min post-meal, as well as after back squat and bench press, whilst additional venous blood samples were drawn at 45 and 105 min post-meal. After the final blood sample was completed, subjects begin the resistance exercise described below.

6.3.3.4 Carbohydrate meals

Both carbohydrate meals were 5 mL/kg body mass, of which 15% (i.e. 0.75 mL/kg body mass) was low-energy orange flavoured squash (Double Strength Orange squash, Tesco, Welwyn Garden City, UK), with the remainder made up with tap water. After the squash and water were mixed together, 1.5 g/kg body mass of maltodextrin was added to the solution (Myprotein, Northwich, UK) and mixed thoroughly. During SEM, 0.1 g/kg body mass of xanthan gum (MyProtein, Northwich, UK) was added and the mixture blended to thicken the solution. For this trial visit, subjects ate the semi-solid meal with a standard spoon from a standard bowl. In LIQ, no thickener was added Subjects were also provided 3 mL/kg body mass water to drink with meals. The nutritional content of the meals is presented in **Table 6.1**.

Subjects were not told the aim or hypothesis of the study. They were informed that the purpose was to test two pre-exercise meals of similar content. Clearly the difference in viscosity of the meals would have been apparent to the subjects, but in an attempt to control expectancy effects, subjects were provided 3 capsules containing ~0.3 g maltodextrin in both trials and were told the ingredients used to thicken the meal in SEM were contained in the capsule in the LIQ trial, so both meals contained identical ingredients.

Breakfast meal SEM LIQ Energy (kJ) 1897 ± 249 1837 ± 241 0.8 ± 0.1 0.5 ± 0.1 Protein (g) Carbohydrate (g) 109.0 ± 14.3 107.9 ± 14.2 Fat (g) 0.5 ± 0.1 0.5 ± 0.1 Fibre (g) 4.9 ± 0.7 0.5 ± 0.1 Total water intake (ml) 573.8 ± 73.2 572.5 ± 73.2

 Table 6.1 Nutritional content of pre-exercise meals.

Semi-solid meal trial; SEM, and liquid meal trial; LIQ. Values are presented as mean \pm SD, n = 16.

6.3.3.5 Resistance exercise performance

For the resistance exercise test, all subjects initially performed a 5 min warm-up on a cycle ergometer at 1.5 W/kg body mass. Back-squat, followed by bench press testing were then completed, each of which was preceded by 5 min of self-selected stretching and exercise-specific warm up and strength-based warm-up sets of 10 repetitions at 30% 118

and 60% of 10-RM. Each exercise test required subjects to perform four sets to failure at 90% of 10-RM with 3 min rest in between sets. A standardised lifting technique was used throughout. For back squat, the bar was positioned across the back of subject's shoulders and they started with their knees in a fully extended position. They lowered themselves until their thighs were parallel with the floor, before returning to the starting position. For bench press, subjects started with their elbows fully extended and lowered the bar until it lightly touched their chest, before returning to the starting position. Every repetition was counted by a researcher in silence. Standardised verbal encouragement was also given to the subjects throughout testing. Subjective appetite was additionally measured after the back squat and bench press exercise. Subjects consumed 0.5 mL/kg body mass of water immediately before the cycling warm up, as well as before sets 1 and 3 of back squat and bench press.

6.3.3.6 Subjective appetite sensation

Subjective appetite sensations of hunger and fullness were acquired using visual analogue scales with written anchors of "not at all" and "extremely" placed 0 and 100 mm, respectively (Flint *et al.*, 2000). Additional questions about meal pleasantness and filling using similar visual analogue scales were also measured immediately post-meal (i.e. 10 min).

6.3.4 Blood sampling and analysis

For each venous sample, 7 mL blood was drawn by venepuncture from an antecubital/cephalic vein after 15 min of seated rest. Samples were then transferred into

a tube (Sarstedt AG & Co., Nümbrecht, Germany) containing EDTA (1.6 mg/mL), centrifuged (2400 g, 15 min, 4°C) and the resultant plasma was stored at -20°C until analysis. Plasma insulin, ghrelin and peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) concentrations (All Merck Millipore Ltd, Watford, UK) were determined using commercially available ELISAs kit. Blood glucose concentration was measured on the day of each trial using Accutrend Pluss (Roche Diagnostic, USA) from the finger prick blood sample.

6.3.5 Statistical analyses

Data for this study were analysed using SPSS software (Version 23.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) and reported as mean and standard deviation (M \pm SD). Normality of data was checked using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Data containing 2 factors were analysed using 2-way repeated measure ANOVA, with significant effects followed by Holm-Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test or Holm-Bonferroni-adjusted Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, as appropriate. Data containing one factor were analysed using paired *t*-test. Statistical significance was set at *P* < 0.05.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Descriptive demographic

Sixteen men (age 27 ± 3 years, body mass 71.56 ± 9.15 kg, height 1.73 ± 0.05 m, BMI 23 ± 4 kg/m2) provided written consent before completing this study, which was approved by the University of Malaya Research Ethics Clearance. Subjects ate breakfast 6 ± 1 mornings/week, had 5 ± 1 y resistance exercise experience, and at the time of the

study were undertaking 4 ± 1 resistance training sessions/week, with 2 ± 1 sessions/week of both back squat and bench press.

6.4.2 Baseline measurement and meals perception between trials

Baseline body mass was not different between trials (SEM = 71.1 ± 8.8 kg; LIQ = 71.4 ± 8.6 kg; P = 0.307). Similarly, hunger (P = 0.428) and fullness (P = 0.102) were not different between trials. For meal perceptions, subjects rated SEM as less pleasant (SEM = 35 ± 22 mm; LIQ = 70 ± 11 mm; P < 0.001) and tended to rate SEM as more filling (SEM = 78 ± 13 mm; LIQ = 69 ± 22 mm; P = 0.092).

6.4.3 **Resistance exercise performance**

Total repetitions completed for back squat (**Figure 6.2 A**) were ~10% greater in SEM compared to LIQ (SEM 57 ± 9; LIQ 51 ± 7 reps; P = 0.001). For back squat repetitions completed over the 4 sets (**Figure 6.2 B**), there was no interaction effect (P = 0.549), but there were effects of trial (P < 0.02) and time (P < 0.001). Repetitions in all sets were greater in SEM compared to LIQ ($P \le 0.041$). For bench press (**Figure 6.3 A**), total repetitions were not different between SEM and LIQ (SEM 48 ± 11; LIQ 48 ± 10 reps; P = 0.621). Over the 4 working sets (**Figure 6.3 B**), there were no interaction (P = 0.694) or trial (P = 0.621) effect, but there was a time effect (P < 0.001).



Figure 6.2. (A) Total number of repetitions for back-squat and (B) individual set repetitions for back-squat. Semi-solid (SEM) and (LIQ) meal trials. Dagger (†) denotes significant difference between trials (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD.



Figure 6.3. (A) Total number of repetitions for bench-press and (B) individual set repetitions for bench-press. Semi-solid (SEM) and (LIQ) meal trials. Values are mean \pm SD
6.5.3 Subjective appetite sensation

For subjective appetite sensations of hunger and fullness there were trial (P < 0.001), time (P < 0.001) and interaction ($P \le 0.01$) effects. Sensations of hunger were lower during SEM compared to LIQ at 105 min, as well as after back squat and bench press ($P \le 0.027$) and tended to be lower at 10 min (P = 0.051) and 45 min (P = 0.088). Conversely, sensations of fullness were greater during SEM compared to LIQ at 10 min and 105 min, as well as after back squat and bench press ($P \le 0.047$; **Figure 6.4**).



Figure 6.4. Subjective appetite ratings of (**A**) hunger and (**B**) fullness throughout the experimental trials. Black circle (\bullet) represents the semi-solid (SEM), and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid (LIQ) trial. Post-BS (post-back-squat) and Post-BP (post-bench-press) ratings were measured right after both exercise's final set. Dagger (†) denote SEM significantly different to LIQ, whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different from pre-meal (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD

6.4.4 Blood analyses

There were time (P < 0.001) and interaction (P = 0.003) effects, but no trial effect (P = 0.067) for blood glucose (**Figure 6.5 B**). Blood glucose concentration was greater during LIQ compared to SEM at 30 min (P = 0.005). Compared to pre-meal, blood glucose concentration was increased 15 min until after back squat in both SEM and LIQ ($P \le 0.007$).

For plasma insulin concentration (**Figure 6.5 A**), there were interaction (P = 0.002), trial (P < 0.001) and time (P < 0.001) effects. Plasma insulin was greater during LIQ compared to SEM at 45 min (P < 0.001) and 105 min (P = 0.015). Compared to pre-meal, plasma insulin increased at 45 and 105 min during both SEM and LIQ (P < 0.001). For plasma total ghrelin concentration, (**Figure 6.6 A**), there were no interaction (P = 0.494) or trial (P = 0.210) effects, but there was an effect of time (P = 0.001), with lower concentrations at 45 min and 105 min (P < 0.024). For plasma total PYY concentration (**Figure 6.6 B**), there were no interaction (P = 0.451) or trial (P = 0.281) effects, but there was a time effect (P < 0.001), with PYY concentrations increased at 45 min compared to pre-meal (P = 0.004).



Figure 6.5 (A) Plasma insulin and (B) blood glucose response measured at specified time points. Black circle (\bullet) represents semi-solid (SEM) and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid meal trial (LIQ). Dagger (†) indicates significantly different between SEM and LIQ at particular time point, whilst asterisk (*) denote significantly different from premeal (P < 0.05). (P < 0.05).



Figure 6.6. Plasma (**A**) Ghrelin_{total} and (**B**) PYY_{total}, measured at specified time points before exercise protocol was commenced. Black circle (\bullet) represents the semi-solid (SEM) and grey square (\blacksquare) represents liquid meal (LIQ). Post-BS (post-back-squat) and Post-BP (post-bench-press). Asterisk (*) denote significantly different from pre-meal (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD.

6.5 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of hunger on performance (number of repetitions) in a bout of resistance exercise involving 4 sets of back-squat and 4 sets of bench-press. In an attempt to alter hunger, the viscosity of the pre-exercise meal was manipulated using the xanthan gum (low-energy thickener) to produce a semi-solid meal in one trial and compared with a liquid meal in the other trial. The main findings were two-fold. Firstly, the inclusion of the xanthan was successful in producing the desired effects on appetite, with hunger reduced and fullness increased during SEM compared to LIQ. Secondly, and in line with the hypothesis, subjects completed ~10% more repetitions of back squat exercise during SEM compared to during LIQ (SEM = 57 \pm 7 repetitions; LIQ = 51 \pm 8 repetitions; *P* = 0.001). Interestingly, there was no difference between trials for the number of repetitions performed during the bench press exercise (SEM 48 \pm 11; LIQ 48 \pm 10 reps; *P* = 0.621). Therefore, these results suggest, for the first time, that hunger might play a role in how a pre-exercise meal influences performance.

Whilst what accounts for this difference in performance is not known, it is hypothesised that it is the difference in hunger/appetite that accounts for the observed effects. To the best our knowledge, this study is the first to demonstrate that resistance exercise performance, or any aspect of human performance for that matter, may be altered by an individual's perceived hunger. Whilst it cannot be discounted that the small difference in fibre intake between the trials might have influenced performance either directly or indirectly, it seems unlikely. Sensations of hunger arise for various reasons and from numerous sites along the gastrointestinal tract, including signals of endocrine (i.e. hormones secreted by the gastrointestinal tract) and neuronal (i.e. via the vagus nerve) origin. Ultimately, these signals manifest in central responses that effect behaviour (i.e. promote food seeking behaviour/energy intake).

In several different exercise settings, a variety of perceptions have been shown to influence performance. For example, some researchers have suggested that the sensation of thirst explains, at least some of, the decrement in exercise performance reported with dehydration (Sawka & Noakes 2007; Goulet 2011). Indeed, in dehydrated cyclists, the swallowing of a very small amount of water (25 mL water every 5 min during an exercise test lasting ~20 min) increased endurance capacity compared to rinsing the mouth with the same volume of water (Arnoutis et al. 2012). This suggests that the swallowing of water/fluid and the consequent activation of oropharyngeal receptors in the throat/stomach might play a role in exercise performance capabilities. The present study suggests that perhaps the act of swallowing/processing a more viscous semi-solid food might act in a similar way to influence performance. Given that the sensation of hunger is distracting, this might consequently mean that an exerciser/athlete is not entirely focussed on the exercise task at hand and thus their performance is lessened. Additionally, a sudden change in someone's habitual diet regimen from a solid meal to liquid, might also contribute sensations appetite, although both meals could be isocaloric. Indeed, hunger might also exert a psychological effect on the exerciser to influence performance. Given that current nutrition recommendations for pre-exercise nutrition suggest exercisers should consume a (high carbohydrate) meal in the pre-exercise period (Burke et al. 2011), the sensation of hunger might suggest to the exerciser that they are not appropriately fuelled and thereby cause performance to be impaired via a potential nocebo effect.

The findings of this study therefore suggest that the results of the studies presented in Chapter 3 and 4 might, at least partially, be explained by the effects of the pre-exercise meals provided on subjective appetite. This suggests, for the first time (to our knowledge), that hunger/appetite might mediate some of the effects of pre-exercise nutrition on subsequent performance. Clearly, this is a speculative hypothesis at this time and future studies should seek to confirm these effects, but if these findings are confirmed they provides an alternative mechanism by which nutritional intake might module performance. Interestingly, the results here well reflect those observed in Chapter 4, as effects were apparent for back-squat, but not bench press. Exactly what accounts for this is unknown, but it is interesting to note that the effects on appetite persisted through to the bench press, meaning that the appetitive effects of the pre-exercise meal might be limited to lower-body exercise or that other effects might be playing a role.

Most studies have demonstrated that a solid meal, elicits a stronger satiety response compared to a liquid meal (Apolzan *et al.*, 2007; Berry *et al.*, 2003; Pfeiffer *et al.*, 2010; Tieken *et al.*, 2007; Martens *et al.* 2012), although some report no difference (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000). This is consistent with the current study, where the semi-solid meal increased fullness and decreased hunger to a greater extent than the liquid meal. Although fibre was also present in the semi-solid meal, the amount was only small (~4.9 g). A previous study (Flood-Obaggy & Rolls 2009) demonstrated that fibre intake is unlikely to influence sensations of appetite (i.e. hunger and fullness) or indeed subsequent energy intake. In this study, apple juice with (4.8 g fibre) and without fibre elicited similar hunger and fullness responses. However, when solid apple (containing the same amount of fibre) was consumed, appetite and subsequent energy intake were suppressed. This suggests that the state of the meal (i.e. solid vs. liquid) has a stronger effect on appetite than the fibre content. This suggests that factors other than

131

the fibre content likely explain the effects of the meals in the present study on appetite and possibly performance. Whether the type of fibre added is important in this relationship is, to our knowledge, not known. Interestingly, previous work looking at solid and liquid meals does not support the effects observed here for glucose and insulin responses. Studies have shown that glucose and insulin responses are similar between identical solid and liquid meals (Martens *et al.* 2012). Therefore, the reduced glucose and insulin responses seen here after the semi-solid meal are likely caused by the addition of fibre to the meal and have been reported previously (Brennan, 2005).

To our knowledge, no study has compared the effects of solid/semi-solid versus liquid meals on exercise performance. The closest parallel to this might be studies looking at the effect of glycaemic index (GI) of a meal on exercise performance (Stevenson & Williams, 2005; Ching-Lin & Williams, 2006). Indeed, by design, studies looking at the pre-exercise meal GI, demonstrate reduced postprandial blood glucose concentrations following ingestion of a low GI meal. In some cases, a low GI pre-exercise meal has been shown to enhance (endurance) performance (Stevenson & Williams, 2005; Ching-Lin & Williams, 2006; Durkalec-Michalski et al., 2018), with the suggested mechanism the stability of postprandial glucose levels during exercise (Wee et al., 2004; Ching-Lin & Williams, 2006), compared to rapid decrease in blood glucose concentration after 10 to 20 min of exercise (Karamanolis et al., 2011). Whether these mechanisms played a role in the present study is unknown, but it seems unlikely that the reduced postprandial glucose concentrations explain the performance effects. Firstly, whilst some studies show effects of meal GI on exercise performance, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis (Burdon et al. 2017) reported no consistent effect for low GI meals on performance. Secondly, whilst the divergent postprandial glycaemic responses might invoke small differences in glucose metabolism and storage as glycogen in muscle and liver, these would pale in comparison to the difference that would have been observed in Chapter 4, where either 0 or 1.5 g/kg body mass was consumed. In Chapter 4, these large differences in meal carbohydrate intake altered the metabolic response (i.e. glucose, insulin and ghrelin concentrations) and presumably altered glycogen levels (at least in liver), but did not affect performance. This suggests that the relatively small differences in postprandial glucose responses, and possibly glycogen storage, in the present study would be unlikely to influence the performance response. Indicating it is likely that the effects on appetite explain the findings.

Concerning the hormonal response to differences in meal form, the semi-solid meal was likely to slow gastric emptying rate (Berry et al., 2003). Thus, compared to LIQ, it is possible that the lower glucose response observed during the SEM trial may be due to the fibre content of the SEM meal that produced a slower rate of digestion. As previously discussed, although the SEM meal increased fullness and decreased hunger, there were no differences in hormonal mediators of appetite (ghrelin and PYY). Ghrelin and PYY are orexigenic and anorexigenic hormones, respectively, responding to nutrient ingestion typically in a dose-dependent manner to the energy content of a meal (Batterham, et al., 2010; Sakata et al., 2010). Although some macronutrient-specific effects have been previously reported (Foster-Schubert et al., 2008; Chowdhury et al., 2015). In the present study, the postprandial suppression of ghrelin and elevation in PYY was similar between conditions, which is interesting given that these hormones have been implicated in appetite regulation and clear differences in hunger and fullness where observed between trials. This is consistent with the results reported in Chapter 4, where there was also an uncoupling of subjective and hormonal appetite regulation. Either way, these results suggest that changes in endocrine appetite markers secreted from the gastrointestinal tract (at least for ghrelin and PYY) do not explain the effects on performance observed.

6.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of the present study demonstrate that performance in 4 sets of back squat exercise was enhanced by a high viscosity semi-solid breakfast meal compared to a liquid meal. Results from this study suggest that any performance effects of pre-resistance exercise energy/carbohydrate intake are likely caused by psychological effects of consuming a semi-solid form of meal, rather than physiological/metabolic effects, at least among well rested habitual breakfast consumers. Findings from this study suggest that resistance exercise at high intensity, can be influenced by appetite sensations. At a given exercise intensity, energy/carbohydrate intake may not be a factor influencing performance, but rather the perception of having a meal might be. As for this study, subjects were able to perform a greater number of repetitions with a meal form that more closely resembled to their habitual regimen. Practically, this could also extend to any intermittent type of exercise in the morning.

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

With the trend to omit breakfast increasing (Haines *et al.*, 1996), especially among exercisers, the effect of breakfast omission on subsequent exercise performance is important to understand. Although a number of studies have investigated the effect of consuming/omitting breakfast on endurance exercise, its impact on short term resistance exercise performance, as well as the mechanisms explaining any observed effects remain unclear. The aim of this thesis was to fill the gap of knowledge as to if and how pre-exercise carbohydrate intake in the morning effects subsequent resistance exercise performance. Besides, this thesis also examined the ambiguous relationship between subjective sensation of appetite (i.e. hunger/fullness) and metabolism, as both of these factor could independently influence resistance exercise performance. This chapter presents a summary of the main findings in each study within this thesis and how they contribute to understanding the relationship between breakfast omission, appetite sensations and metabolic regulation on resistance exercise performance.

7.1 Effects of a pre-exercise carbohydrate rich breakfast on resistance exercise performance

Breakfast, which typically contains a high percentage of carbohydrate, might be important to ensure sustainability of muscular effort during exercise in the morning. It offsets the depletion of liver glycogen and at the same time alleviates sensations of hunger following an overnight fasting. Although consumption of a carbohydrate containing breakfast could increase liver glycogen and improve physical performance, for resistance exercise which is typically intense and intermittent in nature, its effects are not well documented. In Chapter 3, it was found that resistance exercise of back squat and bench press at 90% from 10-RM for 4 sets to exhaustion were improved by ~6-15% after an ecological high-carbohydrate meal (i.e. cereal, jam sandwich, milk, orange juice) was consumed, compared when breakfast was omitted.

Given that subjects knew they ate a breakfast meal pre-exercise (or not as the case may be), this might have a psychologically influence exerting a nocebo effect on performance. Therefore, Chapter 4 sought to determine whether giving a blinded meal, with the intention to isolate pre-exercise carbohydrate consumption, would exert similar results on resistance exercise performance. Interestingly, a placebo/nocebo effect was evident where exercise performance was improved due to subjects perceiving they had eaten 'breakfast' before performing exercise. As such, resistance exercise performance improved by ~15% and ~16% for both placebo and carbohydrate containing breakfast, respectively, compared to when subjects omitted it. Interestingly, the improvement was comparable to the earlier experiment, suggesting any sort of pre-exercise breakfast consumption could benefit subsequent resistance exercise performance, irrespective of its energy content. It seems likely that the placebo effect was able to exert an effect on performance because of the mode of exercise studied (i.e. high intensity small volume exercise). It would be interesting to know if any such effects related to the pre-exercise meal are apparent with prolonged exercise. One study explored the placebo effect of carbohydrate intake during 3 h of exercise, reporting that a placebo carbohydrate drink produced no better performance than water (Hulston et al., 2009). The number of sets of each exercise performed in the present study was chosen to reflect current guidelines for those engaged in resistance training programmes, typically 3-5 sets per exercise (Ratamess et al., 2009).

Only when higher volume and more prolonged resistance exercise was studied in Chapter 5, was an ergogenic role of carbohydrate, above that of a placebo, observed. In Chapter 5, multiple bout leg extension exercise was performed at ~80% from 10-RM was increaserd after consumption of a meal containing carbohydrate, compared a placebo meal. This finding is consistent with the literature where low intensity (55 - 85% from 1 - 10-RM) resistance exercise to exhaustion was increased carbohydrate supplementation during exercise (Haff *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2001; Oliver *et al.*, 2016). Thus, when performing very high-volume resistance exercise (e.g. pyramid sets, body mass conditioning exercises, circuit training, certain rehabilitation situations etc.), consuming a high carbohydrate pre-exercise meal might be the prudent approach to optimise performance (Slater & Phillips, 2011).

Collectively, the findings from Chapter 3 and 4 suggest that, resistance exercise performance of 4 sets to exhaustion seem not to be of benefited by the metabolic effects of a pre-exercise carbohydrate breakfast. Rather, psychological factors related to a person's perception of having had a pre-exercise meal, or the meal's consequent effects on sensations of fullness (alleviate hunger), seem to be potential factors influencing performance outcomes. However, when more prolonged high-volume resistance exercise (~18 sets) was carried out in Chapter 5, the ergogenic role of pre-exercise carbohydrate intake may become apparent. This response could be explained by a study by Spriet *et al.* (1992) which investigated the estimated energy contributions of anaerobic glycolysis, PCr and aerobic metabolism during 3 bouts of maximal isokinetic cycling for 30 s, with 4 min rest between bouts. In this study, Spriet *et al.* suggested that the anaerobic contribution to the total amount of work declines, whilst relative, contributions from aerobic metabolism increase with the increase number of exercise bout (Spriet *et al.*, 1992). Metabolically, aerobic metabolism utilises substantial amounts of stored

carbohydrate via glycolysis and then oxidative phosphorylation, meaning that aerobic exercise is far more likely to be influenced by small differences in endogenous carbohydrate stores (Burke *et al.*, 2011). Although the exercise implemented in Chapter 5, which involved prolonged multiple bout leg extension to exhaustion, is far from ecologically valid for most resistance training scenarios, the findings could apply to some prolonged high volume training session such as pyramid sets, body mass conditioning exercises, circuit training, or certain rehabilitation situations. Therefore, adequate carbohydrate intake at the pre-exercise meal might be crucial for performance in this type of exercise.

7.2 Mechanism by which pre-exercise carbohydrate meal effects resistance exercise

Many researchers have demonstrated that resistance exercise utilises muscle glycogen as fuel source, with a single exercise session decreases muscle glycogen by up to 40% (Robergs *et al.*, 1991; Tesch *et al.*, 1998; MacDougall *et al.*, 1999; Haff *et al.*, 2000). Since the carbohydrate containing pre-exercise breakfasts provided in Chapters 3, 4 and 5 were consumed after an overnight fast, the ~100 g carbohydrate would likely have increased liver glycogen compared to the ~2 g in no breakfast/placebo trial (Nilsson & Hultman, 1973) and to a lesser extent muscle glycogen (Chryssanthopoulos *et al.*, 2004). Hypothetically, any small difference in starting muscle glycogen due to carbohydrate consumed at a pre-exercise meal intake could have influenced performance. However, the work in Chapter 4, confirms that carbohydrate intake pre-exercise does not exert an ergogenic effect during 4 sets of high intensity resistance exercise. Similarly, other previous work using double-blind and placebo-controlled designs have all shown no ergogenic effects of carbohydrate supplementation when the number of sets is small (up to 6 sets) and exercise is high intensity in nature (Mitchell *et al.*, 1997; Dalton *et al.*, 1999; Kulik *et al.*, 2008; Raposo, 2011; Fairchild *et al.*, 2016).

Although muscle glycogen was not measured in any of experiment described in this thesis, it is believed that the level of muscle glycogen depletion appears to be a function of the amount of work performed (Robergs et al., 1991). Thus, manipulating carbohydrate intake in a pre-exercise meal following an overnight fasting, is more likely to influence prolonged high volume resistance exercise. As evidenced in Chapter 5, a pre-exercise carbohydrate meal was shown to improve multiple bout leg extension number of repetition. Similarly, many previous studies reported the ergogenic effects of carbohydrate appear to become apparent in prolonged high intensity resistance exercise of 10 to 16 sets (Haff et al., 1999; Haff et al., 2001; Lambert & Flynn, 2002; Jagim et al., 2016; Oliver et al., 2016). Thus, it seems likely the 8% increase in performance after the carbohydrate compared to the placebo meal in Chapter 5 was caused by the glucose ingested through the meal increasing liver and muscle glycogen and prolonging exercise capabilities. Indeed, carbohydrate intake after an overnight fast has been shown to increase liver (Bawden et al., 2014) and to a lesser extent muscle (Chryssanthopoulos et al., 2004) glycogen stores, suggesting that augmentation of these stores could assists high volume resistance exercise performance.

Although the energy content in the placebo meals in Chapters 4 and 5 was negligible, it was observed that the sensations of hunger and fullness comparably to after consumption of the carbohydrate containing meal. Indeed, the small amount of energy in the placebo meals, which was mainly contributed by the fibre and the orange squash, seems unlikely to affect subjective appetite. Similarly, in Chapter 6, the decrease in sensations of hunger and increase in sensations of fullness after consuming a semi-solid compared to liquid meal seems unlikely due to the small difference in energy content (~60 kJ) contributed by the ~4.5 g of fibre. Thus, the increased satiety responses (increased sensations of fullness and decreased sensations of hunger) in all semi-solid meal of Chapter 4, 5 and 6, is likely caused by the xanthan gum or its effects on meal viscosity (Marciani et al., 2000, 2001; Fiszman & Varela, 2013). However, interestingly, the reported subjective sensations of hunger and fullness during placebo trials did not correspond with changes in metabolic/hormonal markers of appetite status. Specifically, sensations of fullness remained elevated and hunger decreased, despite no change in plasma glucose and insulin, metabolic effects that were apparent after consumption of the carbohydrate meal. Furthermore, ghrelin which is an orexigenic hormone (Cummings & Overduin, 2007), was suppressed in all carbohydrate containing meals in Chapter 4 and 6, whilst PYY and GLP-1, which are anorexigenic hormones (Batterham et al., 2002), showed no effect between meal trials. This suggests that, at least in response to a single breakfast, there can be a discordant response for the subjective and physiological regulators of appetite. From this, it seems likely that the improved performance could be due to psychological factors related to placebo/nocebo effects or due to the alleviation of sensations of hunger/fullness, rather than related to metabolic effects.

The contribution of subjective appetite effects to pre-exercise meal-induced changes in resistance exercise performance was confirmed in Chapter 6. To the authors' knowledge, this is the first experiment comparing of human performance is effected by sensation of appetite (i.e. hunger and fullness). Interestingly, the number of repetitions of back squat was greater in semi-solid meal, which provided greater sensations of fullness and reduced sensations of hunger, compared to when a macronutrient and energymatched liquid meal was consumed. It is therefore seems likely that, the performance

140

responses observed in Chapters 3, 4, and 6 were unlikely due to metabolic factors. It seems likely that some of this effect might be caused by the fact that all subjects used in this thesis were habitual breakfast consumers. It would certainly be interesting to know if similar effects are apparent in those that do not habitually consume breakfast.

The most plausible explanation for how sensations of appetite might be linked to performance is related to perceptual factors that feed into self-regulation of exercise, as described by Noakes *et al.* (2012) for other perceptual factors. According to Central Governor Model (CGM) of exercise regulation, it is suggested that the brain acts as a centre that regulates exercise performance by continuously modifying the number of motor units recruited at a given time. The brain uses unpleasant, sometimes illusory, sensations to ensure exercise performance is always within the exerciser's capacity (Noakes *et al.*, 2012). It is suggested that one of many of CGM factors that could modify performance outcomes includes placebo effects from any brain stimulant (i.e. caffeine, cytokine inyterleukin-6, amphetamine etc.; Del *et al.*, 2008; Swart *et al.*, 2009), emotional states (Renfree *et al.*, 2011) and the level of motivation and habitual experience of the exerciser (Corbett *et al.*, 2009; Foster *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, any activities prior to or during exercise testing that are uncommon, could lead the brain (via afferent sensory feedback) to downregulate physical performance (Lander *et al.*, 2009).

As mentioned previously, after consuming a semi-solid breakfast meal in Chapter 6, subjects reported to be less hungry before exercise testing was commenced. It is possible, that for this reason, the number of repetitions in all 4 sets of back squat were significantly higher following the semi-solid meal than after the liquid pre-exercise meal. Moreover, the subjective sensation scale of hunger (~40 mm) and fullness (~54 mm) for a semi-solid meal in Chapter 6, were comparable to subjective sensation scale of hunger (~45 mm)

fullness (~45 mm) for an ecological breakfast meal given in Chapter 3. This suggests that the subjective appetite response to this rather contrived lab-based breakfast designed to allow blinding of energy/carbohydrate intake whilst also providing subjects a 'meal' to consume, rather than a liquid breakfast appears to be similar to that of a more realistic meal. Therefore, it is suggested that psychobiological factors arising from changes in appetite sensation of fullness contributes about 10% to the improvement of back-squat exercise performance conducted in these series of experiments.

In Chapters 3, 4 and 6, resistance exercise testing for back squat always preceded bench press for every subject. Since subjects in the present study had to push themselves to complete 4 sets of back squats to failure at an intensity of 90% from 10-RM, presumably, subjects would have commenced the bench-press exercise with some residual level of mental and physical fatigue. Indeed, engagement in mentally demanding activities is a psychobiological state that could influence physical performance (Boksem & Tops, 2008; Marcora *et al.*, 2009). Supporting this assertion, a previous study (Johnson *et al.*, 2014) observed that severely high intensity arm cycling resulted in a substantial reduction in subsequent leg cycling power output (Johnson *et al.*, 2014). This shows fatigue (mental/physical) and possibly metabolites that arise from one muscle group can contribute to reductions in physical performance in another muscle group (Johnson, *et al.*, 2014). This might explain why there were no difference in bench-press between trials, as the prior fatiguing back squat exercise might have interacted with the subjects abilities to perform maximally and overridden any possibly less powerful effects of appetite sensations.

7.3 Limitation and suggestion for future studies

The major limitation of the work in this thesis is that no muscle or liver glycogen measures were made in any of the studies presented in this thesis. This means that expected changes in body glycogen content are presumed from similar previous work reported in the scientific literature. Although these studies demonstrate important outcomes related to how a pre-exercise meal influences resistance exercise performance in the morning, an inherent limitation with all studies presented in this thesis is that they only document the acute effects to a single exposure. Thus, future studies should seek to investigate the long-term effects of manipulating pre-exercise feeding strategies on performance and training responses.

7.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, consumption of carbohydrate at a pre-exercise meal (i.e. breakfast) does not appear to enhance resistance exercise performance above and beyond the effects of a placebo meal when exercise involves 4 sets of an exercise. However, perception of energy intake and/ or hunger might influence performance, at least among habitual breakfast consumers. The results of the studies presented here demonstrate that performance in 4 sets of back squat exercise was enhanced by a semi-solid compared to a liquid preexercise breakfast meal, an effect that seems likely to be related to the effects of the meal on sensations of appetite. That is increased hunger impaired performance. Therefore, in exercise settings where the metabolic effects of the carbohydrate intake before exercise are unlikely to influence performance (such as resistance exercise), consumption of meals that decrease sensations of hunger might be a simple strategy to enhance performance via a placebo/nocebo effect or effects on subjective appetite. However, caution should be 143 taken when interpreting these results since subjects in this thesis were well rested (48 h rest before trials). In situations where the time between training sessions is short, it is likely that consumption of a high carbohydrate pre-exercise meal could make an important contribution to total daily carbohydrate intake, as well as performance in a subsequent bout of exercise if pre-meal muscle glycogen stores were sub-optimal.

REFERENCES

- Adam, T. C. M., Lejeune, M. P. G. M., & Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S. (2006). Nutrientstimulated glucagon-like peptide 1 release after body-weight loss and weight maintenance in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 95(1), 160-7.
- Almiron-Roig, E., Chen, Y., & Drewnowski, A. (2003). Liquid calories and the failure of satiety: How good is the evidence? *Obesity Reviews*, 4(4), 201–212.
- Ament, W, & Verkerke, G. J. (2009). Exercise and fatigue. *Sports Medicine*, *39*(5), 389–422.
- Apolzan, J. W., Leidy, H. J., Mattes, R. D., & Campbell, W. W. (1107). Effects of food form on food intake and postprandial appetite sensations, glucose and endocrine responses, and energy expenditure in resistance trained v. sedentary older adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106(7), 1107–1116.
- Arnaoutis, G., Kavouras, S. A., Christaki, I., & Sidossis, L. S. (2012). Water ingestion improves performance compared with mouth rinse in dehydrated subjects. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 44(1), 175-179.
- Asakawa, A., Inui, A., Kaga, T., Yuzuriha, H., Nagata, T., Ueno, N., ... Kasuga, M. (2001). Ghrelin is an appetite-stimulatory signal from stomach with structural resemblance to motilin. *Gastroenterology*, 120(2), 337–345.
- Astbury, N. M., Taylor, M. A., & Macdonald, I. A. (2011). Breakfast consumption affects appetite, energy intake, and the metabolic and endocrine responses to foods consumed later in the day in male habitual breakfast eaters. *Journal of Nutrition*, *141*(7), 1381–1389.
- Barr, S. I., DiFrancesco, L., & Fulgoni, V. L. (2013). Consumption of breakfast and the type of breakfast consumed are positively associated with nutrient intakes and adequacy of canadian adults. *Journal of Nutrition*, 143(1), 86–92.
- Barr, S. I., DiFrancesco, L., & Fulgoni, V. L. (2014). Breakfast consumption is positively associated with nutrient adequacy in Canadian children and adolescents. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 112(8), 1373–1383.
- Batterham, R. L., & Bloom, S. R. (2003). The gut hormone peptide YY regulates appetite. In *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* (Vol. 994, pp. 162–168).
- Batterham, R. L., Cowley, M. A., Small, C. J., Herzog, H., Cohen, M. A., Dakin, C. L., ... Bloom, S. R. (2002). Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature*, 418(6898), 650–654.
- Bawden, S. J., Stephenson, M. C., Ciampi, E., Hunter, K., Marciani, L., Spiller, R. C., ... Gowland, P. A. (2014). A low calorie morning meal prevents the decline of hepatic glycogen stores: a pilot in vivo ¹³C magnetic resonance study. *Food Function*, 5(9), 2237–2242.

- Begg, D. P., & Woods, S. C. (2012). The central insulin system and energy balance. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, 209, 111–129.
- Bellissimo, N., & Akhavan, T. (2015). Effect of macronutrient composition on short-term food intake and weight loss. *Advances in Nutrition*, 6(3), 302S–308S.
- Bergstrom, J., Hultman, E. (1967). A study of the glycogen metabolism during exercise in man. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation*, 19(3), 218–28.
- Berry, M. K., Russo, A., Wishart, J. M., Tonkin, A., Horowitz, M., & Jones, K. L. (2003). Effect of solid meal on gastric emptying of, and glycemic and cardiovascular responses to, liquid glucose in older subjects. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 284(4), G655–G662.
- Betts, J. A., Chowdhury, E. A., Gonzalez, J. T., Richardson, J. D., Tsintzas, K., & Thompson, D. (2016). Is breakfast the most important meal of the day? In *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 75(4), 464–474.
- Blundell, J. E. (1990). Appetite disturbance and the problems of overweight. *Drugs* 39(Suppl 3), 1-19.
- Boksem, M. A. S., & Tops, M. (2008). Mental fatigue: Costs and benefits. *Brain Rsearch Reviews*, 59(1), 125-39
- Burdon, C. A., Spronk, I., Cheng, H. L., O'Connor, H. T. (2017). Effect of glycemic index of a pre-exercise meal on endurance exercise performance: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 47(6), 1087-1101.
- Brennan, C. S. (2005). Dietary fibre, glycaemic response, and diabetes. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 49*(6), 560–570.
- Burger, K. S., & Berner, L. A. (2014). A functional neuroimaging review of obesity, appetitive hormones and ingestive behavior. *Physiology and Behavior*, 136, 121– 127.
- Burke, L. M., Hawley, J. A., Wong, S. H. S., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2011). Carbohydrates for training and competition. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 29(Suppl 1), S17–S27.
- Carter, J. M., Jeukendrup, A. E., & Jones, D. A. (2004). The effect of carbohydrate mouth rinse on 1-h cycle time trial performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *36*, 2107–2111.
- Casey, A., Constantin-Teodosiu, D., Howel, S., Hultman, E., & Greenhaff, P. L. (1996). Metabolic response of type I and II muscle fibers during repeated bouts of maximal exercise in humans. *American Journal of Physiology*, 271(1 Pt 1), E38-43.

- Chambers, E. S., Bridge, M. W. & Jones, D. A. (2009). Carbohydrate sensing in the human mouth: effects on exercise performance and brain activity. *Journal of Physiology*, 587(Pt 8), 1779–1794.
- Ching-Lin, W., & William, C. (2006). A low glycemic index meal before exercise improves endurance running capacity in men. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 16(5), 510-27.
- Chowdhury, E. A., Richardson, J. D., Tsintzas, K., Thompson, D., & Betts, J. A. (2015). Carbohydrate-rich breakfast attenuates glycaemic, insulinaemic and ghrelin response to ad libitum lunch relative to morning fasting in lean adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 114(1), 98–107.
- Chowdhury, E. A., Richardson, J. D., Tsintzas, K., Thompson, D., & Betts, J. A. (2016). Effect of extended morning fasting upon ad libitum lunch intake and associated metabolic and hormonal responses in obese adults. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(2), 305–311.
- Chryssanthopoulos, C., Williams, C., Nowitz, A., & Bogdanis, G. (2004). Skeletal muscle glycogen concentration and metabolic responses following a high glycaemic carbohydrate breakfast. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 22(11-12), 1065-1071.
- Chryssanthopoulos, C., Williams, C., Nowitz, A., Kotsiopoulou, C., & Vleck, V. (2002). The effect of a high carbohydrate meal on endurance running capacity. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 12(2), 157-71.
- Clark, V. R., Hopkins, W. G., Hawley, J. A., & Burke, L. M. (2000). Placebo effect of carbohydrate feedings during a 40-km cycling time trial. *Medicine in Science in Sports and Exercise*, 32(9), 1642–1647.
- Clarke, N. D., Hammond, S., Kornilios, E., & Mundy, P. D. (2017). Carbohydrate mouth rinse improves morning highintensity exercise performance. *Europran Journl of Sport Science*, 17(8), 955–963.
- Clayton, D. J., Barutcu, A., Machin, C., Stensel, D. J., & James, L. J. (2015). Effect of Breakfast Omission on Energy Intake and Evening Exercise Performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47(12), 2645–2652.
- Clayton, D. J., Burrell, K., Mynott, G., Creese, M., Skidmore, N., Stensel, D. J., & James, L. J. (2016). Effect of 24-h severe energy restriction on appetite regulation and ad libitum energy intake in lean men and women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 104(6), 1545–1553.
- Clayton, D. J., Creese, M., Skidmore, N., Stensel, D. J., & James, L. J. (2016). No Effect of 24 h severe energy restriction on appetite regulation and ad-libitum energy intake in overweight and obese males. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(11), 1662-1670.

- Clayton, D. J., & James, L. J. (2015). The effect of breakfast on appetite regulation, energy balance and exercise performance. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 75(3), 319-327.
- Clayton, D. J., Stensel, D. J., & James, L. J. (2016). Effect of breakfast omission on subjective appetite, metabolism, acylated ghrelin and GLP-17-36 during rest and exercise. *Nutrition*, 32(2), 179–185.
- Cochran, A. J. R., Little, J. P., Tarnopolsky, M. A., & Gibala, M. J. (2010). Carbohydrate feeding during recovery alters the skeletal muscle metabolic response to repeated sessions of high-intensity interval exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108(3), 628–636.
- Coleman, E. (1994). Update on carbohydrate: solid versus liquid. *International Journal* of Sport Nutrition, 4(2), 80–88.
- Conley, M. S., & Stone, M. H. (1996). Carbohydrate ingestion/supplementation for resistance exercise and training. *Sports Medicine*, 21(1), 7–17.
- Cooney, G. J., Caterson, I. D., & Newsholme, E. A. (1985). The effect of insulin and noradrenaline on the uptake of 2-[1-14C] deoxyglucose in vivo by brown adipose tissue and other glucose-utilising tissues of the mouse. *FEBS Letters*, *188*(2), 257–261.
- Corbett, J., Barwood, M. J., & Parkhouse, K. (2009). Effect of task familiarisation on distribution of energy during a 2000 m cycling time trial. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *43*(10), 770–774.
- Cornford, E., & Metcalfe, R. (2018). Omission of carbohydrate -rich breakfast impairs evening 2000-m rowing time trial performance. *European Journal of Sports Science*, 19(1), 133–140.
- Coyle, E. F., & Coggan, A. R. (1984). Effectiveness of Carbohydrate Feeding in Delaying Fatigue during Prolonged Exercise. *Sports Medicine*, 1(6), 446-58.
- Coyle, E. F., Coggan, A. R., Hemmert, M. K., & Ivy, J. L. (1986). Muscle glycogen utilization during prolonged strenuous exercise when fed carbohydrate. *Journal* of Applied Physiology, 61(1), 165–172.
- Coyle, E. F., Coggan, A. R., Hemmert, M. K., Lowe, R. C., & Walters, T. J. (1985). Substrate usage during prolonged exercise following a preexercise meal. *Journal* of Applied Physiology, 59(2), 429–433.
- Cummings, D. E., & Overduin, J. (2007). Review series Gastrointestinal regulation of food intake. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117(1), 13–23.
- Dailey, M. J., Stingl, K. C., & Moran, T. H. (2012). Disassociation between preprandial gut peptide release and food-anticipatory activity. *Endocrinology*, 153(1), 132– 142.

- Dalton, R. A., Rankin, J. W., Sebolt, D., & Gwazdauskas, F. (1999). Acute carbohydrate consumption does not influence resistance exercise performance during energy restriction. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition*, 9(4), 319–332.\
- Decimoni, L. S., Curty, V. M., Almeida, L., Koch, A. J., Willardson, J. M., & Machado, M. (2018) Carbohydrate mouth rinsing improves resistance training session performance. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 0(0), 1-6.
- DeFronzo, R. A., & Ferrannini, E. (1982). Influence of plasma glucose and insulin concentration on plasma glucose clearance in man. *Diabetes*, *31*(8), 683–688.
- Del, C. J., Estevez, E., & Mora-Rodriguez, R (2008). Caffeine effects onshorttermperformance duringprolongedexerciseinthe heat. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 40(4), 744–751.
- Deshmukh-Taskar, P. R., Nicklas, T. A., O'Neil, C. E., Keast, D. R., Radcliffe, J. D., & Cho, S. (2010). The relationship of breakfast skipping and type of breakfast consumption with nutrient intake and weight status in children and adolescents: the national health and nutrition examination survey 1999-2006. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 110(6), 869–878.
- DiMeglio, D. P., & Mattes, R. D. (2000). Liquid versus solid carbohydrate: Effects on food intake and body weight. *International Journal of Obesity*, 24(6), 794–800.
- Doucet, E., St-Pierre, S., Almeras, N., Despres, J. P., Bouchard, C., Tremblay, A. (2001). Evidence for the existence of adaptive thermogenesis during weight loss. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 85(6), 715–723.
- Duhamel, T. A., Perco, J. G., Green, H. J. (2006). Manipulation of dietary carbohydrates after prolonged effort modifies muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum responses in exercising males. *American Journal of Physiology and Regulatory Integration Component of Physiology*, 291(4), R1100–R1110.
- Durkalec-Michalski, K., Zawieja, E. E., Zawieja, B. E., Jurkowska, D., Buchowski, M. S., & Jeszka, J. (2018). Effects of low versus moderate glycemic index diets on aerobic capacity in endurance runners: three-week randomized controlled crossover trial. *Nutrients*, 10(3), 370.
- Engelstoft, M. S., & Schwartz, T. W. (2016). Opposite regulation of ghrelin and glucagon-like peptide-1 by metabolite g-protein-coupled receptors. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 27(9), 665-675.
- Fairchild, T. J., Dillon, P., Curtis, C., & Dempsey, A. R. (2016). Glucose ingestion does not improve maximal isokinetic force. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 30(1), 194–199.
- Farshchi, H. R., Taylor, M. A., & Macdonald, I. A. (2005). Deleterious effects of omitting breakfast on insulin sensitivity and fasting lipid profiles in healthy lean women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81(2), 388–396.

- Fernandez-Campos, C., Dengo, A. L., & Moncada-Jimenez, J. (2015). Acute consumption of an energy drink does not improve physical performance of female volleyball players. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 25(3), 271–277.
- Fiszman, S., & Varela, P. (2013). The role of gums in satiety/satiation. A review. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *32*(1), 147–154.
- Flatt, J. P. (1995). Use and storage of carbohydrate and fat. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 61*(4 Suppl), 952S–959S.
- Flint, A., Raben, A., Blundell, J. E., & Astrup, A. (2000). Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. *International Journal of Obesity*, 24(1), 38–48.
- Flod-Obbargy., J. E., & Rolls, B. J. (2009). The effect of fruit in different forms on energy intake and satiety at a meal. *Appetite*, 52(2), 416–242.
- Foster, C., Hendrickson, K. J., Peyer, K., Reiner, B., DeKoning, J. J., Lucia, A., ... Wright, G. (2009). Pattern of developing the performance template. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43(10), 765-769.
- Foster-Powell, K., Holt, S. H., & Brand-Miller, J. C. (2002). International table of glycemic index and glycemic load. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76(1), 5–56.
- Foster-Schubert, K. E., Overduin, J., Prudom, C. E., Liu, J., Callahan, H. S., Gaylinn, B. D., ... Cummings, D. E. (2008). Acyl and total ghrelin are suppressed strongly by ingested proteins, weakly by lipids, and biphasically by carbohydrates. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 93(5), 1971–1979.
- Fraga, C., Velasques, B., Koch, A. J., Machado, M., Paulucio, D., Ribeiro, P., & Pompeu,
 F. A. (2017). Carbohydrate mouth rinse enhances time to exhaustion during treadmill exercise. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 37(1), 17–22.
- Galioto, R., & Spitznagel, M. B. (2016). The effects of breakfast and breakfast composition on cognition in adults. *Advances in Nutrition*, 7(3), 576S–589S.
- Gonzalez, J. T., Fuchs, C. J., Betts, J. A., & van Loon, L. J. C. (2016). Liver glycogen metabolism during and after prolonged endurance-type exercise. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 311(3), E543–E553.
- Gormsen, L. C., Gjedsted, J., Gjedde, S., Vestergaard, E. T., Christiansen, J. S., Jørgensen, J. O., ... Møller, N. (2006). Free fatty acids decrease circulating ghrelin concentrations in humans. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 154(5), 667–673.
- Goulet, E. D. (2011). Effect of exercise-induced dehydration on time-trial exercise performance: a meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(14), 1149-1156.

- Grabistke, H. A. & Salvin, J. L. (2009). Gastrointestinal effects of low-digestible carbohydrates. *Critical Review in Food Science and Nutition*, 49(4), 372-360.
- Greenhaff, P. L., Nevill, M. E., Soderlund, K., Bodin, K., Boobis, L. H., Williams, C., & Hultman, E. (1994). The metabolic responses of human type I and II muscle fibres during maximal treadmill sprinting. *The Journal of Physiology*, 478(Pt 1), 149-55.
- Haddock, B. L., & Wilkin, L. D. (2006). Resistance training volume and post exercise energy expenditure. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 27(2), 143–148.
- Haff, G. G., Koch, A. J., Potteiger, J. A, Kuphal, K. E., Magee, L. M., Green, S. B., & Jakicic, J. J. (2000). Carbohydrate supplementation attenuates muscle glycogen loss during acute bouts of resistance exercise. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 10(3):326-339.
- Haff, G. G., Lehmkuhl, M. J., McCoy, L. B., & Stone, M. H. (2003). Carbohydrate supplementation and resistance training. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 17(1), 187–196.
- Haff, G. G., Schroeder, C. A., Koch, A. J., Kuphal, K. E., Comeau, M. J., & Potteiger, J. A. (2001). The effects of supplemental carbohydrate ingestion on intermittent isokinetic leg exercise. *Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 41(2), 216–222.
- Haff, G. G., Stone, M. H., Warren, B. J., Keith, R., Johnson, R. L., Nieman, D. C., ... Kirksey, K. B. (1999). The effect of carbohydrate supplementation on multiple sessions and bouts of resistance exercise. *The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 13(2), 111–117.
- Hall, K. D., Heymsfield, S. B., Kemnitz, J. W., Klein, S., Schoeller, D. A., Speakman, J. R. (2012). Energy balance and its components: implications for body weight regulation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 95(4), 989–994.
- Haines, P. S., Guilkey, D. K., & Popkin, B. M. (1996). Trends in breakfast consumption of US adults between 1965 and 1991. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 96(5), 464–470.
- Hargreaves, M., Hawley, J. A., & Jeukendrup, A. (2004). Pre-exercise carbohydrate and fat ingestion: Effects on metabolism and performance. In *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 22(1), 31–38.
- Hawley, J. A., & Burke, L. M. (1997). Effect of meal frequency and timing on physical performance. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 77(Suppl 1), S91-103.
- Holst, J. J. (2004). Role of incretin hormones in the regulation of insulin secretion in diabetic and nondiabetic humans. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 287(2), E199-206.

- Holt, S. H. A., & Miller, J. B. (1995). Increased insulin responses to ingested foods are associated with lessened satiety. *Appetite*, 24(1), 43-54.
- Huang, Y.-L., Hoerr, S. L., & Song, W. O. (1997). Breakfast is the lowest fat meal for young adult women. *Journal of Nutrition Education*, 29(1), 184–188.
- Hulston, C. J., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2009). No placebo effect from carbohydrate intake during prolonged exercise. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 19(3), 275–284.
- Jacobs, I., Kaiser, P., & Tesch, P. (1981). Muscle strength and fatigue after selective glycogen depletion in human skeletal muscle fibers. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 46(1), 47–53.
- Jagim, A. R., Jones, M. T., Wright, G. A., St. Antoine, C., Kovacs, A., & Oliver, J. M. (2016). The acute effects of multi-ingredient pre-workout ingestion on strength performance, lower body power, and anaerobic capacity. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 13(1), eCollection 2016.
- Jakubowicz, D., Wainstein, J., Ahrén, B., Bar-Dayan, Y., Landau, Z., Rabinovitz, H. R., & Froy, O. (2015). High-energy breakfast with low-energy dinner decreases overall daily hyperglycaemia in type 2 diabetic patients: a randomised clinical trial. *Diabetologia*, 58(5), 912–919.
- Jamurtas, A. Z., Tofas, T., Fatouros, I., Nikolaidis, M. G., Paschalis, V., Yfanti, C., ... Koutedakis, Y. (2011). The effects of low and high glycemic index foods on exercise performance and beta-endorphin responses. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 8(15), eCollection 2011.
- Jenkins, D. J. A., Wolever, T. M. S., & Taylor, R. H. (1981). Glycemic index of foods: A physiological basis for carbohydrate exchange. *Ameican Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 34(3), 362–366.
- Jensen, J., Rustad, P. I., Kolnes, A. J., & Lai, Y. C. (2011). The role of skeletal muscle glycogen breakdown for regulation of insulin sensitivity by exercise. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 2(112), eCollection 2011.
- Jensen, M., Klimstra, M., Sporer, B., & Stellingwerff, T. (2017). Effect of carbohydrate mouth rinse on performance after prolonged submaximal cycling. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise*, 50(5), 1031–1038.
- Jeukendrup, A., Brouns, F., Wagenmakers, A. J. M, & Saris, W. H. M. (1997) Carbohydrate-electrolyte feedings improve 1h time-trial cycling performance. *Intternational Journal of Sports Medicine*, 18(2), 125–129.
- Johnson, M. A., Mills, D. E., Brown, P. I. & Sharpe, G. R. (2014). Prior upper body exercise reduces cycling work capacity but not critical power. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise*, 46(4), 802–808.

- Johnstone, A. M., Murison, S. D., Duncan, J. S., Rance, K. A., Speakman, J. R. (2005). Factors influencing variation in basal metabolic rate include fat-free mass, fat mass, age, and circulating thyroxine but not sex, circulating leptin or triiodothyronine. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 82(5), 941–948.
- Judelson, D. A, Maresh, C. M., Yamamoto, L. M., Farrell, M. J., Armstrong, L. E., Kraemer, W. J., ... Anderson, J. M. (2008). Effect of hydration state on resistance exercise-induced endocrine markers of anabolism, catabolism, and metabolism. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 105(3), 816–824.
- Kamegai, J., Tamura, H., Shimizu, T., Ishii, S., Sugihara, H., & Oikawa, S. (2004). Effects of insulin, leptin, and glucagon on ghrelin secretion from isolated perfused rat stomach. *Regulatory Peptides*, 119(1-2), 77–81.
- Kang Xin, M. D., Chun Wang, M. D., Lv Lifang, M. D., Dawei Chen, M. D., Yanzhi Yang, M. D., Guanjian Liu, M. D... & Xingwu Ran, M. D. (2013). Effects of different proportion of carbohydrate in breakfast on postprandial glucose excursion in normal glucose tolerance and impaired glucose regulation subjects. *Diabetes, Technology and Theraputic*, 15(7), 569–574.
- Karamanolis, I. A., Laparidis, K. S., Volaklis, K. A., Douda, H. T., & Tokmakidis, S. P. (2011). The effects of pre-exercise glycemic index food on running capacity. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32(9), 666-671.
- Katayama, T., Shimamoto, S., Oda, H., Nakahara, K., Kangawa, K., & Murakami, N. (2007). Glucagon receptor expression and glucagon stimulation of ghrelin secretion in rat stomach. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 357(4), 865–870.
- Kim, D. J., Leyva, S., & Diano, S. (2014). Hormonal regulation of the hypothalamic melanocortin system. *Fontiers in Physiology*, 5(480).
- Kirwan, J. P., Cyr-Campbell, D., Campbell, W. W., Scheiber, J., & Evans, W. J. (2001). Effects of moderate and high glycemic index meals on metabolism and exercise performance. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 50(7), 849–855.
- Knuiman, P., Hopman, M. T. E., & Mensink, M. (2015). Glycogen availability and skeletal muscle adaptations with endurance and resistance exercise. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 21(59), eCollection 2015.
- Kobayashi, F., Ogata, H., Omi, N., Nagasaka, S., Yamaguchi, S., Hibi, M., & Tokuyama, K. (2014). Effect of breakfast skipping on diurnal variation of energy metabolism and blood glucose. *Obesity Research and Clinical Practice*, 8(3), e201-98.
- Koopman, R., Manders, R. J. F., Jonkers, R. A. M., Hul, G. B. J., Kuipers, H., & van Loon, L. J. C. (2006). Intramyocellular lipid and glycogen content are reduced following resistance exercise in untrained healthy males. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 96(5), 525–534.

- Kulik, J. R., Touchberry, C. D., Kawamori, N., Blumert, P. A., Crum, A. J., & Haff, G. G. (2008). Supplemental carbohydrate ingestion does not improve performance of high-intensity resistance exercise. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 22(4), 1101–1107.
- Lambert, C. P., & Flynn, M. G. (2002). Fatigue during high-intensity intermittent exercise: application to bodybuilding. *Sports Medicine*, *32*(8), 511–522.
- Lambert, C. P., Flynn, M. G., Boone, J. B., Michaud, T. J., & Rodriguez-Zayas, J. (1991). Effects of carbohydrate feeding on multiple-bout resistance exercise. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 5(4), 192–197.
- Lander, P. J., Butterly, R. J., & Edwards, A. M. (2009). Self-paced exercise is less physically challenging than enforced constant pace exercise of the same intensity: Influence of complex central metabolic control. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43(10), 789–95.
- Le Roux, C. W., Batterham, R. L., Aylwin, S. J. B., Patterson, M., Borg, C. M., Wynne, K. J., ... Bloom, S. R. (2006). Attenuated peptide YY release in obese subjects is associated with reduced satiety. *Endocrinology*, 147(1), 3-8.
- Leveritt, M., & Abernethy, P. J. (1999). Effects of carbohydrate restriction on strength performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *13*(1), 52–57.
- Little, J. P., Chilibeck, P. D., Ciona, D., Forbes, S., Rees, H., Vandenberg, A., & Zello, G. A. (2010). Effect of low- and high-glycemic-index meals on metabolism and performance during high-intensity, intermittent exercise. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 20(6), 447–456.
- Liu, S., Willett, W. C., Stampfer, M. J., Hu, F. B., Franz, M., Sampson, L., ... Manson, J. A. E. (2000). A prospective study of dietary glycemic load, carbohydrate intake, and risk of coronary heart disease in US women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71(6), 1455–1461.
- Loh, K., Zhang, L., Brandon, A., Wang, Q., Begg, D., Qi, Y., ... Herzog, H. (2017). Insulin controls food intake and energy balance via NPY neurons. *Molecular Metabolism*, 6(6), 574–584.
- Macdougall, J. D., Ray, S., Sale, D. G., Mccartney, N., Lee, P., & Garner, S. (1999). Muscle substrate utilization and lactate production during weightlifting. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology*, 24(3), 209–215.
- MacDougall, J. D., Ward, G. R., & Sutton, J. R. (1977). Muscle glycogen repletion after high-intensity intermittent exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 42(2), 129– 132.
- Maki, K. C., Phillips-Eakley, A. K., & Smith, K. N. (2016). The effects of breakfast consumption and composition on metabolic wellness with a focus on carbohydrate metabolism. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal*, 7(3), 613S– 621S.

- Marciani, L., Gowland, P. A., Spiller, R. C., Manoj, P., Moore, R. J., Young, P., ... Fillery-Travis, A. J. (2000). Gastric response to increased meal viscosity assessed by echo-planar magnetic resonance imaging in humans. *Journal of Nutrition*, 130(1), 122–127.
- Marciani, L., Gowland, P. A., Spiller, R. C., Manoj, P., Moore, R. J., Young, P., & Fillery-Travis, A. J. (2001). Effect of meal viscosity and nutrients on satiety, intragastric dilution, and emptying assessed by MRI. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 280(6), G1227–G1233.
- Marcora, S. M., Staiano, W., & Manning, V. (2009). Mental fatigue impairs physical performance in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *106*(3), 857–64.
- Martens, M. I. J., Lemmens, S. G. T., Born, J. M., Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S. (2012). Satiating capacity and post-prandial relationships between appetite parameters and gut-peptide concentrations with solid and liquefied carbohydrate. *Plos One*, 7((7), e42110.
- Martin, A., Normand, S., Sothier, M., Peyrat, J., Louche-Pelissier, C., & Laville, M. (2000). Is advice for breakfast consumption justified? Results from a short-term dietary and metabolic experiment in young healthy men. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 84(3), 337–344.
- Mauger, A. R., Taylor, L., Harding, C., Wright, B., Foster, J., Castle, P. C. (2014). Acute acetaminophen (paracetamol) ingestion improves time to exhaustion during exercise in the heat. *Experimental Physiology*, 99(1), 164-171.
- Maury, E., Ramsey, K. M., & Bass, J. (2010). Circadian rhythms and metabolic syndrome: From experimental genetics to human disease. *Circulation Research*, *106*(3), 447–462.
- McMillan, J. L., Stone, M. H., Sartin, J., Keith, R., Marple, D., Brown, L. C., & Lewis, R. D. (1993). 20-hour physiological responses to a single weight-training session. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 7(1), 9–21.
- Mears, S. A., Dickinson, K., Bergin-Taylor, K., Dee, R., Kay, J., & James, L. J. (2017). Perception of breakfast ingestion enhances high intensity cycling performance. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, *13*(4), 504-509.
- Menéndez, J., & Atrens, D. M. (1989). Insulin increases energy expenditure and respiratory quotient in the rat. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior*, 34(4), 765–768.
- Mitchell, J. B., DiLauro, P. C., Pizza, F. X., & Cavender, D. L. (1997). The effect of preexercise carbohydrate status on resistance exercise performance. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition*, 7(3), 185–196.
- Mondazzi, L., & Arcelli, E. (2009). Glycemic index in sport nutrition. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 28(4), 455S–463S.

- Morgan, L. M., Aspostolakou, F., Wright, J., & Gama, R. (1999). Diurnal variations in peripheral insulin resistance and plasma non-esterified fatty acid concentrations: A possible link? *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, 36(Pt 4), 447–450.
- Müller, C., Voirol, M. J., Stefanoni, N., Surmely, J. F., Jéquier, E., Gaillard, R. C., & Tappy, L. (1997). Effect of chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of insulin on brown adipose tissue activity in fed and fasted rats. *International Journal of Obesity*, 21(7), 562–566.
- Nadkarni, P., Chepurny, O. G., & Holz, G. G. (2014). Regulation of glucose homeostasis by GLP-1. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, *121*, 23–65.
- Naharudin, M. N., & Yusof, A. (2018). The effect of 10 days of intermittent fasting on Wingate anaerobic power and prolonged high-intensity time-to-exhaustion cycling performance. *European Journal of Sport Science*, *18*(1), 667–676.
- Naharudin, M. N., Yusof, A., Shaw, H., Stockton, M., Clayton, D. J., & James, L. J. (2019). Breakfast Omission Reduces Subsequent Resistance Exercise Performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, XX(X), 1–7. [Epub ahead of print].
- Neufer, P. D., Costill, D. L., Flynn, M. G., Kirwan, J. P., Mitchell, J. B., & Houmard, J. (1987). Improvements in exercise performance: effects of carbohydrate feedings and diet. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 62(3), 983–988.
- Nilsson, A. C., Östman, E. M., Granfeldt, Y., & Björck, I. M. E. (2008). Effect of cereal test breakfasts differing in glycemic index and content of indigestible carbohydrates on daylong glucose tolerance in healthy subjects. *American Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, 87(3), 645–654.
- Nilsson, L. H., & Hultman, E. (1973). Liver glycogen in man the effect of total starvation or a carbohydrate-poor diet followed by carbohydrate refeeding. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation*, 32(4), 325–330.
- Noakes, T. D. (2012). Fatigue is a brain-derived emotion that regulates the exercise behavior to ensure the protection of whole body homeostasis. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *3*(82), eCollection 2012.
- Odegaard, A. O., Jacobs, D. R., Steffen, L. M., Van Horn, L., Ludwig, D. S., & Pereira, M. A. (2013). Breakfast frequency and development of metabolic risk. *Diabetes Care*, 36(10), 3100–3106.
- Oliver, J. M., Almada, A. L., Van Eck, L. E., Shah, M., Mitchell, J. B., Jones, M. T., ... Rowlands, D. S. (2016). Ingestion of high molecular weight carbohydrate enhances subsequent repeated maximal power: A randomized controlled trial. *Plos One*, 11(9), e0163009.

- Ormsbee, M. J., Bach, C. W., & Baur, D. A. (2014). Pre-exercise nutrition: The role of macronutrients, modified starches and supplements on metabolism and endurance performance. *Nutrients*, 6(5), 1782–1808.
- Ørtenblad, N., Nielsen, J., Saltin, B., Holmberg, H.C. (2011). Role of glycogen availability in sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ kinetics in human skeletal muscle. *Journal of Physiology*, 589(Pt 3), 711–725.
- Ørtenblad, N., Westerblad, H., & Nielsen, J. (2013). Muscle glycogen stores and fatigue. *Journal of Physiology*, 591(18), 4405–4413.
- Petersen, K. F., Laurent, D., Rothman, D. L., Cline, G. W., & Shulman, G. I. (1998). Mechanism by which glucose and insulin inhibit net hepatic glycogenolysis in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(6), 1203–1209.
- Pfeiffer, B., Stellingwerff, T., Zaltas, E., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2010). Oxidation of solid versus liquid CHO sources during exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 42(11), 2030–2037.
- Plum, L., Belgardt, B. F., & Brüning, J. C. (2006). Central insulin action in energy and glucose homeostasis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. *116*(7), 1761–1766.
- Pomportes, L., Brisswalter, J., Casini, L., Hays, A., & Davranche, K. (2017). Cognitive performance enhancement induced by caffeine, carbohydrate and guarana mouth rinsing during submaximal exercise. *Nutrients*, 9(6), 1–17.
- Pruett, E. D. R., & Oseid, S. (1970). Effect of exercise on glucose and insulin response to glucose infusion. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 26(3), 277–285.
- Ralston, G. W., Kilgore, L., Wyatt, F. B., Buchan, D., & Baker, J. S. (2018). Weekly training frequency effects on strength gain: A meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine -Open*, 4(1), 36.
- Ranawana, V., & Henry, C. J. K. (2011). Liquid and solid carbohydrate foods: Comparative effects on glycemic and insulin responses, and satiety. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 62(1), 71–81.
- Raposo, K. (2011). The effects of pre-exercise carbohydrate supplementation on resistance training performance during an acute resistance training session. (Graduate Theses and Dissertations). Retrieved from Scholars Commons Citation. https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/3304.
- Ratamess, N. A., Alvar, B. A., Evetoch, T. K., Housh, T. J., Kibler, W. Ben, Kraemer, W. J., & Triplett, T. (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand: progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 41(3), 687–708.
- Reeves, S., Halsey, L. G., McMee, IY., & Huber, J. W. (2013). Breakfast habits, beliefs and measures of health and wellbeing in a nationally representative UK sample. *Appetite*, 60(1), 51–57.

- Renfree, A., West, J., Corbett, M., Rhoden, C., & St Clair Gibson, A. (2012). Complex interplay between determinants of pacing and performance during 20-km cycle time trials. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 7(2), 121-129
- Robergs, R. A., Pearson, D. R., Costill, D. L., Fink, W. J., Pascoe, D. D., Benedict, M. A., ... Zachweija, J. J. (1991). Muscle glycogenolysis during differing intensities of weight-resistance exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 70(4), 1700–1706.
- Roden, M., Price, T. B., Perseghin, G., Petersen, K. F., Rothman, D. L., Cline, G. W., & Shulman, G. I. (1996). Mechanism of free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97(12), 2859–2865.
- Saad, A., Man, C. D., Nandy, D. K., Levine, J. A., Bharucha, A. E., Rizza, R. A., ... Basu, A. (2012). Diurnal pattern to insulin secretion and insulin action in healthy individuals. *Diabetes*, 61(11), 2691–2700.
- Saad, M. F., Bernaba, B., Hwu, C. M., Jinagouda, S., Fahmi, S., Kogosov, E., & Boyadjian, R. (2002). Insulin regulates plasma ghrelin concentration. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 87(8), 3997–4000.
- Sakata, I., & Sakai, T. (2010). Ghrelin cells in the gastrointestinal tract. *International Journal of Peptides*, 2010(7), eCollection 2010.
- Salmerón, J. (1997). Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 277, 472.
- Saltiel, A. R., & Kahn, C. R. (2001). Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature (London, U. K.)*, *414*(6865), 799–806.
- Sawka, M. N. (1990). *Body fluid responses and hypohydration during exercise-heat stress*. Human Performance Physiology and Environmental Medicine at Terrestrial Extremes. Cooper Publishing, 227-266.
- Sawka, M. N., & Noakes, T. D. (2007). Does dehydration impair exercise performance? Medicine and Science in Sports Exercise, 39(8), 1209-1217.
- Schenk, S., Davidson, C. J., Zderic, T. W., Byerley, L. O., & Coyle, E. F. (2003). Different glycemic indexes of breakfast cereals are not due to glucose entry into blood but to glucose removal by tissue. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78(4), 742–748.
- Schrauwen, P. (2007). High-fat diet, muscular lipotoxicity and insulin resistance. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 66(1), 33-41.
- Sherman, W. M., Brodowicz, G., Wright, D. A., Allen, W. K., Simonsen, J., & Dernbach, A. (1989). Effects of 4 h preexercise carbohydrate feedings on cycling performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 21(1), 598-604.

- Sherman, W. M., Costill, D. L., Fink, W. J., & Miller, J. M. (1981). Effect of exercisediet manipulation on muscle glycogen and its subsequent utilization during performance. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 2(2), 114–118.
- Sherman, W. M., Peden, M. C., & Wright, D. A. (1991). Carbohydrate feedings 1 h before exercise improves cycling performance. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54(5), 866–870.
- Shriver, L. H., Betts, N. M., & Wollenberg, G. (2013). Dietary intakes and eating habits of college athletes: Are female college athletes following the current sports nutrition standards? *Journal of American College Health*, 61(1), 10–16.
- Slater, G., & Phillips, S. M. (2011). Nutrition guidelines for strength sports: Sprinting, weightlifting, throwing events, and bodybuilding. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 29(Supp 1), S67-S77.
- Spriet, L. L., Lindinger, M. I., McKelvie, R. S., Heigenhauser, G. J., & Jones, N. L. (1989). Muscle glycogenolysis and H⁺ concentration during maximal intermittent cycling. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 66(1), 8-13.
- Stevenson, E., Williams, C., & Biscoe, H. (2005). The metabolic responses to high carbohydrate meals with different glycemic indices during recovery from prolonged strenuous exercise. *International Journal of Sports Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 15(3), 291-307.
- Stevenson, E. J., Thelwall, P. E., Thomas, K., Smith, F., Brand-Miller, J., & Trenell, M. I. (2009). Dietary glycemic index influences lipid oxidation but not muscle or liver glycogen oxidation during exercise. *AJP: Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 296(5), E1140–E1147.
- Swart, J., Lamberts, R. P., Lambert, M. I., St Clair Gibson, A., Lambert, E. V., Skowno, J., & Noakes, T. D. (2009). Exercising with reserve: Evidence that the central nervous system regulates prolonged exercise performance. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43(10), 782-788.
- Taylor, R., Magnusson, I., Rothman, D. L., Cline, G. W., Caumo, A., Cobelli, C., & Shulman, G. I. (1996). Direct assessment of liver glycogen storage by ¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and regulation of glucose homeostasis after a mixed meal in normal subjects. *Journal of Clinical Invesigation*, 97(1), 126–132.
- Taylor, R., Price, T. B., Katz, L. D., Shulman, R. G., & Shulman, G. I. (1993). Direct measurement of change in muscle glycogen concentration after a mixed meal in normal subjects. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 265(2 Pt 1), E224-E229.
- Tesch, P. A., Ploutz-Snyder, L. L., Yström, L., Castro, M. J., & Dudley, G. A. (1998). Skeletal muscle glycogen loss evoked by resistance exercise. *Journal of Strength* and Conditioning Research, 12(1), 67–73.
- Thomas, D. E., Brotherhood, J. R., & Brand, J. C. (1991). Carbohydrate feeding before exercise: Effect of glycemic index. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 12(2), 180–186.
- Thomas, E. A., Higgins, J., Bessesen, D. H., McNair, B., & Cornier, M. A. (2015). Usual breakfast eating habits affect response to breakfast skipping in overweight women. *Obesity*, 23(4), 750–759.
- Tieken, S. M., Leidy, H. J., Stull, A. J., Mattes, R. D., Schuster, R. A., & Campbell, W. W. (2007). Effects of solid versus liquid meal-replacement products of similar energy content on hunger, satiety, and appetite-regulating hormones in older adults. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 39(5), 389–394.
- Timlin, M. T., & Pereira, M. A. (2007). Breakfast frequency and quality in the etiology of adult obesity and chronic diseases. *Nutrition Reviews*, 65(6 Pt 1), 268–281.
- Toshinai, K., Mondal, M. S., Nakazato, M., Date, Y., Murakami, N., Kojima, M., ... Matsukura, S. (2001). Upregulation of ghrelin expression in the stomach upon fasting, insulin-induced hypoglycemia, and leptin administration. *Biochemical* and Biophysical Research Communications, 281(5), 1220–1225.
- Turner, C. E., Byblow, W. D., Stinear, C.M., Gant, N. (2014). Carbohydrate in the mouth enhances activation of brain circuitry involved in motor performance and sensory perception. *Appetite*; 80, 212–219.
- Veasey, R. C., Gonzalez, J. T., Kennedy, D. O., Haskell, C. F., & Stevenson, E. (2012). Breakfast consumption and exercise interact to affect appetite, cognitive performance and mood later in the day. *Appetite*, 68(1), 38-44.
- Veasey, R. C., Haskell-Ramsay, C. F., Kennedy, D. O., Tiplady, B., & Stevenson, E. J. (2015). The effect of breakfast prior to morning exercise on cognitive performance, mood and appetite later in the day in habitually active women. *Nutrients*, 7(7), 5712–5732.
- Verdich, C., Flint, A., Gutzwiller, J. P., Näslund, E., Beglinger, C., Hellström, P. M., ... Astrup, A. (2001). A meta-analysis of the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide on Ad Libitum energy intake in humans. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 86(9), 4382–4389.
- Vøllestad, N. K., Tabata, I., & Medbø, J. I. (1992). Glycogen breakdown in different human muscle fibre types during exhaustive exercise of short duration. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 144(2), 135–141.
- Wee, S. L., Williams, C., Tsintzas, K., & Boobis, L. (2004). Ingestion of a high-glycemic index meal increases muscle glycogen storage at rest but augments its utilization during subsequent exercise. Journal of Applied Physiology, 99(2), 707-714.
- Westerterp, K. R. (2004). Diet induced thermogenesis. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 1(1), 5–10.

- Westerterp, K. R., Saris, W. H. (1991). Limits of energy turnover in relation to physical performance, acheivment of energy balance on a daily basis. *Journal of Sports Science*, 9(No 1-13), 13-15.
- Whitney, E., & Rady R, S. (2004). Understanding Nutrition, Fourteenth Edition. Nutrition Reviews (Vol. 62).
- Williams, C., & Rollo, I. (2015). Carbohydrate Nutrition and team sport performance. *Sports Medicine*, 45(Suppl 1), S13–S22.
- Williams, D. L., Cummings, D. E., Grill, H. J., & Kaplan, J. M. (2003). Meal-related ghrelin suppression requires postgastric feedback. *Endocrinology*, 144(7), 2765– 2767.
- Wolever, T. M. S., & Bolognesi, C. (1996). Human and clinical nutrition source and amount of carbohydrate affect postprandial glucose and insulin in normal subjects. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 126(11), 2798–2806.
- Wong, S. H. S., Sun, F. H., Chen, Y. J., Li, C., Zhang, Y. J., & Huang, W. Y. J. (2017). Effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate diets with high vs low glycemic index on exercise performance: A meta-analysis. *Nutrition Reviews*, 75(5), 327–338.
- Woods, S. C. (2003). Gastrointestinal Satiety Signals I. An overview of gastrointestinal signals that influence food intake. AJP: Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 286(1), G7–G13.
- Woods, S. C., & D'Alessio, D. A. (2008). Central control of body weight and appetite. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 93(11 Suppl 1), S37–S50.
- Woods, S. C., Lotter, E. C., McKay, L. D., & Porte, D. (1979). Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of insulin reduces food intake and body weight of baboons. *Nature*. 282(5738), 503–505.
- Yki-Jarvinen, H., Helve, E., Sane, T., Nurjhan, N., & Taskinen, M. R. (1989). Insulin inhibition of overnight glucose production and gluconeogenesis from lactate in NIDDM. American Journal of Physiology, 256(6 Pt 1), E732-E739.
- Yoshino, J., Almeda-Valdes, P., Patterson, B. W., Okunade, A. L., Imai, S. I., Mittendorfer, B., & Klein, S. (2014). Diurnal variation in insulin sensitivity of glucose metabolism is associated with diurnal variations in whole-body and cellular fatty acid metabolism in metabolically normal women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(9), E1666–E1670.
- Zullig, K., Ubbes, V. A., Pyle, J., & Valois, R. F. (2006). Self-reported weight perceptions, dieting behavior, and breakfast eating among high school adolescents. *Journal of School Health*, 76(3), 87–92.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTED PAPERS

Published Original Article

- Naharudin, M. N., & Yusof, A. (2018). The effect of 10 days of intermittent fasting on Wingate anaerobic power and prolonged high-intensity time-to-exhaustion cycling performance. *European Journal of Sport Science*, *18*, 667–676.
- Naharudin, M. N., Yusof, A., Shaw, H., Stockton, M., Clayton, D., James, L. J. (2019). Breakfast omission reduces subsequent resistance exercise performance. *Journal* of Strength and Conditioning Research, 00, 1–7.

Manuscript Under Review

Naharudin, M. N., Adams, J., Richardson, H., Thompson, T., Oxinou, C., Marshall, C., Clayton, D. J., Mears, S. A., Yusof, A., Hulston, C. J., & James, L. J. (2019). A pre-exercise meal increases resistance exercise performance via a placebo effect. *British Journal of Nutrition*, (In Press).

Papers Presented (Oral)

- Naharudin, M. N., Adams, J., Richardson, H., Thompson, T., Oxinou, C., Marshall, C., Clayton, D. J., Mears, S. A., Yusof, A., Hulston, C. J., & James, L. J. (2018). Perception of breakfast rather than carbohydrate/energy intake improves morning resistance exercise performance, 23rd Annual Congress of the European College of Sport Science, 4 - 7 July 2018 in Dublin – Ireland (International).
- Yusof, A., & Naharudin, M. N. (2018). Chronological changes during 10-day intermitent fasting with low energy intake on high-intensity aerobic performance and lipid constituents. The 1st Conference on Interdiciplinary Approach in Sports of Faculty of Sports Science, Universitas Negeri Yokyakarta, 26 – 27 October 2018 in Yokyakarta – Indonesia (International).

Paper Presented (Poster)

Naharudin, M. N., & Yusof, A. (2015). The Effect Of 10-Day Continuous Fasting On Fuel Utilization Cross-Over During High Intensity Aerobic Performance, 1st Asian Sports Medicine Conference of Malaysian Association of Sports Medicine, 28 – 29 November 2015 in Kuala Lumpur – Malaysia, (International).

APPENDIX A

Human Ethics Approval Letter

UM.TNC2/RC/H&E/U	IMREC
5 April 2016	
Mohamed Nashrudii 2nd Floor Block B Sports Centre University of Malaya	n Naharudin
Dear Sir/Madam,	
RESEARCH ETHICS	CLEARANCE APPLICATION
On behalf of the Unive o inform you that you	ersity of Malaya Research Ethics Committee (UMREC), we are pleased r application as detailed below has been reviewed:
Name of PI : Title of Proposal:	Dr. Ashril Yusof The Effect of Caloric and Fluid Restriction Neromuscular Fatigue.
Reference Number:	UM.TNC2/RC/H&E/UMREC - 92
The committee has ap	proved the application subject to the following conditions:
Minor revision : (kindly find it at appendix)
Please make the nece approval.	ssary amendment(s) and resubmit the application to the panel for final
For more information http://umresearch.um.	n about University of Malaya Research Ethics, please visit: adu.my/
Thank you.	
	hund
TANKW IN M	
hairperson	N WAR TON

APPENDIX B

Determination of Breakfast Frequency Form

QUESTION: On a normal day, would you usually consume any food within two hours of waking up?

CLARIFY:

- How many days out of 7 would you usually do that?
- Would you consume any beverages in the morning within two hours of waking up?
- What sort of food/beverage would you usually consume?

Participants will be considered habitual breakfast consumers if they satisfy one or more of the below criteria:

- 1. They consume SOLID food (>~100 kcal) within TWO hours of waking on MOST days (>3) of a NORMAL week.
- 2. They consume a beverage/s containing SIGNIFICANT (>~150 kcal) energy content within TWO hours of waking on MOST days (>3) of a NORMAL week.

Some examples of common breakfast items are given below

- Small bowl of cereal with milk: ~ 170-200 kcal
- Normal Cereal bars: ~100-200 kcal
- Low calorie cereal bars (e.g. Go Ahead, Alpen, Frusli): ~50-100 kcal
- Yoghurt: 100-250 kcal
- Fruit: 50-150 kcal (small orange to banana)
- Toast with butter: 100-150 kcal (per slice)
- Fruit Juice drinks: ~ 100-250 kcal (small to large volume)
- Cappuccino/Café latte: ~60-300 kcal (dependant on quantity and type of milk as well as size)

Participant No.	Breakfast eater decision:
1	
Notes about habits in the morning (what	they do up to two hours after waking up
NORMALLY):	
Notes about regular breakfast habits (i.e. time a	and types of food eaten):

APPENDIX C

Dietary and Activity Record Form

Subject number:

Date:

It is important conditions are standardised before each trial and therefore we would like you to follow the same patterns of diet and exercise before each of the trial days.

<u>Diet</u>

- For the day before your first trial we would ask you to record <u>all</u> food and drink that you consume in the space provided on the following pages.
- You **must not** consume alcohol in the 2 days before trials.

Exercise

- You **must not** perform any strenuous physical activity the day before each trial and **not** performance any resistance-type exercise in the 2 days before each trial.
- Any activity undertaken should be recorded in the diary before the first trial and replicated prior to the second trial.

Please bring these records to your first trial and we will give you a copy to allow you to follow the same patterns before the second trial.

Dietary record Sheet- Day before trial:

Time	Item of Food	Quantity	Description/Brand
e.g. 13 :00	Baked Beans	1 can	Heinz, low sugar
13:00	Toasted bread	2 slices	Wholemeal, thick cut
13:00	Orange soft drink	500 ml bottle	Diet Fanta

Activity Record Sheet- Day before the trial:

Time	Activity	Duration
e.g.17:00	Cycled home from university	30 minutes
20:00	Walked the dog	1hour

Activity Record Sheet- 2 days before trial:

Time	Activity	Duration
e.g.17:00	Cycled home from university	30 minutes
20:00	Walked the dog	1hour

APPENDIX D

Health Screen Questionnaire Form

Name/Number Male/Female Date of Birth BMI

2.

3.

Health Screen Questionnaire for Study Volunteers

As a volunteer participating in a research study, it is important that you are currently in good health and have had no significant medical problems in the past. This is (i) to ensure your own continuing well-being and (ii) to avoid the possibility of individual health issues confounding study outcomes.

If you have a blood-borne virus, or think that you may have one, please do not take part in this research.

Please complete this brief questionnaire to confirm your fitness to participate:

1. At present, do you have any health problem for which you are:

(a)	on medication, prescribed or otherwise	Yes		No	
(b)	attending your general practitioner	Yes		No	
(c)	on a hospital waiting list	Yes		No	
In the past t	wo years, have you had any illness or injury which req	uired yo	u to:	L	
(a)	consult your GP	Yes		No	
(b)	attend a hospital outpatient department	Yes		No	
(c)	be admitted to hospital	Yes		No	
Have you ev	ver had any of the following:	-			
(a)	Convulsions/epilepsy	Yes		No	
(b)	Asthma	Yes		No	
(c)	Eczema	Yes		No	
(d)	Diabetes	Yes		No	
(e)	A blood disorder	Yes		No	
(f)	Head injury	Yes		No	
(g)	Digestive problems	Yes		No	
(h)	Heart problems/chest pains	Yes		No	
(i)	Problems with muscles, bones or joints	Yes		No	
(j)	Disturbance of balance/coordination	Yes		No	
(k)	Numbness in hands or feet	Yes		No	
(I)	Disturbance of vision	Yes		No	
(m)	Ear/hearing problems	Yes		No	
(n)	Thyroid problems	Yes		No	
(o)	Kidney or liver problems	Yes		No	
(p)	Problems with blood pressure	Yes		No	

If YES to any question, please describe briefly if you wish (eg to confirm problem was/is short-lived, insignificant or well controlled.)

4. Smoking, physical activity and family history

Allergy Information

5.

- (a) Are you a current or recent (within the last six months) smoker?
- (b) Are you physically active (30 minutes of moderate intensity, physical activity on at least 3 days each week for at least 3 months)?
- (c) Has any, otherwise healthy, member of your family under the age of 35 died suddenly during or soon after exercise?

(a) Are you allergic to any food products?(b) Are you allergic to any medicines?

(c) Are you allergic to plasters?(d) Are you allergic to latex?

Yes No No Yes No No

Yes	No	
Yes	No	
Yes	No	
Yes	No	

If YES to any of the above, please provide additional information on the allergy

.....

6. Additional questions for female participants

(a)	Are your periods normal/regular?	Yes	No	
(b)	Are you on "the pill"?	Yes	No	
(c)	Could you be pregnant?	Yes	No	
(d)	Are you taking hormone replacement therapy (HRT)?	Yes	No	

7. Are you currently involved in any other research studies at the University or elsewhere?

	Yes	No
If yes, please provide details.		

8. Please provide contact details of a suitable person for us to contact in the event of any incident or emergency.

Name:
Telephone Number:
Work 🗌 Home 🗌 Mobile 🗌
Relationship to Participant:

9. Please enter your height in metres (m) and weight in kilograms (kg).

Height (m)

Weight (Kg).....

APPENDIX E

Informed Consent Form

(to be completed after Participant Information Sheet has been read)

Taking Part

box

The purpose and details of this study have been explained to me. I understand that this study is designed to further scientific knowledge and that all procedures have been approved by the University Ethics Approvals (Human Participants) Sub-Committee.

I have read and understood the information sheet and this consent form.

I have had an opportunity to ask questions about my participation.

I understand that I am under no obligation to take part in the study, have the right to withdraw from this study at any stage for any reason, and will not be required to explain my reasons for withdrawing.

I agree to take part in this study.

Use of Information

I understand that all the personal information I provide will be treated in strict confidence and will be kept anonymous and confidential to the researchers unless (under the statutory obligations of the agencies which the researchers are working with), it is judged that confidentiality will have to be breached for the safety of the participant or others or for audit by regulatory authorities.

I understand that anonymised quotes may be used in publications, reports, web pages, and other research outputs.

I agree for the data I provide to be securely archived at the end of the project.

I agree to assign the copyright I hold in any materials related to this project to Mohamed Nashrudin.

Name of participant	[printed]	Signature	Date
M.Nashrudin Naharud	<u>in</u>		
Researcher	[printed]	Signature	Date

Please initial









171

APPENDIX F

Timeline Checklist and Data Score Sheet

Timeline Checklist (BO/BC)

	08:00	-	Arrival	Ο
	08:05	-	Void bladder/bowels	Ο
	08:10	-	Body mass measurements	Ο
	08:15	-	Questionnaire pre-meal	0
Start of	<u>clock</u>			
0:00	08:20	-	No breakfast (water)	O.
0:10	08:30	-	Questionnaire post meal 1	O
Resta	rt clock			
1:00	09:30	-	Questionnaire post meal 2	Ο
2:00	10:35	-	Questionnaire post meal 3	Ο
Start e	exercise p	rotocol		
0:00	10:40	-	5 minutes cycling at 1.5W/kg	Ο
	10:45	-	5 minutes of self-selected warm up	Ο
	10:50	-	Squats 10 rep of 30% from 10RM	Ο
	10:51	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	10:54	-	Squats 10 rep of 60% from 10RM	Ο
	10:55	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	10:58	-	Squats 1st strength performance trial	Ο
	10:59	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:02	-	Squats 2nd strength performance trial	Ο
	11:03	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:06	-	Squats 3rd strength performance trial	Ο
	11:07	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:10	-	Squats 4th strength performance trial	0
	11:11	-	3-minute rest	О.
	11:14	-	5 minutes of self-selected warm up	Ο
	11:19	-	Bench press 10 rep of 30% from 10RM	Ο
	11:20	-	3-minute rest	О.
	11:23	-	Bench press 10 rep of 60% from 10RM	Ο
	11:24	-	3-minute rest	О.
	11:27	-	Bench press 1st strength performance trial	О.
	11:28	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:31	-	Bench press 2nd strength performance trial	Ο
	11:32	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:35	-	Bench press 3rd strength performance trial	О.
	11:36	-	3-minute rest	Ο
	11:39	-	Bench press 4th strength performance trial	Ο
	11:40	-	3-minute rest	0
	11:43	-	Questionnaire	Ο

Strength Performance Data Form

Subject's Number	:
Weight (cm)	:
Height (m)	:
Cycle seat height	:
Cycle weight load (1.5W/kg)	:

Exercise	Bar tube	Safety tube	100% 10 RM (kg)								
Back-squats											
Bench-press											

Visit: Familiarization / BC / BO

Self-selected warm up (min)

Self-selected warm up (min)

Self-selected warm up (min) :									
Exercise	Warm-up (10 re	p)	00% 40	90% 10-RM rep number					
	30% 10-RM (kg)	60% 10-RM (kg)	RM (kg)						
Back- squats									

:

Danah				
Bench- Press				

APPENDIX G

Subjective Appetite Sensation Form

Subject:	Time:	
Trial: BC	Pre breakfast	
	How hungry do you feel?	
not at all		extremely
	How full do you feel?	
not at all		extremely
	How strong is your desire to eat?	
not at all		extremely
	How much food do you think you could eat?	
none at all		a lot
	How nauseous do you feel?	
not at all		extremely
<u>Meal que</u>	stions	
_	How pleasant was the meal?	
not at all		extremely
	How filling was the meal?	
not at all		extreme

APPENDIX H

Publications and Under Review Manuscript



Copyright © 2019 National Strength and Conditioning Association. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.